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Uranerz

ENERGY CORPORATION

March 12, 2015
Attn: Document Control Desk

Director
Office of Federal and State Materials and
Environmental Management Programs
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, DC 20555-0001
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Andrew Persinko, Deputy Director

Decommissioning and Uranium Recovery Licensing Directorate
Division of Waste Management and Environmental Protection
Office of Federal and State Materials and Environmental Management Protection
Mail Stop T-8F5
11545 Rockville Pike
Two White Flint North
Rockville, MD 20852-2738
Re: Uranerz Energy Corporation Source Material License SUA-1597 Notice for Change of
Control
Dear Mr. Persinko,
As noted in an Uranerz Energy Corporation (Uranerz) press release dated January 5, 2015,
Uranerz executed a definitive agreement with Energy Fuels in which Energy Fuels will acquire
all the issued and outstanding shares of Uranerz common stock upon shareholder approval.
Energy Fuels is a current U.S. uranium producer that is well known to the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission (NRC) and has extensive experience with Source Material and By-Product licenses.
With the acquisition of Uranerz stock, Uranerz will become an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of Energy Fuels; however the Nichols Ranch ISR Project Source Material and By-Product
license, SUA-1597, will stay with Uranerz. Additionally there will be no change to Uranerz's
name or corporate organization resulting in an indirect change of control of the activities of
Uranerz.
By this letter, Uranerz requests the NRC's approval of the indirect change of control of Uranerz
Energy Corporation Source Material and By-Product License SUA-1597 prior to the scheduled
closing of the Uranerz/Energy Fuels transaction on or about June, 5 2015. Because of the
indirect change of control, Uranerz believes this is a reasonable time frame since no change or
amendment is required of SUA-1597, the current surety instrument will stay the same, and all
existing Uranerz personnel that oversee the health, occupational and radiation safety, and
environmental protection of the public, workers, and the environment of the Nichols Ranch
operation will remain in place.
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Enclosed with this request for approval of the indirect change of control are the Notice of
Change of Control and Ownership Information as specified in NUREG-1556, Volume 15 and
RIS 2008-19.
If you have any questions regarding the provided information, please contact me at 307-2658900 or by email at mthomasguranerz.com.
Sincerely,

Michael P. Thomas
Vice President Regulatory and Public Affairs
Uranerz Energy Corporation
Enclosure
cc: Ron Linton, NRC Project Manager
Mark Rogaczewski, WDEQ-LQD District III Supervisor (via email)
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I.

Introduction
Uranerz Energy Corporation ("Uranerz") is a United States domiciled uranium
company incorporated in the state of Nevada and headquartered in Casper, Wyoming.
The Nichols Ranch ISR Project (the "Nichols Ranch Project") located in Johnson and
Campbell Counties, Wyoming is the first Uranerz in situ recovery ("ISR") project
that is licensed by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission ("NRC") under Source
Material and By-Product Material License SUA-1597 (the "License") and the State of
Wyoming under Permit to Mine No. 778. The Nichols Ranch Unit of the Nichols
Ranch Project was approved for operation on April 15th, 2014 by the NRC and is
currently in operating status producing uranium.
On January 4, 2015, Uranerz announced that it had executed a definitive agreement
with Energy Fuels Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the province of
Ontario, Canada ("Energy Fuels") and EFR Nevada Corp., a corporation organized
under the laws of the state of Nevada and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Energy Fuels, pursuant to which all issued and outstanding shares of Uranerz
common stock would be acquired by Energy Fuels (the "Transaction"). Energy Fuels
is a major producer of uranium in the United States. Through its US subsidiaries,
Energy Fuels owns and operates the White Mesa Uranium Mill, located near
Blanding, Utah, originally under NRC Source Material License SUA-1358, and since
the State of Utah became an Agreement State in 2004, under State of Utah
Radioactive Materials License No. RML UT1900479.
Prior to closing the
Transaction (the "Closing"), the NRC will need to approve the indirect change of
control of the License from Uranerz to Energy Fuels as required by U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations 10 CFR §40.46.
To comply with the requirements of 10 CFR §40.46, Uranerz and Energy Fuels are
submitting this Notice of Change of Control and Ownership Information (the
"Notice") to the NRC for approval of the indirect change of control of the License.
The Notice contains the necessary information as set forth in NRC NUREG-1556,
Volume 15, "Consolidated Guidance about Material Licenses: Program-Specific
Guidance about Changes of Control and About Banlk'uptcy Involving Byproduct,
Source, or Special Nuclear Material Licenses", Section 5, Change of Control
("NUREG-1556").
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II.

Change of Control Requirements
A. Description of Transaction
Transaction: Pursuant to an executed definitive merger agreement (the
"Definitive Agreement") filed with the US Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form 8-K on January 12, 2015, Energy Fuels will acquire
all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Uranerz. In
accordance with Nevada law, the Transaction will be carried out by way
of a merger (the "Merger") of EFR Nevada Corp with and into Uranerz.
EFR Nevada Corp. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Energy Fuels
Holdings Corp. ("EFHC"), which in turn is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Energy Fuels. As a result of the Merger, Uranerz will continue as the
surviving operating corporation and as a wholly owned subsidiary of
EFHC, and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Energy Fuels.
Pursuant to the Definitive Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger,
each issued and outstanding share of common stock of Uranerz will be
canceled and extinguished and automatically converted into the right to
receive 0.255 common shares of Energy Fuels. Based on the current
outstanding shares of Energy Fuels and Uranerz, this share exchange will
result in the shareholders of Uranerz owning approximately 55% of the
outstanding shares of Energy Fuels upon completion of the Transaction.
Upon completion of the Transaction, Uranerz will continue as the
surviving operating company, and its name will continue to be "Uranerz
Energy Corporation", although subsequent to the Closing, Uranerz may
change its name to a name that includes "Energy Fuels" or "EFR". As
EFR Nevada Corp. will merge with and into Uranerz, Uranerz will not
change as an entity, and its Articles and By-laws will remain unaffected.
Pursuant to the Definitive Agreement, upon consummation of the Merger,
Energy Fuels shall cause three nominees of Uranerz to be appointed to the
Board of Directors of Energy Fuels, which shall consist of at least nine
directors.' As a result, there will not be a change in control of the Energy
Fuels Board or any significant changes in management of Energy Fuels, as

'It is possible that Energy Fuels and Uranerz may agree that Energy Fuels may reduce the size of its Board to eight
directors, in which case Uranerz would have the right to nominate 2 of the 8 directors.
UranerzEnergy CorporationChange of Control
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a result of the Transaction (see item II B below). Further, as the Uranerz
shares are generally widely held and the shareholders are not acting in
concert, it is not expected that the existing shareholders of Uranerz, upon
becoming shareholders of Energy Fuels, will, as a group, be able to exert
any influence on the Board of Energy Fuels. Therefore, Uranerz considers
the Transaction to result in an indirect change of control of Uranerz, not a
change of control of Energy Fuels.
The Transaction will be subject to the approval of at least a majority of the
holders of the outstanding common shares of Uranerz, as well as at least a
majority of the votes cast by Uranerz shareholders, excluding directors
and officers of Uranerz, at a special meeting to be called by Uranerz to
consider the Transaction. Pursuant to the rules of the Toronto Stock
Exchange, the Transaction is also subject to the approval of at least a
majority of the votes cast by Energy Fuels shareholders at a special
meeting to be called by Energy Fuels to consider the Transaction. In
addition, pursuant to the Definitive Agreement, the completion of the
Transaction is conditional upon a number of items, including, without
limitation, the shareholder approvals referred to above, receipt of all
necessary regulatory approvals, and other customary conditions to closing.
ii.

Licensee: Uranerz is the current licensee under the License. A copy of
the License can be found in Appendix A. Upon approval of this Notice by
the NRC and the completion of the Transaction, Uranerz will become a
wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Energy Fuels. Upon completion of
the Transaction, Uranerz will continue to be listed as the licensee under its
current name "Uranerz Energy Corporation". If Uranerz should choose to
change its name post-Closing, it will submit a request to the NRC for an
administrative license amendment to reflect the change of name.

iii.

Energy Fuels:
Energy Fuels is an Ontario, Canada, corporation publically traded on the
Toronto Stock Exchange and the NYSE MKT exchange. Energy Fuels
currently owns and operates the White Mesa Mill in Utah, the only
conventional uranium mill currently operating in the United States.
Additionally, Energy Fuels has existing projects and properties in Arizona,
Colorado, New Mexico, Utah and Wyoming, including a producing
uranium mine, mines on standby, and mineral properties in various stages

Uranerz Energy Cotporation Change of Control
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of permitting and development. More information about Energy Fuels can
be found at www.energyfuels.com.
Energy Fuels is currently the second largest, and only conventional,
uranium producer in the United States. During 2013 and 2014, Energy
Fuels produced 1.007 and 0.943 million pounds2 , respectively, of uranium
oxide ("U 30 8") in the form of yellowcake, which represented
approximately 21.5% and 19%, respectively of total US production in
2013 and 2014. Energy Fuels is also one of the largest holders of uranium
resources in the United States that are compliant with Canadian National
Instrument 43-101 - Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Properties ("NI
43-101").3 A map of Energy Fuels' current U.S. properties is attached to
this Notice as Appendix B.
Energy Fuels owns and operates its projects through its wholly owned
Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries. A copy of Energy Fuels' current
corporate organization chart is attached to this Notice as Appendix C.
Appendix D includes a chart showing Energy Fuels' corporate
organization after giving effect to the Transaction.
Energy Fuels'
subsidiaries EFR White Mesa LLC and Energy Fuels Resources (USA)
Inc., have been the owner and operator/licensee, respectively, of the White
Mesa Mill since May 1997, initially under NRC Source Material License
No. SUA-1358, and since the State of Utah became an Agreement State
for uranium mills in 2004, under State of Utah Radioactive Materials
License No. RML UT1900479. 4
Although not required by NUREG-1556, Energy Fuels' audited financial
statements for 2012 and 2013, as well as its Management's Discussion and
Analysis ("MDA") for those years and Annual Information Form ("AIF")
2

Of which 858,140 pounds of 2014 production was for the account of Energy Fuels and the remainder was for
the account of a third party.
NI 43-101 is a mineral resource classification scheme used for the public disclosure of information relating to
mineral properties in Canada. It is a set of rules and guidelines codified by the Canadian Securities
Administrators for reporting and displaying information related to mineral properties owned by, or explored by,

4

companies that report these results in public disclosure documents filed with securities regulatory authorities in
Canada.
Energy Fuels acquired EFR White Mesa LLC and Energy Fuels Resources (USA) Inc. (then named Denison
White Mesa LLC and Denison Mines (USA) Corp.) from Denison Mines Corp. in June 2012. Prior to
December 2006, EFR White Mesa LLC and Energy Fuels Resources (USA) Inc. were named IUC White Mesa
LLC and International Uranium (USA) Corporation, respectively. Although the names have changed over the
years, the owner and operator/licensee of the White Mesa Mill have not changed, nor has the executive
management team responsible for the White Mesa Mill changed over those years in any significant way.

Uranerz Energy CorporationChange of Control
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for 2013, are contained in Appendix E. Energy Fuels' 2014 audited
financial statements, MDA and AIF are not available at this time.5
All statements and representations in this Notice regarding Energy Fuels

and post-Closing Uranerz have been provided to Uranerz by Energy Fuels.
Contact information for Uranerz and Energy Fuels concerning this
application is as follows:
Uranerz:

Mike Thomas
Vice President Regulatory and Public Affairs
PO Box 50850
Casper, WY 82605-0850
(307) 265-8900

Energy Fuels: Scott Bakken
Director, Permitting and Environmental Affairs
225 Union Blvd, Suite 600
Lakewood, CO 80228
(303) 389-4132
iv.

Required NRC Findings: The NRC is required by the Atomic Energy
Act of 1954, as amended, to make a finding that the change of control of
SUA-1597 as proposed in this Notice will not be "inimical to the common
defense and security, and would not constitute unreasonable risk to the
health and safety of the public." The change of control from Uranerz to
Energy Fuels complies with the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 requirements.
Upon completion of the Transaction, there will be no change in the
Uranerz mine site key operation and health and safety personnel, licensed
activities, or location of operations. Further, the new owner of Uranerz,

Uranerz is aware that other licensees have also provided pro forma projections, in addition to their publicly
available financial information, and that Regulatory Issue Summary 2008-19, which is applicable to 10 CFR
Part 70 licensees, contemplates a 10 CFR Part 70 licensee providing such projections for the purposes of
describing the sources of funds available for decommissioning. However, Uranerz does not believe such pro
forma projections are applicable for this application, because the existing fimancial surety bond meets all of the
requirements of the License and Volume 3 of NUREG-1757 Section 4, and will remain in place unaffected by
the change of control (see item Ill of this Notice). As an adequate surety is already in place, there is no need to
provide any other type of evidence of Uranerz or Energy Fuels' financial condition or ability to provide a
surety, such as pro forma financial statements. There is also no requirement in NUREG-1556, NUREG-1757 or
any other Guidance or pronouncement applicable to the transfers of licenses issued under 10 CFR Part 40 that
would require or contemplate the provision of any such pro forma projections. Further there is no published
NRC Guidance on the preparation of pro forma financial projections (such as what price and other assumptions
to use, what allocations of indirect costs to make etc., in order to make the projections meaningful for their
intended use) or how such financial information would be evaluated by NRC in light of NUREG-1556,
NUREG-1757 and applicable regulations, none of which require the provision of any such projections in these
circumstances. Accordingly, no further evidence of Uranerz or Energy Fuels' financial condition or ability to
fund decommissioning costs, other than the attached publicly available information, is included with this
Notice.
Uranerz Energy CorporationChange of Control
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Energy Fuels, is a major producer of uranium in the United States and is
an existing uranium mill licensee, with extensive experience in ensuring
compliance with source material and byproduct material licenses and
protection of public health, safety and the environment.
B. Changes of Personnel
Upon closing of the Transaction, there will be some changes to the directors and
officers of Uranerz, but the personnel currently operating the Nichols Ranch
Project, Nichols Ranch Unit, Central Processing Plant ("CPP") and Production
Area #1 ("PA#1") will remain the same. The site Radiation Safety Officer
("RSO"), Aaron Linard, will continue to be the RSO. All mine management,
operations, wellfield, environment health and safety, and construction staff will
also continue operating the CPP and PA#1 without interruption. Further, the
current President and Chief Operating Officer of Uranerz is expected to continue
as the Executive Vice President, ISR Operations for Uranerz post-Closing, and to
be appointed an officer of Energy Fuels. Therefore, there will be no changes to
the personnel having operational responsibility for the Nichols Ranch project or
identified in the License having responsibility for radiation safety or authorized to
use licensed material.
The current organization chart relating to the licensed operations at the Nichols
Ranch Project is attached as Appendix F, and the proposed organization chart for
those operations for Uranerz post-Closing is attached as Appendix G. The only
changes are the following:
" The existing Chief Executive Officer of Uranerz will retire from that
position, to become a member of the Board of Energy Fuels. The Chief
Executive Officer position in Uranerz will be filled by the existing
President and Chief Executive Officer of Energy Fuels, and the title will
be changed to "President and Chief Executive Officer";
" The title of the current President & Chief Operating Officer of Uranerz,
will be changed to "Executive Vice President, ISR Operations", and, with
respect to ISR operations, the Chief Operating Officer function for
Uranerz will be performed by the Executive Vice President, ISR
Operations;
" The existing Senior Vice President Operations position is currently vacant
and has been considered by Uranerz to be unnecessary. The function of
Senior Vice President, Operations will therefore be eliminated and will be
subsumed into the Executive Vice President, ISR Operations role;
* As a result of the elimination of the role of Senior Vice President,
Operations, the Mine Manager will report directly to the Executive Vice
President, ISR Operations; and
" The Vice President of Regulatory & Public Affairs will report to the
Executive Vice President, ISR Operations, but will have an added "dotted"
Uranerz Energy CorporationChange of Control
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line directly to the President & Chief Executive Officer, indicating the
ability to communicate directly to the CEO if necessary to ensure
compliance with the License and all applicable laws and regulations and to
otherwise ensure protection of public health, safety and the environment.
In addition, the existing directors of Uranerz will resign and be replaced with new
directors, all of whom will be existing officers of Energy Fuels and its
subsidiaries. Further, certain officers of Energy Fuels, such as its Chief Financial
Officer and Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary will
become officers of and assume those roles for Uranerz post-Closing.
At Energy Fuels, the Executive Vice President, ISR Operations of Uranerz will
also become the Executive Vice President, ISR Operations of Energy Fuels and
certain of its other subsidiaries.
Upon Closing all existing Uranerz employees discussed above will continue to be
employees of and remain on the payroll of Uranerz. It is expected that, over time,
those employees may become employees of and be added to the payroll of Energy
Fuels' US operating subsidiary, Energy Fuels Resources (USA) Inc., for
administrative efficiency, but the organization chart and reporting functions and
responsibilities described above and set out in Appendix F would not change in
any material way.
C. Changes of Location, Equipment, and Procedures
Upon Closing, Uranerz will not have any changes in location or place of use,
including potentially affected adjacent areas, facilities, equipment, or procedures
used for the Nichols Ranch Project or the License. The current operation of the
Nichols Ranch Unit CPP and PA#l will continue as currently operated. Uranium
recovery operations started on April 18th, 2014 and have been on-ongoing since
that time.
D. Surveillance Records
Uranerz, as the current Licensee, hereby states that all required surveillance for
the Nichols Ranch Project and License, has been performed, documented, and
reviewed and is current, and will continue to be current at the time of the change
of control. All records associated with the required surveillance are maintained
and kept at the Nichols Ranch Project, Nichols Ranch CPP mine site office. All
such records are current, and will continue to be current at the time of the change
of control. These records will remain at the facility. The Transaction will have
no impact on the status of the surveillance systems at the Nichols Ranch Project.

Uranerz Energy Corporation Change of Control
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E. Decommissioning and Related Records Transfers
As the Transaction will have no impact on the License, which will remain with
Uranerz after completion of the Transaction, or on the operations at the Nichols
Ranch Project, all of which will remain in Uranerz, and as Energy Fuels will be
acquiring Uranerz, including all of its records, there will be no transfer of records
concerning the safe and effective decommissioning of the Nichols Ranch Project.
All records associated with the decommissioning of the Nichols Ranch Unit, CPP,
and PA#1 will remain with Uranerz, the holder of the License, at the completion of
the Transaction and will be available to Energy Fuels as the owner of Uranerz. These
records are currently maintained and kept at the Nichols Ranch CPP and will continue
to remain on site after the completion of the Transaction. These records include, but
are not limited to, unplanned release reports, building and equipment alpha and
gamma surveys, well construction records including mechanical integrity testing, well
plugging and abandonment records, and copies of all quarterly, semi-annual, and
annual reports that have been submitted to the NRC.
As required by License Conditions 9.2, 9.6, 9.10, 10.4, 10.13, 10.14, and 11.2, routine
surveys for alpha, gamma and other potential contaminants are conducted at the CPP
and PA#1 to measure and characterize the current ambient radiation levels and fixed
and removable contamination.
Documentation pertaining to the current
contamination status at the CPP and PA#1 along with the routine and periodic
radiation safety monitoring are maintained and kept on site. This information is also
conveyed to the NRC through quarterly, semi-annual, and annual reports. All this
information will remain with Uranerz, the holder of the License, once the Transaction
is completed, and will be available to Energy Fuels as the owner of Uranerz.
The Nichols Ranch Unit, CPP and PA#1 was inspected by the NRC two times in
2014. A pre-operational inspection was conducted on January 28-30, 2014 and an
operational inspection was conducted June 23-24, 2014. During the June inspection,
no items of non-compliance were identified. There are no unresolved enforcement or
inspection issues currently existing under the License.
Energy Fuels is knowledgeable of the extent and levels of contamination and
applicable decommissioning requirements at the Nichols Ranch Project.
F. Uranerz Commitment to Continue to Abide by its License Commitments
There will be no transferee of the License. The License will remain with Uranerz.
However, there will be an indirect change of control of Uranerz through the indirect
acquisition by Energy Fuels of all of the shares of Uranerz. As the Transaction will
not involve a transfer of the License to any person, there is no need to consider
whether or not a transferee will abide by all constraints, conditions, requirements and

Uranerz Energy CorporationChange of Control
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commitments of Uranerz or whether or not a transferee will submit a complete
description of the proposed licensed program.
Uranerz, as Licensee, will continue to abide by all of the constraints, commitments,
requirements, representations, and conditions of the License after the Closing, and
confirms that it will continue to accept full responsibility, as Licensee, for the
decommissioning of the Nichols Ranch Project site, including any contaminated
facilities and equipment. Uranerz also confirms that it is knowledgeable of and
accepts full responsibility for open inspection items and/or any resulting enforcement
actions.
No amendments to the License will be required as a result of the Transaction, other
than to reflect any change of name of Uranerz, as holder of the License, after
consummation of the Transaction, should Uranerz decide to change its name. This is
therefore not an application for a new or amended License. An application to amend
the License to reflect any future name change will be submitted after completion of
the Transaction.
III.

Surety Arrangement
The financial surety for the Nichols Ranch Project will continue to be provided by
Uranerz, the holder of the License, and will be unaffected by the Transaction. A
bond rider will be provided after the Closing of the Transaction if the name of
Uranerz is changed, to reflect the change of name.
Per License Condition 9.5, the Licensee shall maintain an NRC approved
financial surety arrangement, consistent with 10 CFR 40, Appendix A, Criterion
9, adequate to cover the estimated costs, if accomplished by a third party, for
decommissioning and decontamination, which includes offsite disposal of
radioactive solid process residues, and groundwater restoration as warranted. The
surety shall also include the costs associated with all soil and water sampling
analyses necessary to confirm the accomplishment of decontamination.
The current approved surety requirement for the License is $6,235,956. This
surety amount was approved by the NRC in a letter dated August 28, 2014. This
letter along with the enclosed documentation referenced in the letter can be found
in Appendix H.
The current surety instrument consists of a surety bond in favor of the Wyoming
Department of Environmental Quality for $6,800,000. Even though the current
approved surety is $6,235,956, Uranerz has maintained the $6,800,000 surety
bond since the granting of Permit to Mine No. 778 and the License.
An updated surety estimate was submitted to the NRC on December 16, 2014 and
is currently under review.
The proposed surety amount did increase to
$6,690,834, but is still under the in-place surety bond of $6,800,000.
Uranerz Energy CorporationChange of Control
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With the structure of the Transaction, the current surety agreement will not need
to be modified. The surety instrument will not change as it will be maintained by
Uranerz in favor of the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ")
for the approved amount set forth by the DEQ and NRC.
As the existing surety bond exceeds the amount of the surety required by the
License, and the existing surety bond will remain in place after the Closing
without any need for modification, Uranerz believes it has submitted sufficient
evidence of adequate resources to fund the decommissioning required under the
License. The indirect change of control of the License, as a result of completion
of the Transaction, will not have any effect on the financial assurances for
decommissioning. None of the documentation describing financial assurance
under the License will need to be amended to reflect the indirect change of
control. The approved surety bond meets the criteria for financial assurance set
out in Volume 3 of NUREG-1757. Uranerz believes it is therefore not necessary
to perform any further reviews as to sources of funds required to satisfy the
financial assurance requirements under the License and applicable regulations and
guidance.

Uranerz Energy CorporationChange of Control
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APPENDIX A:
SUA-1597 Source Material and By-Product License
Amendment No. 3
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C FORM 374

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

MATERIALS LICENSE
Pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974 (Public Law 93-438), and the applicable
parts of Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, Chapter I, Parts 19, 20, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 39, 40, 51, 70, and 71, and in reliance
on statements and representations heretofore made by the licensee, a license is hereby issued authorizing the licensee to receive,
acquire, possess, and transfer byproduct, source, and special nuclear material designated below; to use such material for the purpose(s)

and at the place(s) designated below; to deliver or transfer such material to persons authorized to receive it In accordance with the
regulations of the applicable Part(s). This license shall be deemed to contain the conditions specified in Section 183 of the Atomic Energy
Act of 1954, as amended, and is subject to all applicable rules, regulations, and orders of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission now or
hereafter in effect and to any conditions specified below.
Licensee

1. Uranerz Energy Corporation

3. License Number SUA-1597, Amendment No. 3

2. 1701 East "E" Street, P.O. Boxg50850

4. Expiration Date -<July,19, 2021

Casper, WY 82605

.

Docket No. 040-9O67:
Reference No.

i6

Byproduct Source, and/or

7.:, Chemical and/or Physical
nMay

Special Nuclear Material

a.
b.

Any
Unspecified

Natural Uranium
Byproduct material'
as defined in
10 CFR 40.4

...
-.
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SECTION 9,

StandardConditions

M-i..aximumr amount that Licensee
Possessat Any One Time
Under ThisLicense
a. Unlimited,
b. Quantity generated under
operatiois authorized by
licehse
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... .....
1
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9.1

The authorized place of use shall be the IWc!eQ.eSNichols Ranch in sit recovery (ISR) Project in
Johnson and Campbell Counties Wyoming.T- licensee shall cod'uct operations within the license
area boundaries shown in Figures 1-2 and 1-3 of the approved license application.

9.2

The licensee shall conduct operations in:.accordJan6e with the commitments, representations, and
statements contained in the license application datei November 30, 2007, as amended by
submissions dated August 21, 2008, March 11, 2009, February 24, 2010, September 15, 2010,
September 22, 2010, October 3, 2013 (ML13282A301), February 13, 2014 (ML14050A023),
February 18, 2014 (ML14063A068), February 19, 2014 (ML14051A113), February 28, 2014
(ML14063A214), March 4, 2014 (ML14064A128), March 5, 2014 (ML14065A018), March 6, 2014
(ML14066A051) and March 11, 2014 (ML14071A092) which are hereby incorporated by reference,
except where superseded by specific conditions in this license. The licensee's approved license
application must be maintained on site.
Whenever the word "will" or "shall" is used in the above referenced documents, it shall denote a
requirement.
[Applicable Amendment: 2]

9.3
p-

All written notices and reports sent to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) as required
under this license and by regulation shall be addressed as follows: ATTN: Document Control Desk,
--- - -
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Director, Office of Federal and State Materials and Environmental Management Programs, U.S.
Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001. An additional copy shall be
submitted to: Deputy Director, Decommissioning and Uranium Recovery Licensing Directorate,
Division of Waste Management and Environmental Protection, Office of Federal and State Materials
and Environmental Management Programs, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Mail Stop T-8F5,
11545 Rockville Pike, Two White Flint North, Rockville, MD 20852-2738. Incidents and events that
require telephone notification shall be made to the NRC Operations Center at (301) 816-5100 (collect
calls accepted).
9.4

Change, Test and Experiment License Condition
A.

The licensee may, without obtaining a license amendment pursuant to 10 CFR 40.44, and subject
to conditions specified in (B) of this coqdition..' !:

i

Make changes in the facil.ity as described in the licen e app!ication (as updated);

ii Make changes inithe procedures as described in the license application (as updated); and
iii Conduct tests r e.xperiments not described in the license appli-caiion (as updated).
B.

The licensee shiall: btain a license amendment pursuant tpo 10 94CFR 40.44 prior to implementing a
proposed chanige1, test, or ex-tiriment ifthe change, test(,or!ex'periment would:
Result in more than a minimal infrease n the frequ-ercy',f occurrence of an accident previously
evaluated ino the license appijitibn (as updated)1.;
ii Result inimore thaný'a'miainirnti lIcrase in the likd1ihdod of o.currencebof a malfunction of a
faciity strUCture, equpment; ',r•,ronitoring sys,,m (SEM•):inportant to safety previously
evaluated in the lice'nse
sp.plicati•n (as Ip1ated);
iii Result in more6than a miimeal .irlcease in.the.consne_¢leces of ail-accident previously
"

'
""""
," ."..•''•"'"

'""0':•"'
:
th ;

ný'.

evaluated in the lhcens a;pp'Joation (6au:!-ated),

', .-"nt

pr-eviously:

..

iv Result in moreltlain)a minimal increa'se(•Oihtbe cons6ectencesof a malfunction of an SEMS
previously evaluatedin the license app-0llc'ation (as updated);.,:
v

Create a possibility for a'n accident of a different typethan any previously evaluated in the
license application (as updated); -

vi Create a possibility for a malfunction of an SEMS with a different result than previously
evaluated in the license application (as updated);
vii Result in a departure from the method of evaluation described in the license application (as
updated) used in establishing the final safety evaluation report (FSER), environmental impact
statement (EIS), environmental assessment (EA) or technical evaluation reports (TERs) or other
analysis and evaluations for license amendments.
viii For purposes of this paragraph as applied to this license, SEMS means any SEMS which has
been referenced in a staff SER, TER, EA, or EIS and supplements and amendments thereof.

NRC FORM 374A

Page 3 of 15

-. 6. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

License Number SUA-1597
Docket or Reference Number

MATERIALS LICENSE
SUPPLEMENTARY SHEET

40-9067
Amendment No.3

C.

Additionally, the licensee must obtain a license amendment unless the change, test, or experiment is
consistent with the NRC's previous conclusions, or the basis of, or analysis leading to, the
conclusions of actions, designs, or design configurations analyzed and selected in the site or facility
SER, TER, and EIS or EA. This would include all supplements and amendments, and TERs, EAs,
EISs issued with amendments to this license.

D.

The licensee's determinations concerning (B) and (C) of this condition, shall be made by a Safety and
Environmental Review Panel (SERP). The SERP shall consist of a minimum of three individuals.
One member of the SERP shall have expertise in management (e.g., Plant Manager) and shall be
responsible for financial approval for changes; one member shall have expertise in operations and/or
construction and shall have responsibility for implementing any operational changes; and one
member shall be the radiation safety officer (RSO.) or equivalent, with the responsibility of assuring
changes conform to radiation safety pa•nd"evi'o•rmental irequirements. Additional members may be
included in the SERP, as appropriate; to address technical `sipects such as ground water or surface
water hydrology, specific earthsciences, and other technicalidisciplines. Temporary members or
permanent members, other than the three above-specified individuals, may be consultants.

E.

The licensee shall maintain records of any changes made pursuant to thi, condition until license
termination. Theseorecords shall include written safety and environhmentalevaluations made by the
SERP that provide the basis foraetermining changes are in compliance With (B) of this condition.
nnal
upi report to the NRC i description of such changes, tests, or
The licensee shal furnish, in
experiments, including a sumayf~lO the safety and envioental evaluation of each. In addition,
-:g
which shallJnclude both a change
the licensee shall'annually subMitý.t th~e NRC7cha.'nged p
indicator for the area changed,;e.g.,iýb-aold lineve'rticpaly 'deaW in the marginiadjacent to the portion
actually changed, and a .. ,g'.e ch;a§.•edentification (dat6e ofchangb or change number or both), to the
operations plan '.and reca~lion
the•lapPr-oved h
?--'F5
ýJiation (as updated) to reflect
changes made under this 6hnJIt
"
n.'
i
i'
-

9.5

,

Financial Assuranpe'., The iq-e-Jse',,shall ma

consistentprov
1CR ar 4,"cial wit

d financ.al

surety arrangement,

consistent with 10CE3 Part 4,0, Appendi)(:cG,t.jr.ion 9,, adequate to.coyer the estimated costs, if
'a•n d::e6'ontaminail r, which includes offsite
"
accomplished by a third party, for dcomiinis'••
disposal of radioactive- soi-d process or evap'oration pond residues, and ground-water restoration as
warranted. The surety shall also include the costs associated with al soil and water sampling
analyses necessary to confi•m the accomplishment of decontamination.
Proposed annual updates to the financi iassUranc .eamount, consistent with 10 CFR Part 40,
Appendix A, Criterion 9, shall be provided annually to the NRC by December 29. The financial
assurance update renewal date for Nichols Ranch ISR Project will be determined following
consultation with the licensee and the State of Wyoming. If the NRC has not approved a proposed
revision 30 days prior to the expiration date of the existing financial assurance arrangement, the
licensee shall extend the existing arrangement, prior to expiration, for 1 year. Along with each
proposed revision or annual update of the financial assurance estimate, the licensee shall submit
supporting documentation, showing a breakdown of the costs and the basis for the cost estimates
with adjustments for inflation, maintenance of a minimum 15-percent contingency of the financial
assurance estimate, changes in engineering plans, activities performed, and any other conditions
affecting the estimated costs for site closure.
iI~

I.

Ill

I
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Within 90 days of NRC approval of a revised closure (decommissioning) plan and its cost estimate,
the licensee shall submit, for NRC review and approval, a proposed revision to the financial
assurance arrangement if estimated costs exceed the amount covered in the existing
arrangement. The revised financial assurance instrument shall then be in effect within 30 days of
written NRC approval of the documents.
At least 90 days prior to beginning construction associated with any planned expansion or operational
change that was not included in the annual financial assurance update, the licensee shall provide, for
NRC's review and approval, an updated estimate to cover the expansion or change. The licensee
shall also provide the NRC with copies of financial assurance-related correspondence submitted to
the State of Wyoming, a copy of the State's financial assurance review, and the final approved
financial assurance arrangement. The licensee also must ensure that the financial assurance
instrument, where authorized to be _eld.byy the State[ identifies the NRC-related portion of the
instrument and covers the aboyeground decommissioning- anda decontamination, the cost of offsite
disposal of solid byproduct'material, soil, and water sample analyses, and ground water restoration
associated with the site., The basis for the cost estimate is the NRC-approved site closure plan or the
NRC-approved revisions to the plan. Reclamation or decommissioning'. plan cost estimates and
annual updates should follow the outline in Appendix C, "Recommended .Outline for Site-Specific In
Situ Leach Facility ]Reclarhation and Stabilization Cost Estimates," ,t6 NUREG-1569, "Standard
Review Plan for In Situ LeachiUranium Extraction License Aj•lioations Final Report."
The licensee shall continuously maintain an apoproved surety; instrument for the Nichols Ranch ISR
Project, in favor of the State ofýo6yoing, i'ithe amount 6of fnoess than $6,235,956, for the purposes
of complying with.10 CFR.,Part 40' -Appendi'x- A,Criterio'n9 i:in'til a replacement is authorized by both
the State of Wyoming and:th' N RQ'1,'
/17.
[Applicable Amendment: 1

9.6

Release or remov

,

-

f surf icia yicontaminatec0 equipment, iaterials, or.'packages from restricted

areas shall be in accordance withthe NP.gt anc d1c6R ent entitled:"Guidelines for
Decontamination of Facilities and Equipm-iti'ito ReIle for Unrestricted Use or Termination of
Licenses for Byproduct,' Source, or Speciai1"0iblar Material," dated Ap.ril 1993, or suitable alternative
procedures approved by theihNRC prior to any such release.
Where surface contamination byboth alpha-a...nd b eta-gamma-emitting nuclides exists, the limits
established for alpha- and beta-gamma-emitting nuclides shall apply independently.
9.7

The licensee shall follow the guidance set forth in NRC, Regulatory Guides 8.22, "Bioassay at
Uranium Mills" (as revised), and 8.30, "Health Physics Surveys in Uranium Recovery Facilities" (as
revised), or NRC-approved equivalent.
The licensee shall follow the guidance set forth in Regulatory Guide 8.31, "Information Relevant to
Ensuring That Occupational Radiation Exposures at Uranium Recovery Facilities Will Be as Low as Is
Reasonably Achievable" (as revised), or NRC-approved equivalent.
Any proposed exceptions to the guidance are subject to review and written verification by the NRC
that the proposed exception does not require a license amendment.
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9.8

Cultural Resources. Before engaging in any developmental activity not previously assessed by the
NRC, the licensee shall administer a cultural resource inventory if such survey has not been
previously conducted and submitted to the NRC. All disturbances associated with the proposed
development will be completed in compliance with the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) (as
amended) and its implementing regulations (36 CFR Part 800), and the Archaeological Resources
Protection Act (as amended) and its implementing regulations (43 CFR Part 7).
In order to ensure that no unapproved disturbance of cultural resources occurs, any work resulting in
the discovery of previously unknown cultural artifacts shall cease. The artifacts shall be inventoried
and evaluated in accordance with 36 CFR Part 800, and no disturbance of the area shall occur until
the licensee has received authorization from the NRC, Wyoming State Historic Preservation Officer or
Bureau of Land Management to proeed.
The licensee shall comply With the terms and conditions regatding cultural resource protection in the
Memorandum of Agreement regarding the Nichols Ranch ISR Project dated July 8, 2011.

9.9

The licensee shall dispose of solid byproduct material from the Nichols4Ranch ISR Project operations
at a site that is authorized by the NRC or an NRC Agreement Stat6eto receive byproduct material.
The licensee's approved solid: yro.duct material disposal; agreement mus
itlbe maintained on site. In
the event that the agreement xpires, or is termi natedthe lc.tee shall notify the NRC within
7 working daysafter the date of. epi 0ration or terminatoA n•ew agreement.shall be submitted for
NRC review within 90 days aftbr t'i[kprtion or termination, '~r the licensee will be prohibited from
further lixiviant inijction.
.
'

9.10 The results of the followng
t
or~agtons sba~r~be documented: sampling;
analyses; surveys or monitonng,;-survey•!iot ring equipmeha!Ibraions; reports on audits and
inspections; all meetings ar•itralning,•cors.es; •di any subsequent reviews, investigations, or
corrective actionsirequired b•:R..:reia l~ior,•th~is"iiense:Unless otheiwise specified in a license

condition (LC) or ap:pJicable;NR

eul

maintained at the site unt~i license terrini
9.11

i

i
requireld by this license shall be
"tfohnd
is subjact to NRC review and inspection.

The licensee is hereby exempted from the requirements of 10 CFR 20.1902(e) for areas within the
facility, provided that all entrances to the facility are cons icuously posted with the words, "CAUTION:
ANY AREA WITHIN THIS FACILITY MAY CONTAIN RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL."

SECTION 10:

Operations, Controls, Limits, and Restrictions

StandardConditions
10.1

The licensee shall use a lixiviant composed of native ground water and a combination of one or more
of the following: carbon dioxide gas, sodium carbonate, sodium bicarbonate, dissolved oxygen, or
hydrogen peroxide as specified in the licensee's approved license application. For the Hank Unit,
hydrogen peroxide will not be used.

10.2 Facility Throughput. The Nichols Unit plant throughput shall not exceed a daily averaged flow rate of
3,500 gallons per minute, excluding restoration flow. Annual dried yellowcake production shall not

"llJII'
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exceed 2.0 million pounds. The Hank Unit satellite plant shall not exceed a daily averaged flow rate
of 2,500 gallons per minute, excluding restoration flow.
10.3 Emission controls (dryer). The licensee shall maintain effluent control systems as specified in Section
4.1 of the licensee's approved license application.
10.4 The licensee shall develop and implement written standard operating procedures (SOPs) prior to
operation for: (1) all operational activities involving radioactive and nonradioactive materials
associated with licensed activities that are handled, processed, stored, or transported by employees;
(2) all nonoperational activities involving radioactive materials including in-plant radiation protection
and environmental monitoring; and (3) emergency procedures for potential accidents/unusual
occurrences including significant equipment or facility damage, pipe breaks and spills, loss or theft of
yellowcake or sealed sources, signifidant fires1 r;,h 'ohihr-nptural
disasters. The SOPs shall include
appropriate radiation safety. pracWies to be followed in7accordance with 10 CFR Part 20. SOPs for
operational activities shall Umi'erate pertinent radiation safety pruactices to be followed. A copy of
the current written procedures shall be kept in the area(s) of the production facility where they are
utilized.
The licensee shall: also develop and implement SOPs prior to operation forpthe following:
A.

Maintenanbe of surv'eysT and'monitoring records inrfaccOrdance with 10 CFR Part 20,
Subpart LCto demonstrate comp iance with 19 CFR Part 20 requirements.

B.

Internal exposure,,calciulati60n hnethodsand .apiplicab[e equ~ations for determining the dose
(comniftd effecll'., dosi i•:
lent (CEDE))'fr•o'' irbore sampling and bioassay data.
This methodology.' will be i•
i
10,.CFR 20.1204, and
Regulatory Guide
,~,(as i•:vjsd); 8i342•Monitorihgiteria and ;Methods To Calculate
ý)36;.:Radiation Dose to the
Occupational Radletidn posogý'%(Agi ed) apd
Embryo/Fetus," (aseyised). ...

C.

Conduct of its;bioassay program. n d the determination of.. ternal dose (e.g. CEDE) from
bioassay data 6.0..days prior to coiJtf•ncing operations.. The licensee will provide a plan or
operating procedureds to limit the soluble intake to 10 mgper week for uranium.

D.

Procedures for emergencies identified in Section7.,0 of the licensee's approved application.

These SOPs are subject to all inspections, including the preoperational inspection specified in LC
12.3.
10.5 Mechanical Integrity Tests (MITs). The licensee shall construct all wells in accordance with methods
described in Section 3.4.6 of the licensee's approved license application. The licensee shall perform
well MITs on each injection and production well before the wells are utilized and on wells that have
been serviced with equipment or procedures that could damage the well casing. Additionally, each
well shall be retested at least once every 5 years. MITs shall be performed in accordance with
Section 3.4.6 of the licensee's approved license application. Any failed well casing that cannot be
repaired to pass the MIT shall be appropriately plugged and abandoned in accordance with Section
6.1.5 of the approved license application,

7
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10.6 Ground Water Restoration. The licensee shall conduct ground water restoration activities in
accordance with the approved license application. Permanent cessation of lixiviant injection in a
production area would signify the licensee's intent to shift from the principal activity of uranium
production to the initiation of ground water restoration and decommissioning for any particular
production area. If the licensee determines that these activities are expected to exceed 24 months
for any particular production area, then the licensee shall submit an alternate schedule request that
meets the requirements of 10 CFR 40.42.
Hazardous constituents in the ground water shall be restored to the numerical ground water
protection standards as required by 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 5(B)(5). In submitting any
license amendment application requesting review and license amendment approval of proposed
alternate concentration limits (ACLs)pi.suaný t tCitriobn 5(B)(6), the licensee must also show that it
has first made reasonable effort to restore the specified haziardodus constituents to the background or
"
maximum contaminant leves; (whichever is greater).
Changes to ground water restoration or postrestoration monitoring plans shall be submitted to the
NRC for review and Written verification by the NRC that the proposed changes do not require a
license amendment at least 60 days prior to commencement of ground water restoration in a
production area.-, -,..,]
FacilitySpecific Conditidn'
10.7

Hank Unit Hvd. ~
A.

'

Test
\,,V ......

i•:1i.•

-

I:" //

.

.

Prior to lixiviant ihjection at hJI-lenk-Uhit,'the licensee,;wllI,{onduct a hydrologic test. The
i
'6 simutae proposdnc tion and extraction
hydrologic test rmi b-§r9a~ed:nd i.ied

-conditions'at
tanstrate
operational
zone gradient can
b:
d'th"'" ithat an ,inward hydraulic
be
maint'ain~d
that it•'e the
t ,I-lh U .'•£I
be m'a .rsionk.beyr••
.rimeter production zone monitoring
s of thehd•6rologictelst to the NRC for review and
well ring. T"he.licens6e will b¢port tit•
approval prio-r to Jixiviant injectionI•' f- - prodctio area...
B.

The licensee will update or confirm the restoration schedule for Hank Unit Production Area
(PA) #1 and #2 at the completion of the hydrologic. test in the Hank Unit as required by this
license. The licensee will provide a b~a'sis to :the NRC for review and approval for any
alternate schedule request that meets the requirements of 10 CFR 40.42.

10.8 Production Area Pump Test Document
The licensee will provide the Production Area Pump Test (PAPT) document for the first production
areas at the Nichols Ranch and Hank Units for NRC review and approval prior to lixiviant injection
into the production area. The licensee will provide PAPT documents for each additional production
area for NRC review. The PAPT document will provide all background ground water data, restoration
target values, upper control limits at each monitoring well, as well as the information outlined in
Section 5.7.8.4 of the license application.

I,

-

]
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10.9 The licensee shall maintain an inward hydraulic gradient in each individual production area, starting
when lixiviant is first injected into the production zone and continuing until the restoration target
values (RTVs) have been reached.
The licensee will install "trend" monitoring wells on the upgradient (eastern) side of Hank Units PA #1
and PA #2 approximately every 500 feet apart and approximately 300 feet from the injection wells.
The licensee will collect water level measurements twice monthly and at least 10 days apart from the
trend wells and monthly water level measurements from the production zone monitoring well ring. If
water level measurements indicate that an outward gradient exists, the licensee will inform the NRC
within 7 days and adjust operations until the outward gradient is eliminated.
10.10 The licensee will update or confirm the restorct!on schedule for the Nichols Ranch Unit PA #2 and
provide a basis to the NRC for review ad appro•v'a• forpi,'.yalternate schedule request that meets the
requirements of 10 CFR 40.42.
10.11 All liquid effluents from process buildings and other process wastetreams, with the exception of
sanitary wastes, shaji be, returned to the process circuit or disposedý of as allowed by NRC
regulations. Additionialiy, the licensee is authorized to dispose of proess. solutions, injection bleed,
and restoration brie ,using deep well injection, as permitted by WDEQ and described in the approved
license application.
The licensee will obtain the nee-sis.apermits.., ad co•srcaminimum of two Class I Underground
Injection Control.ý(U IC) deep dilposal wells prior to the6.omehicement of operations of the Nichols
Ranch ISR Project. The licenseI~ail enstie th dcee0 dib.p§oal wells shall have enough capacity to
handle the disposdal of th•,•6talliquid effluent 9ener[!on as tated in:Sectipn 3.2.6 of the license
application. Th6Iiiensee wifll nsu6:•'
66•,
ii;"'p
exists at each unit to
concitqis during production, production and
'Iorm'l•operating
dispose of liquids from each Vnoit ,nder
restoration, and retoration:je as taedin0 Sec_'oný3.26othe licenseapplication.
The licensee will n"tify, the Nk-C within 24, urs-if•adis"psiiwell is shut down and becomes
inoperable, with the e•xception of routin6Thaij~fe.•ce or-reiquired testing that is completed within 48
hours of shutdown. Ifrnecessary, the licen'A&iOl' use additional dip"p ell capacity, surge tanks or
cease injection activities unitilthe disposal well is restored to use a;s w•written in Section 3.2.6 of the
application. The licensee will notify the NRC when the di:sposal'well is placed back into service and
report any repairs or service completed on the well that is hot associated with routine maintenance.
The licensee shall maintain a record of the volumes of solution disposed in each disposal well and
submit this information in the annual monitoring report.
10.12 At least 12 months prior to initiation of any planned final site decommissioning, the licensee shall
submit a detailed decommissioning plan for NRC review and approval. The plan shall represent asbuilt conditions at the Nichols Ranch ISR Project.
The licensee will provide a final status survey plan for postreclamation and decommissioning that
demonstrates that residual radioactivity in soil and building structures meets the criteria in 10 CFR
Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 6(6). The applicable cleanup criteria will be identified for radium-226
II

-
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and soil cleanup criteria will be developed for natural uranium using the radium benchmark dose
approach. Applicable criteria for thorium-230 will also be addressed in the plan.
[Applicable Amendment: 2]
10.13 Any areas with exposure rates that exceed 2 millirem in any 1 hour must be immediately treated as
either a controlled area or restricted area in accordance with 10 CFR Part 20.
10.14 The licensee shall conduct radiological characterization of airborne samples for natural U, Th-230,
Ra-226, Po-210, and Pb-210 for each restricted area air particulate sampling location at a frequency
of once every 6 months for the first 2 years, and annually thereafter to ensure compliance with
10 CFR 20.1204(g). The licensee shall.also evaluate changes to plant operations to determine if
more frequent radionuclide analysesi are requirediforc•cnpljance with 10 CFR 20.1204(g).
The licensee shall determineif s.urface contamination limits are Warranted for Th-230, Ra-226, Po210, and Pb-210 identified in: airborne sample analyses. Withini .y"ar of commencement of
operations, the licensbee hall provide for NRC review and written verification a technical basis for
surface contaminatiOnlimits for the applicable radionuclides of concern.-,"..,
10.15 The licensee shall ontinue toodi8Ilect meteorological data o61 continuous: basis at a data
recovery rate ofiatieast 90 p6rcenit uhtil the NRC headtuaes staff verifies in writing the data
to be representative of long term t6conditions attheNichots Rarich ISR Projec. The data
collected shall include, at a miinium,•tempertur$, wirqd.spee I, and wind dir~ction. Data
and a• sunmaarof
anannoal
wind. rose
in.ýlud,";
ude
submitted
• shall
.
•
. ,'.
, "; . :" ..,.i:.:..=i
.
y.•.-;..
.,..:.'.d the sstability
ta b ility
'.'
classification. 'Justificatio.f.the•ii!ariit6y or validit,•fth~datashall includý an analysis of
the statistical d~t~preseri~ted,"o il6-•,sfe
diihcfice-nt
i
e
t'ativnesis of the data.
Until the NRC headquarters~stafy erifie inii.witinhgthat:the mreiteorologicaldata are representative of
long term conditions:/at the Nichlio0s4hanch S• 6ject,6thejIiensee shallucontinue to evaluate
meteorological conditions td ensure, ~hal,~ojeJd'd6ses .todmembersxf the public and locations of
environmental monitorng stations and ra'or.1l teotors remain consistint with analyses submitted on
February 28, 2014 (ML1:4063A214) and Mari6,2014 (ML14060A051). The licensee shall submit
the results of this evaluatiocnh and discuss any proposed change6 to its environmental monitoring
program in the semi-annual"operational effluent and environmental monitoring program report
required by License Condition I1 I1(D) to NRC headquart's for review.
[Applicable Amendment: 2]
10.16 The licensee will maintain and implement a Quality Assurance Program consistent with Regulatory
Guide 4.15 "Quality Assurance for Radiological Monitoring Programs (Normal Operations) - Effluent
Streams and the Environment," as revised.
[Applicable Amendment: 2]
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10.17 Prior to the injection of lixiviant at the Hank Unit, the licensee shall provide to the NRC headquarters
staff for review and written verification the following information for the airborne effluent and
environmental monitoring program for the Hank Unit. The licensee shall develop written procedures
to incorporate this information.
A.

Discuss how, in accordance with 10 CFR 40.65, the quantity of the principal radionuclides
from all point and diffuse sources will be accounted for, and verified by, surveys and/or
monitoring.

B.

Evaluate the member(s) of the public likely to receive the highest exposures from licensed
operations consistent with 10 CFR 20.1302.

C.

Discuss and identify how. radon ('radon-222)propbgeny will be factored into analyzing potential
public dose from operations consistent with 10 CFR :Part 20, Appendix B, Table 2.

D.

Discuss how, inaccordance with 10 CFR 20.1501, the occupational dose (gaseous and
particulate) receiVed throughout the entire license area fromlicsensed operations will be
accounted for', and verified by, surveys and/or monitoring.

[Applicable Amen dment: 2]

SE(CTION 11:

Monitoring, Rep rdifg ,and bookkeeping Requirements

ndard Conditions
:eurd':

"•.="••ii::::,•:•:•S,•:
/!.!I
eR
,

Sta

11.1

.• itiepuirement
. :.•':

Inadditiontore

R

Code of Federal Reg ulation's%,t heieiqee ýhal p

'repar&
the'0 f0llowing reports related to operations at

the facility:

A.

9 Mintained nsite by Title 10 of the

.I-

A quarterly report that includes a sunary of the weekly:•exursion indicator parameter
values, correctiv .e ..tions taken, and the results obtained. for all wells that were on excursion
status during that quarter,,.ý .!This report shall be s ubmitted to the NRC within 30 days following
completion of the reporting period.

B.

A semiannual report that discusses: status of production areas in operation (including last
date of lixiviant injection), status of production areas in restoration, status of any long term
excursions and a summary of MITs during the reporting period. This report shall be

submitted to the NRC within 30 days following completion of the reporting period.
C.

A quarterly report summarizing daily flow rates for each injection and production well and
injection manifold pressures on the entire system. The flow rates should be measured and

recorded daily for each injection and production well and injection manifold pressures on the
entire system. This report shall be kept on site and made available for inspection upon
request.

I

-

I,.
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D.

Consistent with Regulatory Position 2 of Regulatory Guide 4.14 (as revised), a semiannual
report that summarizes the results of the operational effluent and environmental monitoring
program.

11.2 The licensee shall submit the results of the annual review of the radiation protection program content
and implementation performed in accordance with 10 CFR 20.1101(c). These results shall include an
analysis of dose to individual members of the public consistent with 10 CFR 20.1301 and 10 CFR
20.1302.
11.3 Establishment of Background Water Quality. Prior to injection of lixiviant for each production area,
the licensee shall establish background ground water quality data for the ore zone, and overlying and
underlying aquifers. The background water quality wiloLbe used to define the background ground
,metin t10 QFR.Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 5B(5) for the
water protection standards required to be
ore zone aquifer and surroundingisqcuifers. Water qualitý sop~pling shall provide representative
background ground water quality data and restoration criteria asdescribed in Section 5.7.8.5 of the
approved license application.
The data for each production area shall consist, at a minimum, of the folt wing sampling and
analyses:
A.

B.

Ore Zone." Sampleslshallibe"' collected from ore zon.embnitoring production (MP) wells at a
minimum density of oneMPwell per4k.acrfes ,iof produption area. TheU•se samples shall be
licensee's. -approvedapplication.
D6-6a'ofithe
ih Table
analyzed.:ffor the parare&6s
. . •
". !
',;.§'..•h
.• ,:16
, I.....:,...,,.. listed to"...
be colle-ted •from'•ill'6ore zon ,ýpeorimeter monitorng wells.
Samples shall alsp
\ I

Overlyinrgand Un0rlying"Aqif`

p

lted

from all monitoring wells in

the first overlylng-'anhd fri,§st und'erlyingciaqerat a mirm1lrm densitykof one well per 4 acres of

C.

production' area. Thei sample,'hll b6 analyzed for-1 6se parameters listed in Table D6-6a
of the approVed licens"epat'.Surficial Aquifer. One surficial well!a.ll.be'locbtat.e and sampled in each production area.
The samples sliall be analyzed for''o".parameters liste..in Table D6-6a of the approved
license application;

11.4

I
11

D.

Sampling and Analysis. ýFour smple's shall-be collected from each well to establish
background levels. Consecutive samoling'eents shall be at least 14 days apart. The third
and fourth sample events can be analyzed for a reduced list of parameters. The parameters
that can be deleted from the third and fourth sampling events are those that are below the
minimum analytical detection limits during the first and second sampling events.

E.

Ground water RTVs for the ore zone aquifer shall be established on a parameter-byparameter basis using either a production area or well-specific basis for all constituents.

Establishment of Upper Control Limits (UCLs). Prior to injection of lixiviant into a production area, the
licensee shall establish UCLs in designated overlying and underlying aquifer and perimeter
monitoring wells. The UCLs for the indicator parameters: chloride, conductivity, and total alkalinity
shall be established by analyzing background monitoring data collected to satisfy LC 11.3. The

I,.

I"
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concentrations of these UCLs shall be established for each production area by calculating the
background mean concentration and adding five standard deviations. The UCL for chloride can be
set at the background mean concentration and adding either five standard deviations or 15 mg/L,
whichever is higher.
11.5 Excursion Monitoring. Monitoring for excursions shall occur twice monthly and at least 10 days apart
for all wells with a UCL. An excursion shall have occurred if, in any monitor well, any two UCL
parameters exceed their respective UCLs. A verification sample shall be taken within 48 hours after
results of the first analyses are received. If the second sample shows that the excursion criterion is
exceeded, an excursion shall be confirmed. If the second sample does not show that the excursion
criterion is exceeded, a third sample shall be taken within 48 hours after the second set of sampling
data was acquired. If the third sample shows-that the excursion criterion is exceeded, an excursion

shall be confirmed. If the third sampl•,de0s noiihsI6W that the excursion criterion is exceeded, the
first sample shall be considered to be an error and thewwiellfis removed from excursion status.
Upon confirmation of an excursion, the licensee shall notify the NRC,: as discussed below, implement
corrective action, and increase the sampling frequency for the indicator~parameters at the excursion
well to once every 7 days, Corrective actions for confirmed excursions, may be, but are not limited to,
those described inrSection 5.7.8.10.3 of the approved license, appolcatioin. :An excursion is considered
corrected when the cioncentratilOs of the indicator parametes -are below the concentration levels
defining an excursion for three 6i0:secutive weekly samples.
-

If an excursionlisgiot corrected Withi .60 days of confirn3ation,'the licensee shall either: (a) terminate
injection of lixiviant within'tho o
6rutionare uiintil the-exursi0on is corrected;-,or (b) increase the
g up the excursion. The
surety in an amo'unt to coVp the
h
shll rm~jnII~folhrcpajr~ti
teNcosihf~dr-i ig andthecleaning
inreas
has been corrected
excurisionpteecrin
surety surey
increaseo:•ll
ýC
e.•f0i,
and cleaned up. The writt•:n69Oay excursit.n.:phall id•in~ifyVhich course of action the licensee
is taking. Under," circurhst#hns dogt'hig ,'rid•i•h Qliming•t the requirement that the licensee
must remediate the,excursi0n to.. Meet'-'ound water i 'tee tio standards as required by LC 10.6 for
all constituents estabfished per LC 1.
.
The licensee shall notify thJe NRC Project Marihger by telephone or e-mail within 24 hours of
confirming a lixiviant exc6rsion, and by letter within 7 days fromithe time the excursion is confirmed,
pursuant to LC 11.6. A written report describing the excursion event, corrective actions taken, and
the corrective action results shall be submitted. to the-NR "within 60 days of the excursion
confirmation. For all wells that remainrio excursion 'after60 days, the licensee shall submit a report
as discussed in LC 11.1(A).
11.6

I

Until license termination, the licensee shall maintain documentation on unplanned releases of source
or byproduct materials (including process solutions) and process chemicals. Documented information
shall include, but not be limited to: date, spill volume, total activity of each radionuclide released,
radiological survey results, soil sample results (if taken), corrective actions, results of postremediation
surveys (if taken), a map showing the spill location and the impacted area, and an evaluation of NRC
reporting criteria.
The licensee shall have written procedures for evaluating consequences of the spill or incidentlevent
against 10 CFR Part 20, Subpart M, and 10 CFR 40.60 reporting criteria. If the criteria are met, then
-

I,.
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the licensee shall report to the NRC Operations Center as required,
If the licensee is required to report any production area excursions and spills of source material,
byproduct material, or process chemicals that may have an impact on the environment, or any other
incidents/events, to any State or other Federal agency, a report shall be made to the NRC
Headquarters Project Manager by telephone or electronic mail (e-mail) within 24 hours, This
notification shall be followed, within 30 days of the notification, by submittal of a written report to NRC
Headquarters, as per LC 9.3, detailing the conditions leading to the spill or incident/event, corrective
actions taken, and results achieved.
11.7 The licensee shall identify the location, screen depth, and estimated pumping rate of any new ground
water wells or new use of an existing well within the license area and within 2 kilometers of any
production area. The licensee shball eValuate the irpacit of ISR operations on potential ground water
users and recommend any additional monitoring or other•rmesures to protect ground water users.
The evaluation shall be submitteid as part of the annual reportingto the NRC for review.
After the commencemient of uranium recovery operations, the licensieewill sample all domestic and
livestock wells that ae located within 1 kilometer of the production area monitoring ring wells (MRwells) of the Nichols Ranch and Hank Units. Samples shall betcollected .annually and submitted as
",partof annual repong to the.NRCCuntil ground water restoratiqfois appro"ved at the production area.
Samples shall be analyzed foftihe.UCL parameters in.Sectidh 5.7.8.9 of the approved license
application and fr natural urp i\tW no radi
A22.6
Facility Specific Condiions

..

..•(
.,..•:•r-.':•-•.!.V

11.8

r. ," .,•
" '.
~ ~ ~- ~ .'-i

"..
-.,.!.'" -'•-''",
':•......."...

.. ,-'...

' :"•

The licensee will4notify thei N1RC withi •.ý4hourns ifi'gýasoking"'/4.discussed the approved license
application has occurred in ,t~i'!Fsan'd"'
F.lUit a.h1
durin operationri.. The licensee will submit
areport within 30 days to the
docimtirrective
dNibC.4
a.ti6nrs taken to ensure that operation of
the production zone is proceeýings provi e..1ilriication.

11.9 Radiological monitoring will be conducted forb•piie particulate radioactivity and radon-222 at
appropriate environmental monitoring Iocati6•ri•iaccordance withthii6e criteria in Regulatory Guide
4.14 (as revised) during operations to demonstrate compliance with 10 CFR 20.1301, 10 CFR
20.1501 and 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 7.
Consistent with Regulatory Guide 4.14 (as revised), tthe licensee shall establish air particulate
sampling stations in the three sectors with the highest predicted radioactivity concentrations resultant
from operations and co-locate radon air samplers and direct radiation and soil sampling with the air
particulate sampling stations.
SECTION 12.0:

Preoperational Conditions

Conditions
II

12.1

Prior to commencement of operations in any production area, the licensee shall obtain all necessary
permits and licenses from the appropriate regulatory authorities. The licensee shall also submit a
copy of all permits for its Class I and Class III underground injection wells.
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Prior to commencement of operations, the licensee shall coordinate emergency response
requirements with local authorities, fire department, medical facilities, and other emergency services.
The licensee shall document these coordination activities and maintain such documentation on-site.

12.3 The licensee shall not commence operations until the NRC performs a preoperational inspection to
confirm, in part, that written operating procedures and approved radiation safety and environmental
monitoring programs are in place, and that preoperational testing is complete.
The licensee should inform the NRC at least 90 days prior to the expected commencement of
operations to allow the NRC sufficient time to plan and perform the preoperational inspection.
12.4 The licensee shall identify the location, screen depth and estimated pumping rate of any new ground
dp h;n. est..im te-d pumpng rae of aynewgroun
water wells or new use of an existing well within the hicense .area and within 2 kilometers of any
proposed production area since ihe application was submitted-tot;..he NRC. The licensee shall
evaluate the impact of I6SR operations to potential ground water users and recommend any additional
monitoring or other measures to protect ground water users. The evaluation shall be submitted to the
NRC for review within"6 months of discovery of such well use.

'
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12.5 Prior to commencement of operations, the licensee shall submit the qualifications of radiation safety
staff members for NRC review.
12.6 Prior to commencement of operations, the licensee shall submit a copy of the solid byproduct material
disposal agreement to the NRC.
12.7 [DELETED by Amendment 2]
12.8

(DELETED by Amendment 2]

12.9. [DELETED by Amendment 2]
12.10 [DELETED by Amendment 2)
12.11 [DELETED by Amendmentf.?]'
12.12 [DELETED by Amendment 2]
FOR THE NUCLEAR-REGULATORY COMMISSION

Dated:

28
""

....1AijdrW ersioto, Depoty,'Virector
D
is.....•i.foin9 ardi Uranium Recovery
-",Dis.o 'f:Wa ste-Maihgement;?.....
an :•Ea irnim ehtal.'Protection
Office f ' ederal and' State Materials
and Environmental Management Programs
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Energy Fuels Inc.

ConsolidatedFinancialStatements
For the Years Ended
September 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
Bay Adelaide Centre
333 Bay Street Suite 4600
Toronto ON M5H 2S5
Canada

Telephone
Fax
Internet

(416) 777-8500
(416) 777-8818
www.kpmg.ca

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Shareholders of Energy Fuels Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Energy Fuels Inc, which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2012, September 30,
2011 and October 1, 2010, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), changes in
shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011,
and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the ConsolidatedFinancialStatements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liabilitypartnership and a member fin,,of the KPMG
network of Independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
('KPMG International), a Swiss entity.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Energy Fuels Inc. as at September 30, 2012, September 30, 2011 and
October 1, 2010, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
years ended September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
December 20, 2012
Toronto, Canada

ENERGY FUELS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

September 30, 2012

September 30, 2011
(Note 22)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities (Note 6)
Trade and other receivables (Note 7)
Inventories (Note 8)
Prepaid expenses and other assets

$

13,657,368
1,626,512
15,267,846
30,328,167
464,151

$

$

3,659,981

-

509,154
-

-

61,344,044
Non-current
Inventories (Note 8)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9)
Intangible assets (Note 10)
Restricted cash (Note 11)

6,954,646

October 1, 2010
(Note 22)

2,944,509
133,085,319
13,908,828
28,525,370

172,574

334,683

7,636,374

3,994,664

33,292,152

28,851,031

2,563,974

1,031,525

239,808.070

$

43,492,500

$

33,877,220

15,347,239
1,150,275

$

833,024

$

809,628

LIABILITIES
& SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Decommissioning liability (Note 11)
Loans and borrowings (Note 12)

Non-current
Long-term decommissioning liability (Note 11)
Long-term loans and borrowings (Note 12)

Shareholders' equity
Capital stock (Note 14)
Contributed surplus (Note 14)
Share purchase warrants (Note 14)
Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

42,550
723,675

13,451
1,076

12,490
14,721

17,263,739

847,551

836,839

15,681,408
22,765,252

452,301

416,242
1,085

55,710,399

1,299,852

1,254,166

178,745,349
17,906,058
6,001,644
(17,601,818)
1953,562)

60,051,575
13,808,989
4,158,567
(34,575,045)
(1,251,438)

50,431,482
13,199,345

184,097,671

42,192,648

239,808,070
Additional footnote references
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Subsequent events (Notes 19 and 21)
Approved by the Board
Isigned) Stephen P. Antony . Director

(signed) Bruce D. Hansen

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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-

$

43,492,500

(31,007,773)
-

32,623,054
$

33,877,220

'0

ENERGY FUELS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Expressedin U.S. Dollars)

Year Ended
September 30,
2011

2012

(Note 22)
REVENUES
(Note 18)

$

COST OF SALES
Production cost of sales

25,027,610

$

21,094,286

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (Note 18)

760,619

TOTAL COST OF SALES

(21,854,905)

GROSS PROFIT

3,172,705

Selling, general and administrative expenses

(11,443,588)

Finance income (Note 18)

183,463

Finance expense (Note 18)

(2,052,236)

Impairment of assets (Note 9)

(3,967,718)
11,492
383,387

(24,021,560)

Transaction costs (Notes 4 and 5)

(4,889,828)

Gain on purchase of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)

56,215,039

Other income (loss)

(190,768)

NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORETAXES

5,567

16,973,227

(3,567,272)

16,973,227

(3,567,272)

Income tax expense (Note 17)
NET INCOME (LOSS) FOR THEYEAR
Foreign currency translation reserve

297,876

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THEYEAR

(1,251,438)

$

17,271,103

INCOME (LOSS)PER COMMON SHARE
BASICAND DILUTEDEARNINGS (LOSS)PER SHARE (Note 15)

0.06

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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_

(4,818,710)

(0.03)

ENERGY FUELS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

Capital Stock

Common Shares
Balance anat October 1,2010
Shares and warrants issued in connection with public
offering (Note 14)
Share issuance warrants (Note 14)
Share issuance costs
Stock options exercised (Note 14)
Shares issued in consideration for advance royalty payments
Shares issued in consideration for property acquisitions
Share-based compensation (Note 16)
Foreign currency translation reserve
Net loss for the year

97,188,999

Balance as at September 30, 2011
Shares issued for Titan Uranium asset purchase (Note 4)
Warrants issued Inexchange for Titan warrants (Note 4)
Shares issued for Titan advisory fees (Note 4)
Shares issued for Denison USMining merger (Note 5)
Shares issued for Denison USMining advisory fees (Note S)
Shares and warrants issued for private placement (Note 14)
Share issuance costs
Stock options esercised (Note 16)
Share-based compensation (Note 16)
Treasury shares (Note 14)
Foreign currency translation reserve
Net income for the year

123,999,665
89,063,997

Balance asat September 30, 2012

Amount

Contributed
Surplus

$ 50,431,482

$ 13,199,345

23,000,000

7,538,234
(426,439)
(849,194)
889,124
244,430
2,222,938

1,482,700
217,004
2,110,962

Share Purchase
Warrants

$

-

Deflcit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
income (Lots)

$ (31,607,773) $

-

4,295,266
426,439
(563,138)
(260,187)

(1,251,438)
(3,567,272)

$ 13,808,989

$ 4,158,567

16,667

430,772
79,322,174
981,300
6,548,820
(722,100)
5,395

(1,046,067)

1,463,607
(161,383)
(2,060)
4,099,129

(371,096)
297,876
16,973,227

678,606,040

$ 178,745,349

The accompanying notes are as integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 17,906,0S8

$

6,881,644

(1,411,332)
628,937
244,430
2,222,938
869,831
(1,251,438)
(3,567,272)

$ (34,575,045) $ (1,251,438) $ 42,192,648

32,498,519
540,853

1,256,489
429,440,872
4,373,917
35,500,500

$ 32,623,054
11,333,500

869,831

$ 80,851,575

Total
Shareholders'
Equity

$ (17,601,818)

$

(9S3,562)

32,498,519
540,653
430,772
79,322,174
981,300
8,012,427
(883,483)
3,325
4,099,129
(371,096)
297,876
16,973,227

$ 184,097,871

ENERGY FUELS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)
Year Ended
September 30,

OPERATING ACTMITIES
Net income (loss) for the year
Items not involving cash:
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Finance income
Finance expense
Unrealized foreign currency translation
Gain on purchase of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)
Shares issued for advisory fees for Denison USMining acquisition (Note 5)
Impairment of plant, property and equipment and inventories
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 18)
Interest received

2012

2011

$ 16,973,227

$ (3,567,272)

2,778,048
3,642,170
(183,463)

109,031
735,658

1,756,957
226,029
(56,215,039)
981,300
24,021,560
(8,410,667)
183,463

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Development expenditures on property, plant and equipment
Development expenditures on exploration and evaluation
Acquisition of Titan Uranium, net of cash acquired
Cash acquired in the acquisition of Denison US Mining Division
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Change in cash deposited with regulatory agencies for decommissioning liabilities

(678,887)

(384,687)

(14,246,415)

(3,786,157)

(3,528,129)
(3,550,456)
(485,734)
552,498
324,106
1,010,361

(1,605,172)
(731,313)

(5,677,354)

(3,892,266)

7,128,944
3,325
(2,251,914)
21,551,200

10,422,168
628,937
(14,730)

26,431,555

11,036,375

6,507,786
194,936
6,954,646

3,357,952
(63,287)
3,659,981

(1,555,781)

FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of capital stock, net of share issuance cost
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Repayment of borrowings
Proceeds from issue of convertible debentures

INCREASE
INCASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS DURING THEYEAR
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
-END OF YEAR

$ 13,657,368

$

Non-cash Investing and financing transactions:
Issuance of shares and warrants for acquisition of Titan Uranium (Note 4)

$

$

Issuance of shares and warrants for acquisition of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)

33,470,14

6,954,646

80,303,474

Issuance of shares for other mineral property acquisitions

2,276,178

Issuance of secured notes for acquisition of mineral properties

1,160,720

Issuance of shares for advance royalty obligation

247,630

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

1. REPORTING ENTITY AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Energy Fuels Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta and continued into the Province of
Ontario. Energy Fuels Inc. registered and head office is located at 2 Toronto Street, Suite 500, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada, M5C 2B6 and its principle place of business and the head office of the Company's U.S. subsidiaries is located
at 225 Union Blvd. Suite 600, Lakewood, Colorado, 80228 USA.
Energy Fuels Inc. and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the "Company" or "EFI") are engaged in uranium mining and
related activities, including acquisition, exploration and development of uranium and vanadium bearing properties,
extraction, processing and selling of uranium and vanadium.
Uranium, the Company's primary product, is produced in the form of uranium oxide concentrates ("U30 8 ") and sold to
various customers around the world for further processing. Vanadium, a co-product of some of the Company's mines, is
also produced and is in the form of vanadium pentoxide ("V20 5 "). The Company also processes uranium bearing waste
materials, referred to as "alternate feed materials".
The Company and its significant subsidiaries including those acquired through the acquisition of Denison Mines
Holding Corp. and White Canyon Uranium Ltd (as described in Note 5) are as follows:

Entity
Energy Fuels Inc.
Energy Fuels Resources Corporation ("EFRC")
Energy Fuels Wyoming lnc.("EFW") 1
Energy Fuels Holdings Corp. ("EFHC") 2
Energy Fuels Resources (USA) lnc.("EFR") 3
EFR White Mesa LLC ("White Mesa") 3
EFR White Canyon Corp

Property /
function
Corporate
Exploration

Location
Canada
Colorado

Exploration

Wyoming

USD

100%

0%

Corporate
Operating

Colorado
Colorado

USD
USD

100%
100%

0%
0%

Mill

Utah

USD

100%

0%

Mining

Utah

USD

100%

0%

USD

100%

0%

USD

100%

0%

EFR Colorado Plateau LLC 3
Mining
Colorado
EFR Arizona Strip LLC 3
Mining
Arizona
I Previously known as Titan Uranium USA Inc.
2 Previously known as Denison Mines Holdings
Corp.
3 Previously under the ownership of Denison Mines Holdings Corp.

Functional Sept. 30, Sept. 30,
currency
2012
2011
CAD
100%
100%
USD
100%
100%

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in United States dollars ("USD"), except for certain
footnote disclosures that are reported in Canadian dollars ("CAD" or "C$").
As discussed in Note 5, the Company acquired mineral properties and the mining and milling operating assets and
liabilities of the US Mining Division of Denison Mines Corp. on June 29, 2012. For purposes of financing immediate
working capital requirements, sustaining capital expenditures for current mine and mill operations and longer term
capital development projects, the Company completed two financings. On June 21, 2012, the Company completed an
equity private placement of 35,500,500 non-transferable subscription receipts at a price of C$0.23 per subscription
receipt for gross total proceeds of $C8,165,115 ($7,998,741) and on July 24, 2012 the Company completed a bought
deal public offering of 22,000 floating-rate convertible unsecured subordinated debentures maturing June 30, 2017
for gross proceeds of C$22,000,000 ($21,551,200) (Note 12). With the net proceeds of the equity and debt financing
and with the ongoing focus on cost management, the Company believes it has sufficient cash resources to carry out
its business plan beyond fiscal year 2013 and therefore the company believes that it will continue as a going concern
for the foreseeable future.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Statement of Compliance and Conversion to InternationalFinancialReporting Standards("IFRS")
These consolidated financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB"). These financial statements are the Company's first annual consolidated financial
statements and IFRS 1 FirstTime Adoption of InternationalFinancialReporting Standards("IFRS 1") has been applied.
Previously, the Company prepared its annual consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles ("Canadian GAAP").
The adoption of IFRS resulted in changes to the accounting policies as compared with the most recent annual financial
statements prepared under Canadian GAAP. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to
all periods presented. They also have been applied in the preparation of an opening IFRS statement of financial
position as at October 1, 2010, as required by IFRS 1. The impact of the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS is
explained in Note 22.
These consolidated financial statements for the year ended were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of
the Company on December 20, 2012.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and
liabilities which are measured at fair value.
Presentationcurrency
Effective October 1, 2011, the Company changed its presentation currency from the CAD to the USD. The Company
believes the USD reporting provides better information regarding the Company's results of operations and related
business activities. USD reporting is expected to improve shareholders' ability to compare the Company's financial
results with other publicly traded companies in the mining industry whose primary assets and operations are located
in the United States.
Prior to October 1, 2011, the Company reported its annual and quarterly statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive loss, statement of shareholders' equity and consolidated statement of cash flows in CAD. In making
this change, the Company followed the guidance of IASB as set out in IAS 21, The Effects of Changesin Foreign
Exchange Rates ("IAS 21") and the following procedures were followed in the change of its presentation currency to
USD:
1.

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented (including comparatives) were
translated using the closing rate at the date of the statement of financial position;

2.

Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income presented were translated using the
average exchange rates prevailing during each reporting period;

3.

Shareholder equity transactions have been translated using the rates of exchange in effect as of the dates of
the various capital transactions. All comparative financial information has been restated to reflect the
Company's results as if they had been historically reported in USD and the effect on the consolidated
financial statements resulted in an accumulated other comprehensive income.

Functionalcurrency
As of October 1, 2011, the Company determined that there has been a change in functional currency from the CAD to
the USD in the following subsidiaries and any associated joint ventures:
*

Energy Fuels Resources Corporation

"

Magnum Minerals USA Corp.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
The change in functional currency of the above entities from CAD to USD was triggered by the approval of the License
by the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment ("CDPHE") for the development of the Pihon Ridge
mill (Note 19), with the resultant cash flows expected to be incurred for the development to be denominated in USD.
In accordance with IAS 21, the change in functional currency is accounted for on a prospective basis from October 1,
2011. With the above change, the functional currency of the Company's U.S. subsidiaries is the USD and the
functional currency of Energy Fuels Inc. is the CAD.
For those subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates whose functional currency differs from the United States dollar,
foreign currency balances and transactions are translated into the United States dollar as follows:
*

Assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange at the consolidated balance sheet date;

*

Revenue and expenses are translated at average exchange rates throughout the reporting period or at rates
that approximate the actual exchange rates; items such as depreciation are translated at the rate implicit in
the historical rate applied to the related asset; and

*

Exchange gains and losses on translation are included in other comprehensive income.

The exchange gains and losses are recognized in earnings upon the substantial disposition, liquidation or closure of
the entity that gave rise to such amounts.
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations
A business combination is defined as an acquisition of assets and liabilities that constitute a business. A business
consists of inputs, including non-current assets, and processes, including operational processes, that when applied to
those inputs, have the ability to create outputs that provide a return to the Company and its shareholders. A business
also includes those assets and liabilities that do not necessarily have all the inputs and processes required to produce
outputs, but can be integrated with the inputs and processes of the Company to create outputs.
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method whereby identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, including contingent liabilities, are recorded at 100% of their acquisition-date fair values. The
Company measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred plus the recognized amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized
immediately in profit and loss. The acquisition date is the date the Company acquires control over the acquiree. The
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in determining the acquisition date.
Acquisition related costs, other than costs to issue debt or equity securities of the acquirer, including investment
banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, valuation fees and other professional or consulting fees are expensed as
incurred.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Company reports in its financial statements provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. During the measurement period, the Company will retrospectively adjust the provisional
amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as
of that date. The maximum length of time for the measurement period is one year from the acquisition date.
Financialinstruments
The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities when the Company becomes a party to a contract.
Financial assets and financial liabilities, with the exception of financial assets classified as fair value through profit or
loss, are measured at fair value plus transaction costs on initial recognition. Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss are measured at fair value on initial recognition and transaction costs are expensed when incurred.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the classification of the financial instrument:
a.

Financialassets and liabilitiesatfairvalue through profit and loss ("FVTPL")
Financial assets and liabilities are classified as FVTPL when acquired principally for the purpose of trading, if
so designated by management (fair value option), or if they are derivative instruments. Financial assets or
liabilities are classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes recognized in profit and loss. The
Company's financial instruments classified as FVTPL include convertible debentures (Note 12). The
Company does not currently hold any derivative instruments. Interest expense is recorded using the
effective interest method.

b.

Available-for-salefinancial assets
The Company's investments in equity securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than
impairment losses, and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale monetary items, are recognized
directly in other comprehensive income (loss). When an investment is derecognized, the cumulative gain or
loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss. The Company has classified its marketable securities as
available for sale.

c.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be
received, less a discount (when material) to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently,
loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision
for impairment.
Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, term deposits and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are subject insignificant risk of changes in
their fair value, and are used by the Company in the management of short-term commitments.

d.

Otherfinancialliabilities
Other financial liabilities are financial liabilities that are not classified as FVTPL. Subsequent to initial
recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, finance leases and notes payable are classified as other
financial liabilities.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of an instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability or to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreigncurrency translation
The Company operates primarily in the U.S. and to a lesser extent in Canada. Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated to the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries at exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation
are recognized in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity
instruments which are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Principlesof consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company together with its wholly-owned U.S.
subsidiaries. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until control ceases. All inter-company transactions have been eliminated.
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Company has joint control, established by contractual
agreement. These consolidated financial statements include the Company's proportionate share of the entities'
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses with items of a similar nature on a line-by-line basis, from the date that joint
control commences until the date that joint control ceases. Interests in the Company's joint ventures were
recognized in these consolidated statements using the proportionate consolidation method.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Company.
Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset (other than a
financial asset classified as fair value through profit and loss) is impaired. Objective evidence of an impairment loss
includes: i) significant financial difficulty of the obligor; ii) delinquencies in interest or principal payments; iii)
increased probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; and iv), in the case of
equity securities, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost.
If such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss, as follows:
(i)

Financial assets carried at amortized cost: The loss is the difference between the amortized cost of
the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the
instrument's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this
amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an allowance account.

(ii)

Available-for-sale financial assets: The impairment loss is the difference between the original cost of
the asset and its fair value at the measurement date, less any impairment losses previously recognized
in profit and loss. This amount represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) that is reclassified to net income.

Inventories
Expenditures, including depreciation, depletion and amortization of production assets, incurred in the mining and
processing activities that will result in the future concentrate production are deferred and accumulated as ore in
stockpiles and in-process and concentrate inventories.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Stockpiles are comprised of coarse ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further processing.
Mining production costs are added to the stockpile as incurred along with a pro-rata share of the depletion of the
associated mineral property and removed from the stockpile based upon the average cost per ton of ore produced
from mines considered to be in commercial production. The current portion of ore in stockpiles represents the
amount expected to be processed in the next twelve months. Stockpiles are valued at the lower of their weighted
average cost or net realizable value ("NRV"). NRV is the difference between the estimated future concentrate price
(net of selling costs) and estimated costs to complete production into a saleable form.
In-process and concentrate inventories include the cost of the ore removed from the stockpile as well as production
costs incurred to process the ore into a saleable product. Processing costs typically include labor, chemical reagents
and directly attributable mill overhead expenditures. Work in-process and concentrates are carried at the lower of
average costs or NRV.
Materials and other supplies held for use in the production of inventories are carried at average cost and are not
written down below that cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or
above cost. However, when a decline in the price of concentrates indicates that the cost of the finished products
exceeds net realizable value, the materials are written down to NRV. In such circumstances, the replacement cost of
the materials may be the best available measure of their NRV.
Exploration and evaluationassets
Exploration and evaluation activities involve the search for minerals, the determination of technical feasibility and the
assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Exploration and evaluation expenditures include costs
which are directly attributable to researching and analyzing existing exploration data; conducting geological studies,
exploratory drilling and sampling; examining and testing extraction and treatment methods; completing pre-feasibility
and feasibility studies; and costs incurred in acquiring mineral rights.
Exploration and evaluation expenditures are capitalized and are classified as such until the project demonstrates
technical feasibility and commercial viability. Technical feasibility and commercial viability generally coincide with the
establishment of proven and probable reserves; however, they may also occur when the Company makes a decision
to proceed with development or begins production. Upon demonstrating technical feasibility and commercial
viability, and subject to an impairment analysis, capitalized exploration and evaluation costs are transferred to the
mineral properties balance within property, plant and equipment.
Property,plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at acquisition or production cost and carried net of depreciation and
impairments. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent
costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when replaced. Repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the profit and loss during the period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization are calculated on a straight line or unit of production basis as appropriate.
Where a straight line methodology is used, the assets are depreciated to their estimated residual value over an
estimated useful life which ranges from three to fifteen years depending upon the asset type. Where a unit of
production methodology is used, the assets are depreciated to their estimated residual value over the useful life
defined by management's best estimate of recoverable reserves and/or resources in the current mine plan. When
assets are retired or sold, the resulting gains or losses are reflected in current earnings as a component of other
income or expense. The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant
and equipment to its significant parts and depreciates separately each such part. Residual values, method of
depreciation and useful lives of the assets are reviewed at least annually and adjusted if appropriate.

11

ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Where straight-line depreciation is utilized, the range of useful lives for various asset classes is generally as follows:
"
•
"
"
*
*

Buildings
Shop tools and equipment
Mining equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Vehicles and equipment under capital lease

15 years
3-5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years

The amortization method, residual values, and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually
and any change in estimate is applied prospectively.
Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of mineral concentrates is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Company and delivery has occurred, the sales price and costs incurred with respect to the transaction can be
measured reliably and collectability is reasonably assured. For uranium, revenue is typically recognized when delivery
is evidenced by book transfer at the applicable uranium storage facility. For vanadium-Felated.products, revenue is
typically recognized at the time of shipment to the customer.
Revenue from toll milling services is recognized as material is processed in accordance with the specifics of the
applicable toll milling agreement. Revenue and unbilled accounts receivable are recorded as related costs are
incurred using billing formulas included in the applicable toll milling agreement.
Revenue from alternate feed process milling is recognized as material is processed, in accordance with the specifics of
the applicable processing agreement. In general, the Company collects a recycling fee for receipt of the material
and/or receives the proceeds from the sale of any uranium concentrate and other metals produced. Deferred
revenues represent processing proceeds received on delivery of alternate feed materials but in advance of the
required processing activity.
Capitalstock
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and
share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Financeincome andfnonce costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, and changes in the fair value of financial instruments at
fair value through profit or loss and net foreign exchange gain (losses). Interest income is recognized as it accrues in
profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, amortization of the discount on provisions, changes in the
fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and net foreign exchange gain (losses), and
impairment losses recognized on financial assets.
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Decommissioningliabilities
The Company's decommissioning liabilities relates to expected mine and mill reclamation and closure activities, as
well as costs associated with reclamation of exploration drilling. Such costs, discounted to their present value, are
provided for and capitalized at the start of each project to the carrying amount of the asset, along with a
corresponding liability as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. The decommissioning liability is accreted
to full value over time through periodic accretion charges recorded to operations as accretion expense. The Company
periodically adjusts the carrying amounts of the decommissioning liability and the related asset for changes in
estimates of the amount or timing of underlying future cash flows, and discount rates.
The Company's activities are subject to numerous governmental laws and regulations. Estimates of future
reclamation liabilities for asset decommissioning and site restoration are recognized in the period when such
liabilities are incurred. These estimates are updated on a periodic basis and are subject to changing laws, regulatory
requirements, changing technology and other factors which will be recognized when appropriate. Liabilities related
to site restoration include long-term treatment and monitoring costs and incorporate total expected costs net of
recoveries. Expenditures incurred to dismantle facilities, restore and monitor closed resource properties are charged
against the related reclamation and remediation liability.
Impairment of long-lived assets
At each financial reporting date the carrying values of the Company's assets, including exploration and evaluation
assets are reviewed to determine whether there is an indication that those assets are impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any.
Income taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income (loss).
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realized.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-basedcompensation
The Company uses a fair value-based method of accounting for stock options granted to employees, directors, and
non-employees. The fair value of the award is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model on the date
of the grant. For awards with graded vesting, the fair value of each tranche, adjusted for expected forfeitures, is
recognized over its respective vesting period as an increase in stock-based compensation expense and the
contributed surplus account. At the end of each reporting date, the amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options that are expected to vest.
When such stock options are exercised, the proceeds received by the Company, together with the respective amount
from contributed surplus, are credited to capital stock.
Earnings (loss) per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing
the earnings or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is determined by adjusting the
earnings or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the effects of all potential dilutive instruments.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. The Company does not
capitalize borrowing costs related to exploration and evaluation assets. All other borrowing costs are recognized as
finance costs in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.
Future Accounting Changes
I FRS 9 FinancialInstruments
In November 2009, the IASB issued, and subsequently revised in October 2010, IFRS 9 FinancialInstruments ("IFRS 9")
as part of its ongoing project to replace lAS 39. IFRS 9 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2015, with earlier application permitted. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial
asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the
context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Under IFRS 9 for
financial liabilities measured at fair value under the fair value option, changes in fair value attributable to changes in
credit risk will be recognized in OCI, with the remainder of the change recognized in profit or loss. However, if this
requirement creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, the entire change in fair value will be
recognized in profit or loss. Amounts presented in OCI will not be reclassified to profit or loss at a later date. The
Company has not yet assessed the impact of the Standard on the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 10 ConsolidatedFinancialStatements
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 ConsolidatedFinancialStatements ("IFRS 10") which establishes principles for
the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other
entities. IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation requirements in SIC12 Consolidation--SpecialPurpose Entities and IAS 27 Consolidatedand Separate FinancialStatements. This standard
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, earlier application permitted. The Company has
not yet assessed the impact of the Standard on the consolidated financial statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements ("IFRS 11") which is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013, with early application permitted. Under IFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as
either joint operations or joint ventures. IFRS 11 essentially carves out of previous jointly controlled entities, those
arrangements which although structured through a separate vehicle, such separation is ineffective and the parties to
the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities and are accounted for as joint operations
in a fashion consistent with jointly controlled assets/operations under IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures ("IAS 31"). In
addition, under IFRS 11, JointArrangements are stripped of the free choice of equity accounting or proportionate
consolidation; these entities must now use the equity method. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the
Standard on the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12 Disclosureof Interests in Other Entities ("IFRS 12"), which is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early application permitted. Under IFRS 12, enhanced disclosures
are required for entities reporting interests in other entities, including joint arrangements, special purpose vehicles,
and off balance sheet vehicles. IFRS 12 supersedes IAS 27 "Consolidatedand SeparateFinancialStatements" and SIC12 "Consolidation- Special Purpose Entities". The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the Standard on the
consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 13 FairValue Measurement
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 FairValue Measurement ("IFRS 13"), which is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early application permitted. IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single
standard a framework for measuring fair value, requires disclosures about fair value measurements, and applies when
other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not introduce requirements to measure assets
or liabilities at fair value, nor does it eliminate practicable exception to fair value measurement that currently exist in
certain standards. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the Standard on the consolidated financial
statements.
IAS 1 Presentation of FinancialStatements
In June 2011, the IASB amended lAS 1 Presentationof FinancialStatements ("IAS 1") in order to align the presentation
of items in other comprehensive income with US GAAP standards. Items in other comprehensive income will be
required to be presented in two categories: items that will be reclassified into profit or loss and those that will not be
reclassified. The flexibility to present a statement of comprehensive income as one statement or two separate
statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income remains unchanged. The amendments to IAS 1 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with early application permitted. The Company
intends to adopt IAS 1 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on October 1, 2012. The Company
has not yet assessed the impact of the Standard on the consolidated financial statements.
IAS 28 Investments in Associates andJoint Ventures (Amended in 2011)
IAS 28 (2011), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, supersedes IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the
equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures. The Standard defines 'significant
influence' and provides guidance on how the equity method of accounting is to be applied (including exemptions
from applying the equity method in some cases). It also prescribes how investments in associates and joint ventures
should be tested for impairment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The amended standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Entities that elect to
early adopt this standard must also adopt the other standards included in the 'suite of five' standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements and disclosures: IFRS 10, ConsolidatedFinancialStatements, IFRS 11, Joint
Arrangements, IFRS 12, Disclosureof Interests in Other Entities, and IAS 27 (2011), Separate FinancialStatements. The
Company intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 28 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning
October 1, 2013. The Company does not expect the amendments to lAS 28 to have a material impact on the financial
statements.
IAS 32 FinancialInstruments: Presentation
Amendments to IAS 32, FinancialInstruments:Presentation,clarifies that an entity currently has a legally enforceable
right to off-set financial assets and liabilities if that right is: not contingent on a future event; and enforceable both in
the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all
counterparties. The amendments to IAS 32 also clarify when a settlement mechanism provides for net settlement or
gross settlement that is equivalent to net settlement. The effective date for the amendments to IAS 32 is annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The amendments to IAS 32 are to be applied retrospectively. The
Company intends to adopt the amendments to lAS 32 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning
October 1, 2014. The Company does not expect the amendments to IAS 32 to have a material impact on the financial
statements.
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the ProductionPhase of a Surface Mine
In October 2011, the IASB issued IFRIC 20 StrippingCosts in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine. The
interpretation, which has an effective date for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, sets out the
accounting for overburden waste removal (stripping) costs in the production phase of a surface mine. The
interpretation requires recognition of production stripping costs that improve access to ore to be mined in the future
as a non-current asset if, and only if, all the following criteria are met:
"

It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity;

"

The entity can identify the component of the ore body for which access has been improved; and

"

The costs relating to the stripping activity associated with that component can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the life of the component will determine the period of depreciation; it will differ
from the life of the mine unless the stripping activity improves access to the whole of the remaining ore body.
When the costs of the stripping activity asset versus inventory produced are not separately identifiable, the entity
allocates production stripping costs between the two based on a 'relevant' production measure.
For companies with existing asset balances related to stripping activity on the date of adoption, existing balances
which do not relate to an identifiable component of ore body are written off against opening retained earnings.
Existing asset balances which relate to production stripping not written off will be reclassified as part of an existing
asset to which the stripping activity relate and depreciated over the remaining expected useful life of the identified
component to which it relates. The Company intends to adopt the interpretation in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on October 1, 2013. The Company does not expect the interpretation to have a material
impact on the financial statements.
Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported. It also requires management to exercise
judgment in applying the Company's accounting policies. These judgments and estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances taking into account previous experience.
Although the Company regularly reviews the estimates and judgments made that affect these financial statements,
actual results may be materially different.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant estimates made by management include:
a.

Reserves and resources
Proven and probable reserves are the economically mineable parts of the Company's measured and
indicated mineral resources demonstrated by at least a preliminary feasibility study. The Company
estimates its proven and probable reserves and measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources based
on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons. The information relating to the geological data
on the size, depth and shape of the ore body requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data.
The estimation of future cash flows related to proven and probable reserves is based upon factors such as
estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and production costs
along with geological assumptions and judgments made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body.
Changes in the proven and probable reserves or measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources
estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, goodwill, reclamation and
remediation obligations, recognition of deferred tax amounts and depreciation, depletion and amortization.

b.

Depreciation,depletion and amortization of property,plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment comprise a large component of the Company's assets and, as such, the
depreciation and amortization of those assets have a significant effect on the Company's financial
statements. Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment used in production is
calculated on a straight line basis or a unit-of-production basis as appropriate.
Plant and equipment assets depreciated using a straight-line basis results in the allocation of production
costs evenly over the assets useful life defined as a period of time. Plant and equipment assets depreciated
on a units-of-production basis results in the allocation of production costs based on current period
production in proportion to total anticipated production from the facility.
Mineral property assets are amortized using a unit-of-production basis that allocates the cost of the asset to
production cost based on the current period's mined ore as a proportion of the total estimated resources in
the related ore body. The process of making these estimates requires significant judgment in evaluating
and assessing available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data, projected rates of
production, estimated commodity price forecasts and the timing of future expenditures, all of which are, by
their very nature, subject to interpretation and uncertainty.
Changes in these estimates may materially impact the carrying value of the Company's property, plant and
equipment and the recorded amount of amortization, depletion and depreciation.

c.

Valuation of long-lived assets
The Company undertakes a review of the carrying values of property, plant and equipment and intangibles
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may exceed their estimated
net recoverable amounts determined by reference to estimated future operating results and discounted net
cash flows. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable. In
undertaking this review, the management of the Company is required to make significant estimates of,
amongst other things, future production and sale volumes, forecast commodity prices, future operating and
capital costs and reclamation costs to the end of the mine or mill's life. These estimates are subject to
various risks and uncertainties, which may ultimately have an effect on the expected recoverability of the
carrying values of plant, property and equipment and intangibles.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
d.

Inventories
The Company values its concentrates, work in process and ore stockpile inventories at the lower of cost or
net realizable value at the end of the reporting period. Costs represent the average cost, and include direct
labor and materials costs, mine and mill site overhead, plant and equipment depreciation, mineral property
amortization and stockpile depletion. Net realizable value is based on estimated future commodity prices
and estimated costs required to convert work in process and ore stockpile inventories into saleable form.
These estimates are subject to change from period-to-period which may materially impact the carrying
value of the Company's inventories resulting in inventory write-downs and recoveries.

e.

Business combinations
Management uses judgment in applying the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations
and in determining fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. The value placed on the
acquired assets and liabilities, including identifiable intangible assets, will have an effect on the amount of
goodwill or bargain purchase gain that the Company may record on an acquisition. Changes in economic
conditions, commodity prices and other factors between the date that an acquisition is announced and
when it finally is consummated can have a material difference on the allocation used to record a preliminary
purchase price allocation versus the final purchase price allocation which can take up to one year after
acquisition to complete.

f.

Decommissioning liabilities
Decommissioning liabilities are recorded as a liability when the asset is initially constructed. The Company
has accrued its best estimate of its share of the cost to decommission its mining and milling properties in
accordance with existing laws, contracts and other policies. The estimate of future costs involves a number
of estimates relating to timing, type of costs, mine closure plans, and review of potential methods and
technical advancements. Furthermore, due to uncertainties concerning environmental remediation, the
ultimate cost of the Company's decommissioning liability could differ from amounts provided. The estimate
of the Company's obligation is subject to change due to amendments to applicable laws and regulations and
as new information concerning the Company's operations becomes available. The Company is not able to
determine the impact on its financial position, if any, of environmental laws and regulations that may be
enacted in the future.

4. ACQUISITION OF TITAN URANIUM INC.
On December 5, 2011, the Company and Titan Uranium Inc. ("Titan") entered into an agreement whereby EFI agreed
to acquire, by way of a Plan of Arrangement ("Arrangement"), all of the outstanding common shares of Titan. Titan's
primary U.S. mineral property is the Sheep Mountain Project located about 8 miles south of Jeffrey City, Wyoming.
The shareholders of EFI and the shareholders of Titan approved the Arrangement at their respective Special Meetings
held on February 10, 2012 and February 14, 2012. The Arrangement has been approved by the Toronto Stock
Exchange and was approved by the Supreme Court of British Columbia on February 21, 2012. The acquisition was
completed on February 29, 2012.
Pursuant to the Arrangement, Titan shareholders received 0.68 of an EFI common share for each common share of
Titan. Under the terms of the Arrangement, all outstanding warrants of Titan became exercisable for common shares
in EFI. The number of shares received upon exercise and the exercise price of Titan's outstanding share purchase
warrants were adjusted proportionately to reflect the share exchange ratio. Under the terms of the Arrangement, all
Titan options expired on the business day preceding the transaction close date.
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4. ACQUISITION OF TITAN URANIUM INC. (continued)
The cost of acquisition included the fair value of the issuance of the following instruments: 89,063,997 Energy Fuels
common shares at C$0.36 per share aggregating to C$32,063,039 ($32,498,519), plus 14,926,881 share purchase
warrants of Energy Fuels, with an average exercise price of C$0.63 per share and a fair value of $540,853.
Acquisition costs totaled $1,214,384, including the issuance of 1,256,489 EFI common shares to an associate of a
shareholder, valued at $430,772 in satisfaction of the advisory fee, bringing the total purchase price to $34,253,756.
The value of the Energy Fuels shares issued was calculated using the share price of the Company's shares on the date
the acquisition closed.
The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the
fair value of the warrants of Titan assumed as part of the acquisition:
0.92% - 0.94%
0.76 - 1.43 years
74%-106%
0.0%

Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition and the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
acquired as part of the group of assets acquired was determined by allocating the price paid for the group of assets to
each item based on its relative fair value at the time of acquisition.
The aggregate fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were as follows on the acquisition date:

$
89,063,997 common shares of EFI
Fair value of warrants assumed (Note 14)
Transaction costs incurred
Purchase consideration

32,498,519
540,853
1,214,384
34,253,756

The purchase price was allocated as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Treasuryshares
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Property, plant and equipment (1)
Restricted cash
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Due to related parties
Decommissioning liability
Net identifiable assets

297,878
3,446,179
371,096
221,488
34,366,047
2,007,119
(3,025,602)
(1,102,891)
(1,026,453)
(1,301,105)
34,253,756

(1) The two properties included as part of property, plant and equipment are the Sheep Mountain property in
Wyoming and the Green River property located in the San Rafael district of Utah.
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5. ACQUISITION OF DENISON MINES HOLDING CORP. AND WHITE CANYON URANIUM LIMITED
On May 23, 2012, the Company and Denison Mines Corp. ("Denison") entered into an Arrangement Agreement
("Arrangement") whereby EFI would acquire from Denison (the "Acquisition") (i) all of the issued and outstanding
shares of Denison Mines Holding Corp. ("DMHC") (ii)all of the issued and outstanding shares of White Canyon
Uranium Limited ("White Canyon"), and (iii) all indebtedness of DMHC, White Canyon and their direct and indirect
subsidiaries (collectively, the "Denison US Mining Division") owing to Denison and any affiliates of Denison (other
than members of the Denison US Mining Division). The Terms of the Arrangement required EFI to distribute
425,440,872 common shares to Denison shareholders on a pro-rata basis such that Denison shareholders receive
approximately 1.106 common shares of EFI for each common share of Denison owned.
The shareholders of EFI and the shareholders of Denison approved the Arrangement at their respective Special
Meetings held on June 25, 2012. The Arrangement was approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange on June 7, 2012 and
was approved by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice on June 27, 2012. The Acquisition was completed on June 29,
2012.
The Acquisition of Denison US Mining Division was consistent with EFI's strategy of building a fully-integrated uranium
and vanadium production company in the western U.S. The Acquisition provides a number of benefits including
operational synergies, a potential to accelerate the rate of development of EFI's mineral properties, increase
throughput of mill feed and create a strategic platform for continued uranium property consolidation in the western
U.S.
The cost of the Acquisition included the fair value of the issuance of 425,440,872 EFl common shares at C$0.19, for a
total purchase price of $79,322,174. Acquisition costs totaled $2,564,578, including the issuance of 4,373,917 EFI
common shares to Dundee Securities Ltd., valued at $981,300 in satisfaction of the stock component portion of their
advisory fee. The value of the Energy Fuels shares issued was calculated using the common share price of the
Company's shares on the date the Acquisition closed.
The transaction was accounted for as a business combination with the Company identified as the acquirer, owing to
the fact that post-transaction, Energy Fuels controls the board of directors with eight of the ten board seats, majority
of senior management posts, and has overall control of the day-to-day activities of the combined entities. The
accounting for the acquisition has been done on a preliminary basis taking into account the information available at
the time these consolidated financial statements were prepared.
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5. ACQUISITION OF DENISON MINES HOLDING CORP. AND WHITE CANYON URANIUM LIMITED (continued)
The purchase price allocation remains preliminary and is therefore subject to further adjustment prior to the end of
the third quarter of 2013 for the completion of the valuation process and analysis of resulting tax effects. Final
valuations of the assets and liabilities are not yet complete due to the timing of the Acquisition and complexities
inherent in the valuation process. The Company has adjusted the preliminary purchase price allocation to adjust
inventory stockpiles by $10,969,573 as well as to recognize an intangible asset of $15,851,364 for the estimated fair
value of customer contracts acquired. The adjustments recorded resulted in an increase in gain on bargain purchase
of $4,881,791 from the amount previously reported. The current preliminary aggregate fair values of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed were as follows on the Acquisition date:
Purchase price
Issuance of 425,440,872 common shares of EFI

$ 79,322,174

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Restricted cash (1)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Decommissioning liabilities

Fair Value
552,498
241,493
31,530,279
302,750
84,941,468
15,851,364
24,964,638
(7,802,056)
(1,150,275)
(13,894,946)
135,537,213
(56,215,039)
$ 79,322,174
$

Gain on purchase (2)

(1)

Cash, cash equivalents and fixed income securities posted as collateral for various bonds with state and
federal regulatory agencies for estimated reclamation costs associated with the decommissioning liability of
the White Mesa mill and plant, property and equipment.

(2)

The Acquisition of DMHC and White Canyon resulted in a preliminary gain on bargain purchase as a result of
the excess of the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired over the purchase price. This gain
is preliminary and subject to final fair value adjustments which are expected to be completed by the
quarter-ended March 31, 2013.

Proforma information
Unaudited pro forma results of operations have been prepared as if the Denison US Mining division acquisition had
occurred at October 1, 2011. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statement information is not intended to
be indicative of the results that would actually have occurred, or the results expected in future periods, had the events
reflected herein occurred on the dates indicated. Any potential synergies that may be realized and integration costs that
may be incurred have been excluded from the unaudited pro forma financial statement information. No adjustments
were required in this unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statement information as a result of the effects of
purchase accounting.
For the year ended September 30, 2012, pro forma consolidated revenue and net income would have been $94.3
million and $18.4 million, respectively. The pro forma net income included a total of $2.5 million of acquisition costs
incurred in connection with the acquisition.
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6. MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale, are stated at their fair values, and consist of the following:
September 30,
2012

September 30,
2011

October 1,
2010

$

$

$

Mega Uranium Ltd.
10,000,000 common s hares

1,626,512

-

1,626,512
The Company has classified its investment in Mega Uranium Ltd. ("Mega") as an available-for-sale investment. During
the year ended September 30, 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,786,778 in the statement of
operations related to the fair value adjustment of this financial asset as it was determined that the decline in market
value was significant. If the Company had not recorded the impairment charge of $1,786,778, the Company would
have recorded the fair value change in other comprehensive income (loss).
The investment in Mega is classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy outlined in IFRS 7 FinancialInstruments:
Disclosures as their fair value has been determined based on a quoted price in an active market.
7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

September 30,

Trade receivables - mineral concentrate sales

October 1,

2012

2011

2010

$

$

$

12,807,500

Trade receivables - bond (Note 18)

-

861,372

Trade receivables - other
Notes receivable (1)

(1)

September 30,

1,044,409

-

554,565

509,154

15,267,846

509,154

Includes $509,154 promissory note receivable from Aldershot Resources Ltd. ("Aldershot") which holds a
50% interest in the Colorado Plateau Partners LLC ("CPP") joint venture with EFRC. The promissory note
was canceled on October 1, 2012 as a result of EFRC's acquisition of Aldershot's 50% joint venture interest
in CPP (Note 21).
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8. INVENTORIES
September 30,
2012

September 30,
2011

Uranium concentrates and work-in-progress

11,481,132

Inventoryof ore in stockpiles

17,587,363

-

Raw materials and consumables

October 1,
2010

-

4,204,181

-

33,272,676

-

30,328,167

-

2,944,509

-

33,272,676

-

Inventories - bycduration
Cu rre nt
Long-term - ore in stockpiles

The current portion of Inventory of ore in stockpiles represents ore that will be processed within the next twelve
months of planned mill production.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and
equipment

Mineral Properties
Operating
Pre-development

Total

and non-operating
Cost
Balance at October 1, 2010

$ 12,761,467

Additions

$

$

1,732,143

Effect of movements in exchange rates
Balance at September 30, 2011
Acquisition of Titan Uranium (Note 4)
Acquisition of Denison US Mining
Division (Note 5)

17,073,132

$ 29,834,599

3,469,868

5,202,011

(216,958)

(285,950)

14,276,652

20,257,050

34,533,702

(502,908)

42,917

34,323,130

34,366,047

37,866,006

16,561,145

30,508,980

84,936,131

Additions

2,180,305

2,111,595

5,393,725

9,685,625

Disposais

(516,173)

Balance at September 30, 2012

$ 53,849,707

-

(516,173)

-

$ 18,672,740

$

$

$

90,482,885

$ 163,005,332

Depreciation, depletion, disposals and impairment
Balance atOctober 1, 2010

$

983,568

Depreciation for the year

274,456

Effect of movements in exchange rates

(16,474)

Balance at September 30, 2011

1,241,550

Depreciation forthe year

2,663,071

Depletion forthe year
DisposaIs forthe year
Impairment (1)
Balance at September 30, 2012

-

-

274,456

-

(16,474)

-

-

-

12,027,555

983,568

-

-

(342,549)

$

-

2,336,381

-

-

-

2,663,071

-

2,336,381

-

(342,549)

11,994,005

24,021,560

$

11,994,005

$ 29,920,013

-

2,336,381

1,241,550

$ 15,589,627

$

At October 1, 2010

$ 11,777,899

$

-

$

17,073,132

$ 28,851,031

At September 30, 2011

$ 13,035,102

$

-

$

20,257,050

$ 33,292,152

At September 30, 2012

$ 38,260,080

$ 16,336,359

$

78,488,880

$133,085,319

Carrying amounts

(1) Impairment of PionRidge Mill
Due to the acquisition of DMHC (Note 5) which resulted in the Company acquiring the White Mesa Mill, a
fully operational uranium mill, the Company assessed the recoverable amount of Piron Ridge Mill site for
which the Company is incurring costs to obtain the mill permit. The Company estimated that the
recoverable amount of Pir'on Ridge Mill site based on fair value less cost to sell, considering comparable
sales price per acre for nearby land. Based on the assessment, the carrying value of the Piton Ridge mill
was determined to be $12.0 million higher than its recoverable amount, and an impairment loss was
recognized in profit and loss for the year ended September 30, 2012.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(2) Impairmentof exploration and evaluation assets
During the year ended September 30, 2012, as a result of the drop in the U308 spot price through
September 30, 2012, the Company's decisions to place the Beaver and Daneros mines on stand-by status
and the fact that the Company has not budgeted any material investment in its exploration and evaluation
assets, the Company tested its exploration and evaluation assets (excluding any assets acquired pursuant to
the acquisitions of Titan, DMHC and White Canyon) for impairment and recognized an impairment loss of
$11,994,005. A summary of the impairment charge by asset is provided below.

Yearended
September 30,
2012

Yearended
September 30,
2011

District and Prospect Name

$

$

US Properties
Whirlwind Mine Area
La Sal-Energy Queen District

8,121,492
1,257,610

-

San Rafael Area
GatewayDistrict

4,700

-

470,947

-

Uravan District

488,720

-

Other Areas-WY, NM
Moab Area
Slick Rock District
Sage Plain District
Su btota l
Joint Ventures
Colorado Plateau JV
West Lisbon JV
Total

-

-

302,148
397,447

-

493,101
11,536,165

-

428,494

-

-

-

29,346
11,994,005

The Company used the precedent transactions method for impairment testing to estimate recoverable amounts and
analyzed select transactions which occurred subsequent to the drop in the price of U308 following the Fukushima
earthquake in Japan which significantly and adversely impacted exploration and development asset valuations in the
uranium sector.
Pre-developmentand non-operatingproperties
The Company enters into exploration agreements whereby it may earn an interest in certain mineral properties by
issuing common shares, making cash option payments and/or incurring expenditures in varying amounts by specified
dates.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
The following is a summary of the carrying value of pre-development non-operating property expenses after giving
effect to the impairment of assets discussed above, shown by area of interest:
September 30,
2012

September 30,
2011

October 1,
2010

US Properties
Whirlwind Mine Area

3,325,880

11,084,965

10,438,179

La Sal-EnergyQueen District

1,893,570

2,617,001

2,402,205

San Rafael Area

3,203,783

3,189,988

2,014,363

Gateway District

140,369

881,035

772,708

Uravan District

297,881

708,340

569,647

46,156

43,586

3,836

-

296,151

282,604

Slick Rock District

87,574

433,257

377,960

Sage Plain District

Other Areas-WY, NM
Moab Area

975,003

-

-

Colorado Plateau (Note 5) (1)

1,844,080

-

-

Henry Mountains (Note 5) (1)

14,450,296

-

-

Daneros (Note 5) (1)

8,921,745

-

-

Arizona Strip (Note 5) (1)

7,803,000

-

-

Sheep Mountain (Note 4)

34,681,636

-

-

Su btota l

77,670,973

19,254,323

16,861,502

817,907

974,512

187,455

Joint Ventures
Colorado Plateau JV
West Lisbon JV
Balance
(1)

-

78,488,880

28,215

24,175

20,257,050

17,073,132

Properties acquired in the Denison transaction are located in the following areas: the Henry Mountains
uranium complex in southern Utah, the Arizona Strip properties in Arizona, the Colorado Plateau properties
straddling the Colorado and Utah border, and the Daneros uranium properties in the White Canyon district
of southeastern Utah.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Sales contracts
Cost
Balance at October 1, 2010
Additions
Effect of movements in exchange rates

Total

$

$

15,851,364
$ 15,851,364

15,851,364
$ 15,851,364

$

$

Balance atSeptember30, 2011

Acquisition of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)
Balance at September30, 2012
Amortization
Balance at October 1, 2010
Depreciation for the year
Effect of movements in exchange rates

-

-

-

Balance at September 30, 2011

-

-

Amortization for the year
Balance at September 30, 2012

$

Carrying amounts
At October 1, 2010
At September 30, 2011

$
$

At September 30, 2011
At September 30, 2012

$
$ 13,908,828

1,942,536
1,942,536

-

$

1,942,536
1,942,536

$
$

-

$

-

$ 13,908,828

Amortization
Amortization is allocated to the cost of inventory and is recognized in selling, general and administrative as inventory
is sold.
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11. DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITIES AND RESTRICTED CASH
The following table summarizes the Company's decommissioning liabilities:
September 30,
2012

September 30,
2011

October 1,
2010

$

$

$

Reclamation obligations, beginning of year
Revision of estimate
Liabilityfrom acquisition of Titan (Note 4)

465,752

428,732

(45,953)

37,020

285,000
143,732

1,301,105
13,894,946

Liabilityfrom acquisition of Denison US
Mining Division (Note 5)

108,108

Accre ti on
Reclamation obligations, end of year

15,723,958

-

-

-

465,752

428,732

Site restoration liability bylocation:
Exploration drill holes
Whirlwind Mine
Energy Queen Mine

42,550

13,451

12,490

209,460

222,266

204,546

216,781

230,035

211,696

Sheep Mountain

1,330,120

-

-

White Mesa Mill

10,469,521

Colorado Plateau

1,253,141

Henry Mountains

416,760

1,711,615

-

-

15,723,958

465,752

428,732

42,550

13,451

12,490

15,681,408

452,301

416,242

15,723,958

465,752

428,732

Dane ros

74,010

Arizona Strip

Site restoration liability:
Cu rre nt
Non-current

The decommissioning and reclamation of the White Mesa mill and U.S. mines are subject to legal and regulatory
requirements. Estimates of the costs of reclamation are reviewed periodically by the applicable regulatory
authorities. The above accrual represents the Company's best estimate of the present value of future reclamation
costs, discounted using risk-free interest rate ranging from 1.60% to 2.67% based on the 10-year and 20-year US
Treasury rates. The total undiscounted decommissioning liability as at September 30, 2012 is $26,646,677
(September 30, 2011 - $491,174) (October 1, 2010 - $ $496,752). Reclamation costs are expected to be incurred
between 2013 and 2040.
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11. DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITIES AND RESTRICTED CASH (continued)
Restricted cash, which is held by or for the benefit of regulatory agencies to settle these future obligations, are
comprised of the following:

Restricted cash, beginning of year
Restricted cash from acquisition of Titan (Note 4)
Restricted cash from acquisition of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)
Additions (returns) for the year
Restricted cash, end of year

September 30,

September 30,

2012

2011

2,563,974
2,007,119
24,964,638

1,031,525

(1,010,361)
28,525,370

1,532,449
2,563,974

Mill and mine redamation
The Company has cash, cash equivalents and fixed income securities as collateral for various bonds posted in favour
of the State of Utah, the applicable state regulatory agencies in Colorado and Arizona and the U.S. Bureau of Land
Management for estimated reclamation costs associated with the White Mesa mill and mining properties. Cash
equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. The restricted
cash will be released when the Company has reclaimed a mineral property. During the year ended September 30,
2012, the Company had a net return of $1,010,361 from its collateral account (September 30, 2011 - ($1,532,449)).
12. LOANS AND BORROWINGS
The contractual terms of the Company's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured at amortized
cost, are as follows.
September 30,
2012

September 30,
2011

October 1,
2010

Current portion of loans and borrowings
Secured note (1)

250,180

Convertible debentures (2)

354,156

Finance leases and other

119,339
723,675

-

1,076
1,076

-

14,721
14,721

Long-term loans and borrowings
Secured note (1)
Convertible debentures (2)
Finance leases and other

29

602,313

-

-

21,749,517

-

-

413,422

-

1,085

22,765,252

-

1,085
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12. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

Currency

Nominal
interest
rate

Year of
maturity

September 30,

September 30,

2012

2011

October 1, 2010

$

$

$

Facevalue

Carrying
amount

Carrying
Carrying
Facevalue amount Facevalue amount

Secured note (1)

USD

-

2016

1,125,720

852,493

Convertible debentures (2)

USD

8.5%

2017

22,364,542

22,103,673

-

-

-

Finance leases and other

USD

-

566,212

532,761

1,118

1,118

16,145

16,145

24,056,474

23,488,927

1,118

1,118

16,145

16,145

2013 -2017

(1)

On October 12, 2011 the Company issued a secured note to Nuclear Energy Corporation LLC ("NUECO") in
the amount of $1,125,720 for the assignment of the Skidmore Mineral Lease ("Skidmore"). To date the
Company has transferred cash in the amount of $125,000 to NUECO in accordance with the terms of the
agreement. The remaining balance of the note is repayable on the following schedule: October 13, 2012
($250,180), October 13, 2013 ($250,180), October 13, 2014 ($250,180), and October 13, 2015 ($250,180).
This note is secured by the Skidmore lease. The current portion of this note is $250,180 and was paid as
agreed on October 13, 2012.

(2)

On July 24, 2012 the Company completed a bought deal public offering of 22,000 floating-rate convertible
unsecured subordinated debentures maturing June 30, 2017 (the "Debentures"). The Debentures were
issued at a price of C$1,000 ($979.60 per Debenture for gross proceeds of C$22,000,000 ($21,551,200) (the
"Offering"). The Debentures are convertible into common shares at the option of the holder at a
conversion price of C$0.30 per common share. Interest is paid in cash and in addition, unless an event of
default has occurred and is continuing, the Company may elect, from time to time, subject to applicable
regulatory approval, to satisfy its obligation to pay interest on the Debentures, on the date it is payable
under the indenture (i) in cash; (ii) by delivering sufficient common shares to the debenture trustee, for
sale, to satisfy the interest obligations in accordance with the indenture in which event holders of the
Debentures will be entitled to receive a cash payment equal to the proceeds of the sale of such common
shares; or (iii) any combination of (i) and (ii).
The Debentures will accrue interest, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each
year at a fluctuating rate, of not less than 8.5% and not more than 13.5%, indexed to the simple average
spot price of uranium as reported on the Ux Weekly Indicator Price. Interest can be paid in cash or issuance
of the Company's common shares. The Debentures may be redeemed in whole or part, at par plus accrued
interest and unpaid interest by the Company between June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2017 subject to certain
terms and conditions, provided the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares of the
Company on the TSX during the 20 consecutive trading days ending five days preceding the date on which
the notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price.
Upon redemption or at maturity, the Company will repay the indebtedness represented by the Debentures
by paying to the debenture trustee in Canadian dollars an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount
of the outstanding Debentures which are to be redeemed or which have matured, as applicable, together
with accrued and unpaid interest thereon.

30

ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

12. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Subject to any required regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is
continuing, the Company has the option to satisfy its obligation to repay the $1,000 principal amount of the
Debentures, in whole or in part, due at redemption or maturity, upon at least 40 days' and not more than
60 days' prior notice, by delivering that number of common shares obtained by dividing the $1,000 principal
amount of the Debentures maturing or to be redeemed as applicable, by 95% of the volume-weighted
average trading price of the common shares on the TSX during the 20 consecutive trading days ending five
trading days preceding the date fixed for redemption or the maturity date, as the case may be. The
debentures are classified as FVTPL where the debentures are measured at fair value and changes are
recognized in profit and loss. For the year ended September 30, 2012 the Company recorded a gain on
revaluation of convertible debentures of $600,556 and transaction costs of $2,355,250 were expensed in
profit and loss (2011 - nil).
13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(1)

During the year ended September 30, 2012, Dundee Securities Ltd. served as one of the co-lead
underwriters for the bought deal public offering of 22,000 floating-rate convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures and received underwriting fees totaling $471,610. Dundee Securities Ltd. is a subsidiary of
Dundee Corp., a shareholder of the Company which has two representatives on the Company's Board of
Directors.

(2)

During the year ended September 30, 2012, Dundee Securities Ltd. served as the Company's lead agent for
a private placement which closed June 29, 2012 and received agency fees totaling $264,410.

(3)

During the year ended September 30, 2012, Dundee Securities Ltd. served as the Company's financial
advisor for the acquisition of DMHC which closed June 29, 2012 and received advisory fees totaling
$1,471,929 in cash and EFI common shares

(4)

During the year ended September 30, 2012, Dundee Securities Ltd. served as the Company's financial
advisor for the Titan transaction which closed February 29, 2012 and received advisory fees totaling
$710,000 in cash and EFI common shares.

(5)

The Company had recorded a loan in the amount of C$1,033,178 payable to Pinetree Resource Partnership
("Pinetree"), representing principal and interest due on loan advances made to Titan in December 2011 and
January 2012. Pinetree is a shareholder of the company and has three representatives on the Company's
Board of Directors. This loan has since been repaid in full.

Key management personnelcompensation
Key management includes the Company's Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Chief Operating
Officer (COO), Chief Accounting Officer (CAO), General Counsel and Secretary and the directors. In addition to their
salaries or directors fees, executive officers and directors also participate in the Company's stock option plan (see
Note 16).
Key management personnel compensation is comprised of the following:

Salaries and short-term employee benefits

Year ended
September 30,
2012

Yearended
September 30,
2011

$

$

887,527

$

1,366,872

Share-based payments

1,106,648
2,983,188

$

31
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479,345
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14. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
Authorized capitalstock
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value, unlimited Preferred
Shares issuable in series, and unlimited Series A Preferred Shares. The Series A Preferred shares are non-redeemable,
non-callable, non-voting and with no right to dividends. The Preferred shares issuable in series will have the rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions assigned to the particular series upon the Board of Directors approving their
issuance.
Issued capitalstock
The issued and outstanding capital stock consists of Common Shares as follows:
September 30, 2012
Shares

Balance, beginning of year
Shares issued forTitan Uranium asset purchase (Note 4)
Shares issued for Titan advisoryfees (Note 4)
Shares issued for Denison US Mining merger (Note 5)
Shares issued for Denison US Mining advisoryfees (Note 5)

September 30, 2011

Amounts

123,999,665

60,051,575

89,063,997

32,498,519

1,256,489

430,772

425,440,872

79,322,174

4,373,917

981,300

Shares

Amount$

97,188,999

50,431,482

23,000,000

7,538,234

Share issuance costs - public offering

-

(433,805)

Share issuance costs - agent warrants

-

(426,439)

Shares and warrants issued for publicoffering (1)

Shares and warrants issued for private placement (2)

35,500,500

Share issuance costs - private placement

-

Stock options exercised
Shares issued in consideration for advance royalty payments (3)

6,548,820
(722,100)

-

16,667

5,385

1,482,700

-

-

217,004

244,430

2,110,962

2,222,938

Shares issued in consideration for propertyacquisitions (3)
Share issuance costs - other (3)

889,124

(414,389)

(1,046,067)

Treasury shares (4)
Balance, end of year

678,606,040

(371,096)
178,745,349

-

123,999,665

60,051,S75

(1)

On March 31, 2011, the Company completed a public offering for net proceeds of $10,836,557, net of cash
costs totaling $996,943. A total of 23,000,000 units were issued at a price of C$0.50, with each unit comprising
one Common Share and one-half of a warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one
Common Share at a price of C$0.65 per share until March 31, 2015. The fair value of the 11,500,000 full
warrants that were issued on completion of the sale totaled $4,295,266 and this value was recorded in share
purchase warrants which are a separate component of shareholders' equity.

(2)

On June 21, 2012, the Company completed an equity private placement of 35,500,500 non-transferable
subscription receipts at a price of C$0.23 per subscription receipt for gross total proceeds of $C8,165,115
($8,012,427). Each subscription receipt was exchangeable into one unit of the Company upon completion of
the acquisition of the US Mining Division of Denison Mines Corp. Each unit consisted of one common share and
one-half of one warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share at a
price of C$0.27 until June 22, 2015. The fair value of the 17,750,250 full warrants that were issued on the
completion of the private placement totaled $1,463,607 and this value was recorded in contributed surplus
which is a separate component of shareholders' equity.
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14. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (continued)
(3)

In November 2010 and in June 2011, the Company issued 217,004 common shares valued at $244,430 for the
payment of advanced royalties. In February 2011, the Company issued 1,046,067 common shares valued at
$1,210,487 to Titan Uranium Corp to acquire a 100% interest in the Hollie claim group. In addition, the
Company issued 1,064,895 common shares valued at $1,012,451 to Nuvemco, LLC to acquire the Calliham
mining lease. Share issuance costs related to these issuances as well as fees associated with the March 2011
short form prospectus totaled $414,389.

(4) As a result of the Company's acquisition of Titan the Company acquired ownership of 1,046,067 shares of EFI
common stock. Such shares are treated as treasury shares at September 30, 2012 and are shown as a reduction
of equity.
Share Purchase Warrants

Month Issued

Exercise Price

Warrants

C$

Issued

Expiry Date

March 2011

March 31, 2015

0.65

11,500,000

March 2011 (1)

October 12012

0.50

1,610,000

February 2012 (2)

November 30, 2012

0.74

1,486,725

February 2012 (2)

November 30, 2012

0.66

12,216,764

February 2012 (2)

November 30, 2012

0.44

883,392

Feb rua ry 2012
June 2012

August 3, 2013

0.31

340,000

June 22, 2015

0.27

17,750,250

(1) These warrants expired unexercised on October 1, 2012
(2) These warrants expired unexercised on November 30, 2012
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price September30, September30,
C$
2012
2011
13,110,000
0.63

Balance, beginning of year
Warrants issued in connection with public offering
Agent warrants issued in connection with public offering
Warrants issued in exchange forTitan Warrants (Note 4)
Warrants issued in connection with private placement
Balance, end of year

33

0.65
0.50
0.63
0.27

14,926,881
17,750,250

0.49

45,787,131

-

11,500,000
1,610,000

13,110,000
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14. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (continued)
September 30,
2012

$

Balance, beginning of year
Warrants issued in connection with public offering (1)
Share issuance costs
Agent warrants issued in connection with public offering (2)
Warrants issued in exchange forTitan Warrants (Note 4) (3)
Warrants issued in connection with private placement (4)
Share issuance costs
Balance, end of year
(1)

$

4,158,567
-

-

4,295,266
(563,138)
426,439

540,853
1,463,607
(161,383)
6,001,644

-

4,158,567

The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $4,295,266 of fair value for the 11,500,000 warrants issued in connection with the public offering:
Risk-free
Expected
Expected
Expected

(2)

September 30,
2011

rate
life
volatility
dividend yield

2.14%
4 years
105%
0.0%

The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $426,439 of fair value for the 1,610,000 agent warrant issued in connection with the public offering:
Risk-free
Expected
Expected
Expected

rate
life
volatility
dividend yield

2.14%
1.5 years
105%
0.0%

(3) The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $540,853 of fair value for the 14,926,881 Titan warrants assumed as part of the acquisition:
0.92% - 0.94%
0.76 - 1.43 years
74%-106%
0.0%

Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
(4)

The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $1,463,607 of fair value for the 17,750,250 warrants issued in connection with the private placement:
Risk-free
Expected
Expected
Expected

rate
life
volatility
dividend yield

1.22%
3.0 years
82%
0.0%
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14. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (continued)
Contributed surplus
September 30,
2012
Balance, beginning of year

13,808,989

Share-based compensation

4,099,129

Stock options exercised
Balance, end of year

(2,060)
17,906,058

September 30,
2011
13,199,345
869,831
(260,187)
13,808,989

15. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings (loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share at September 30, 2012 was based on the net income (loss) attributable to
common shareholders of $16,973,227 (2011 - ($3,567,272)), and a weighted average number of common shares
outstanding of 294,908,791 (2011-111,376,261).
Weighted average number of common shares (basic)
The following is a reconciliation of weighted average shares outstanding for the years ended September 30, 2012 and
2011:
YearEnded
September 30,
2012
Issued common shares at September 30
Effect of own shares held
Effect of share options exercised
Effect of shares issued related to a business combination
Effect of shares issued in an asset acquisition
Effect of shares issued in an equityfinancing
Balance, end of year

YearEnded
September 30,
2011

123,999,665
(613,311)

97,188,999

7,626
109,514,453

1,165,433

-

-

52,955,025

1,490,322

9,045,333
294,908,791

11,531,507
111,376,261

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share at September 30, 2012 was based on net income (loss) attributable to
common shareholders of $16,973,227 (2011 - ($3,567,272)) and a weighted average number of common shares
outstanding of 295,124,856 (2011 - 111,376,261), after adjustment for the effects of all potential dilutive common
shares, calculated as follows:
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15. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (continued)
Weighted average number of common shares (diluted)
YearEnded
Year Ended
September 30, September 30,
2012
2011

Weighted average numberof common shares (basic)
Effect of share options issued
Weighted average number of common shares (diluted)

294,908,791

111,376,261

216,065
295.124,856

111,376.261

At September 30, 2012, 76,004,931 options and warrants (2011 - 19,730,300) were excluded from the diluted
weighted average number of common shares calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
The average market value of the Company's shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was
based on quoted market prices for the period during which the options were outstanding.
16. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock options
The Company has established a stock option plan whereby the Board of Directors may grant options to employees,
directors and consultants to purchase common shares of the Company. The maximum number of authorized but
unissued shares available to be granted under the plan shall not exceed 10% of its issued and outstanding common
shares. The exercise price of the options is set at the Company's closing share price on the day before the grant date.
For the year ended September 30, 2012, the Company granted 25,146,000 stock options (2011 - 1,880,000) to its
employees, directors and consultants recording stock-based compensation expense of $3,635,846, net of $456,959
that was capitalized (2011 - $704,785, net of $129,166 capitalized). In addition, the Company also recorded stockbased compensation expense of $6,324 (2011 - $35,880) for those stock options granted in a prior year and which
vested during the current year. Offsetting amounts were recognized as contributed surplus in the year.
The fair value of stock options granted to employees, directors and consultants was estimated on the dates of the
grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions used for the grants made during
the year:
Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

1.05% - 1.26%
3.0- 4.50 years
93%-102%
0.0%
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16. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
The fair value of stock options granted during the year ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
YearEnded
September 30, 2012
75,000 options granted at C$0.62 on 10/18/10

YearEnded
September 30, 2011

-

33,641

-

779,782

50,000 options granted at C$0.71 on 11/10/10

24,474

1,755,000 options granted at C$0.51 on 04/13/11
5,840,000 options granted at C$0.31 on 03/07/12
136,000 options granted at C$0.39 on 03/07/12
680,000 options granted at C$0.86 on 03/07/12
3,240,000 options granted at C$0.23 on 08/13/12
13,925,000 options granted at C$0.23 on 08/27/12
1,225,000 options granted at C$0.23 on 09/01/12
100,000 options granted at C$0.23 on 09/17/12
Value of stock options granted

1,308,162

-

22,608

-

110,785

-

400,982
2,065,635

-

170,152

-

-

-

14,481
4,092,805

837,897

The summary of the Company's stock options at September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the changes for the fiscal years
ending on those dates is presented below:
As at September 30, 2012

Balance, beginning of year
Transactions during the year:
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Balance, end of year

Weighted
Range of
Average
Exercise Prices Exercise Price
C$
C$
0.16- 2.25
0.59
0.23- 0.86
0.20
0.20-2.25
0.45
0.16-2.25

As at September 30, 2011

Numberof
Options
6,620,300

0.27
0.20
0.39
0.45
0.33

25,146,000
(16,667)

(643,333)
(68,500)
31,037,800
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Range of
Exercise
Prices
C$
0.16-2.25

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
C$
0.60

0.51 -0.71
0.20-0.45
2.25
0.45
0.16- 2.25

0.52
0.43
2.25
0.45
0.59

Number of
Options
6,543,000
1,880,000
(1,482,700)
(125,000)
(195,000)
6,620,300
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16. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
The following table reflects the actual stock options issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2012:

Exercise Price

Expiry Date
Nov-2012
Ja n-2013
Feb-2014
Jul-2014
Oct-2014
Jun-2015
Jul-2015
Jul-2015
Aug-2015
Oct-2015
Nov-2015
Apr-2016
Ma r-2015
Ma r-2016
Ma r-2017
Aug-2017
Aug-2017
Sep-2017
Seo-2017

CS
0.45
2.25
0.35
0.35
0.35
0.16
0.20
0.17
0.30
0.62
0.71
0.51
0.39
0.86
0.31
0.23
0.23
0.23
0.23

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)
0.12
0.27
1.35
1.79
2.06
2.72
2.78
2.81

Number of
Options
Vested
481,800
700,000
600,000
580,000
150,000
12,500
795,000
12,500
900,000
75,000
50,000
1,665,000

Number of
Options
Outstanding
481,800
700,000
600,000
580,000
150,000
12,500
795,000
12,500

2.85
3.05
3.11
3.54
2.43
3.44
4.44
4.87
4.91
4.92
4.97

900,000
75,000
50,000
1,665,000
136,000
680,000
5,710,000
3,240,000
13,925,000
1,225,000
100,000

136,000
680,000
5,710,000
3,240,000
13,925,000
1,225,000
100,000

4.26

31.037.800

31,037,800

Number of
Options
Unvested

17. INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense (recovery) at September 30, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
September 30,

V

2012
$

Current income tax:
Deferred income tax:

$

38

-$

September 30,
2011
-

ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

17. INCOME TAXES (continued)
A reconciliation of income tax expense (recovery) and the product of accounting income before income tax,
multiplied by the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate for the years ended September
30, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Income (loss) before income taxes
Combined federal and provincial rate

Yearended
September 30,
2012

Yearended
September 30,
2011

$

S

16,973,200
26.88%

Expected income tax expense (recovery)

(3,567,300)
28.75%

4,562,400

(1,025,600)

Stock based compensation
Non-taxable items

979,000
(15,219,700)

212,600
(55,100)

Foreign tax rate differences

2,971,900

Change in previously unrecognized temporary difference

6,706,400

Income tax expense (recovery)

-

(243,900)
1,112,000

$

-

The significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:
September 30,
2012
Deferred tax asset:
Net operating losses
Deferred income tax asset

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Inta ngibles
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories and short-term investments

9,306,600
9,306,600

September 30,
2011

September 30,
2010

$

$

(5,695,700)
(1,895,800)
(1,715,100)
(9,306,600)

Deferred tax assets - net

$

-

81,000
81,000

-

-

$

14,000
14,000

(81,000)

(14,000)

(81,000)

(14,000)

-

$

The aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized, as at September 30, 2012 is $55,773,000 (September 30, 2011, - nil).
Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences:
September 30,
2012
$ 164,173,100
28,958,500
15,724,000
6,405,100

Non capital losses
Mineral properties and deferred costs
Reclamation and remediation obligations
Oth e r
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September 30,
2011
$
27,704,400
9,587,600
421,700
1,573,900

September 30,
2010
$
23,125,300
10,339,700
347,000
1,440,000
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17. INCOME TAXES (continued)
At September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 the Company did not recognize the benefit related to the deferred
tax assets for the above related items in the financial statements as management did not consider it probable that
the Company will be able to realize the deferred tax assets in the future.
The following table summarizes the Company's non-capital losses and net operating losses that can be applied against
future taxable profit.
Country
Canada
United States

Type
Non-capital losses

Amount
$ 32,841,000

Expiry Date
2014-2032

Net operating losses

154,060,000

2026-2032

18. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The components of revenues are as follows:
September 30,

September 30,

2012

2011

$

Uranium concentrates

$

24,939,386

Alternate feed processing and other

88,224

Revenues

25,027,610

The components of finance income are as follows:
September 30,
2012

I

September 30,
2011

i

interest income

183,463

11,492

Finance income

183,463

11,492

The components of finance expense are as follows:
September 30,
2012

$

Accretion
Interest expense

(108,108)

Foreign exchange loss

(295,279)

(462,627)
600,556

Gain on revaluation of convertible debentures
Impairment of ma rketa bl e securities

(1,786,778)

Finance expense

(2,052,236)
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September 30,
2011

$

-

(396)
383,783
-

383,387
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18. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
A summary of transaction costs recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) is as
follows:
September 30,
2012

$

2,534,578

Acquisition of Denison US Mining Division
Convertible debentures

September 30,
2011

$

-

2,355,250
4,889,828

Transaction costs

A summary of depreciation, depletion and amortization expense recognized in the consolidated financial statements
is as follows:
September 30,
2012
760,619

Recognized in production cost of sales

September 30,
2011
-

Recognized in inventories
Recognized in property, plant a nd equipment
Recognized i n selling, general a nd adminstrative

2,965,793
1,198,147
2,017,429

165,425
109,031

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

6,941,988

274,456

-

A summary of employee benefits expense recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
September 30,
2012

September 30,
2011

Recognized in property, plant and equipment
Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Share-based compensation
Recognized in statement of comprehensive income (loss)
Salaries and short-term employee benefits

6,248,320
456,959

184,512
424,140

6,705,279

608,652

2,595,541

1,187,484

Share-based compensation

3,642,170

311,518

Employee benefits expenses

6,237,711
12,942,990

1,499,002
2,107,654
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18. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
The change in non-cash working capital items in the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:
September 30,
2012
Change in non-cash working capital items:
Change in trade and other receivables

(14,517,199)

Change in inventories
Change in prepaid expenses and other assets
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Change in non-cash working capital items

September 30,
2011

-

5,985,840
232,661
(111,969)

(347,045)
23,396

(8,410,667)

(323,649)

-

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Generallegal matters
The Company is involved, from time to time, in various legal actions and claims in the ordinary course of business. In
the opinion of management, the aggregate amount of any potential liability is not expected to have a material
adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results.
Mineralproperty commitments
The Company enters into commitments with federal and state agencies and private individuals to lease mineral rights.
These leases are renewable annually and are expected to total $1.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2013.
PirionRidge Mill license bonding
On June 13, 2012, Denver District Court ruled in favor of the Colorado Department of CDPHE and the Company on the
ten substantive environmental, health and safety claims in the case challenging CDPHE's issuance of a radioactive
materials license ("License") for the operation of the proposed Pirion Ridge Mill. The Judge ruled partially in favor of
the Plaintiffs, Sheep Mountain Alliance and the Towns of Telluride and Ophir, Colorado, on one procedural claim,
ordering a time-limited administrative hearing on the issuance of the License. The License has been set aside,
pending the outcome of the hearing. The hearing was conducted on November 7 - 13, 2012 and a new licensing
decision must be issued by CDPHE within 270 days of July 5, 2012.
In 2011, the Company transferred $844,400 in cash to CDPHE for the Long-term Care Fund component and submitted
a surety bond in the amount of $1,373,900 to CDPHE as the first prepayment of the decommissioning warranty
component. To fulfill the terms of the surety bond arrangement with the third-party provider, the Company
deposited $686,950 cash collateral with the provider. As of September 30, 2012 CDPHE had agreed to release the
funds for the $844,400 long-term care fund cash bond with interest and that money was subsequently received on
October 10, 2012. In addition, CDPHE had agreed to release the decommissioning liability. These funds were
released in November 2012. If the radioactive materials license were to be reissued these funds would be
resubmitted to CPDHE.
Three additional prepayments of the decommissioning warranty were to be completed under the terms of the
License. In February 2012, CDPHE approved the Company's request to defer its remaining financial assurance
payments until the next construction season. The timetable for submitting the remaining payments was revised to
September 7, 2012 ($2,898,260), March 7, 2013 ($6,401,920) and September 7, 2013 ($396,810). These payments
are delayed indefinitely pending the outcome of the hearing.
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19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
The Company is committed to payments under various operating leases and purchase agreements. The future
minimum payments are as follows:

As at September 30, 2012
Rent (1)
Office expenses
Consumable materials contracts
Reclamation expenditures

(1)

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Thereafter

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

491,182

527,940

540,371

37,989

31,913

2,918

4,679,065

-

369,383

369,735

-

-

-

-

2,298,611
72,821
4,679,066

-

42,550

1,704,020

761,804

5,250,785

2,263,873

1,305,092

369,383

369,735

24,138,303

26,646,677

24,138,303

33,697,175

Included are the Company's new office lease and the lease for office space occupied by Denison which has
been sublet beginning January 1, 2013.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Fair value hierarchy:
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the balance sheet are classified using a fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The three levels of fair value hierarchy are:
Level 1 - Reflects inputs based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Reflects inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly
or indirectly.
Level 3 - Reflects inputs that are not based on observable market data.
The following table illustrates the classification of the Company's financial instruments carried at fair value within the
fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 2012:

Marketable securities
Convertible debentures

Level 1
1,626,512

Level 2

Level 3
-

22,103,673

$ 23,730,185

-

$

$

Total
1,626,512
22,103,673

$ 23,730,185

(b) Fair values:
As at September 30, 2012, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term deposits,
receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values because of the short-term
nature of these instruments.
(c) Credit risk:
Credit risk relates to cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables and arises from the possibility that
any counterparty to an instrument fails to perform. The Company only transacts with highly-rated counterparties and
a limit on contingent exposure has been established for any counterparty based on that counterparty's credit rating.
The Company's sales are attributable mainly to three multinational utilities. As at September 30, 2012, the Company's
maximum exposure to credit risk was the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and taxes
recoverable.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The aging of trade and other receivables at the reporting date that were not impaired were as follows:
September 30,
2012

September 30,
2011

$

$

Neither past due or impaired
Past due 1-30 days

15,267,846

509,154

15,267,846

509,154

Past due 31-90 days
Past due 91-120 days

(d) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk the Company will not be able to meet the obligations associated with its financial liabilities.
The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure as outlined in Note 12 and 14.
The Company has $44,080,305 of working capital as at September 30, 2012 (2011 - $6,788,823). Accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, current portion of notes payable and current taxes payable are due within the current
operating period. The Company's financial liabilities and other commitments are listed in Notes 11 and 19.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities (undiscounted) outstanding as at September 30,
2012:
< Iyear
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loans and borrowings

2to 5years

1to 2years

$ 15,347,239

$

2,161,166

$

-

2,161,166

$ 17,508,405

S

Thereafter
-

$ 15,347,239

$

$ 44,445,459

24,775,888

$

2,161,166

24,775,888

Total

$

29,098,220

(e) Foreign Currency Risk:
The foreign exchange risk relates to the risk that the value of financial commitments, recognized assets or liabilities
will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency rates. The Company does not use any derivative instruments to
reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
The following table summarizes, in United States dollar equivalents, the Company's major foreign currency exposures
as of September 30, 2012:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total
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$

7,877,164

$

7,877,164
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The table below summarizes a sensitivity analysis for significant unsettled currency risk exposure with respect to the
Company's financial instruments as at September 30, 2012 with all other variables held constant. It shows how net
income would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible at that date.

Strengthening net earnings
Weakening net earnings

Change for
Sensitivity Analysis
+1% change in U.S.
dollar
-1% change in U.S.
dollar

Increase (decrease) in net
income
$77,488
($77,488)

(f) Interest rate risk:
The Company is also exposed to an interest rate risk associated with the convertible debentures which is based on the
spot market price of U308. The Company does not use derivatives to manage interest rate risk. The following chart
displays the interest rate at various U308 price levels.

UxC U308 Weekly Indicator Price

Annual Interest Rate

Upto $54.99

8.50%

$55.00 -$59.99

9.00%

$60.00 -$64.99

9.50%

$65.00-$69.99

10.00%

$70.00 -$74.99

10.50%

$75.00 -$79.99

11.00%

$80.00 -$84.99

11.50%

$85.00-$89.99

12.00%

$90.00 -$94.99

12.50%

$95.00 -$99.99

13.00%

$100 and above

13.50%

(g) Capital management:
The Company's objectives, when managing capital, are to safeguard cash as well as maintain financial liquidity and
flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations and deploy capital to develop its mining
properties into production and to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence to sustain the future
development of the business. The Company considers its capital structure to include share capital and working
capital.
The Company's financial strategy is designed to maintain a flexible capital structure consistent with the objectives
stated above and to respond to business growth opportunities and changes in economic conditions. In order to
maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may, from time to time, issue new shares, issue new debt
(secured, unsecured, convertible and/or other types of debt instruments), acquire or dispose of assets or adjust its
capital spending to manage its ability to continue as a going concern.
As of September 30, 2012, the Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Acquisition of Joint Venture Interests
On October 1, 2012, EFRC and Aldershot Resources Ltd. completed the acquisition, by way of a Purchase Agreement
("Agreement"), of Aldershot's 50% membership interest in Colorado Plateau Partners LLC and Arizona Strip Partners
LLC ("ASP"). Pursuant to the Agreement, Aldershot received $750,000 in cash, cancellation of debt owed by Aldershot
to EFRC of $559,835 including a note receivable of $509,154, and 3,527,570 shares of EFI common stock.
CPP holds a majority of the properties in the Sage Plain Project Area including the Calliham lease, the Crain lease, four
Utah State leases and 94 unpatented mining claims on BLM land. As a result of the acquisition, EFRC now owns 100%
of the Sage Plain Project.
The transaction will be accounted for as an asset purchase and the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment acquired as part of the group of assets acquired will be determined by allocating the price paid for the
group of assets to each item based on its relative fair value at the time of acquisition. As of September 30, 2012 EFRC
had incurred costs of $37,879 related to the transaction and those costs have been capitalized.
22. TRANSITION TO IFRS
Overview
These are the Company's first audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30,
2012 to be presented in accordance with IFRS.
First-time adoption of IFRS
The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1, which provides guidance for an entity's initial adoption of
IFRS. IFRS 1 generally requires retrospective application of IFRS effective at the end of an entity's first annual IFRS
reporting period. However, IFRS 1 also provides for certain optional exemptions and mandatory exemptions to the
retrospective treatment.
The Company has elected to apply the following optional exemptions in its preparation of its opening IFRS
consolidated statement of financial position as at October 1, 2010, the Company's "Transition Date".
*

To apply IFRS 2 Share-based Paymentonly to equity instruments which were issued after November 7, 2002
and had not vested by the Transition Date.

"

To apply IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of InternationalFinancialReportingStandardsto foreign currency
translation reserves. The Company elected to reset all foreign translation gains and losses to zero in
accumulated deficit at October 1, 2010. The foreign currency translation reserve balance at October 1,
2010 was $4,535,925. The application of the exemption had no impact on net equity.

IFRS 1 does not permit changes to estimates that have been made previously. Estimates used in the preparation of
the Company's opening IFRS statement of financial position, and other comparative information restated to comply
with IFRS, are consistent with those made previously under current Canadian GAAP.
Changes to accountingpolicies
The adoption of IFRS resulted in changes to the accounting policies as compared to the most recent annual financial
statements prepared under Canadian GAAP. Accounting policies have been changed to be consistent with IFRS
The following summarizes the significant changes to the Company's accounting policies on adoption of IFRS, and the
effect on the Company's opening IFRS consolidated statement of financial position.
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22. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued)
Changes in accountingpolicies from interimfinancial statements
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter of IFRS to make changes to accounting policies without restatement from its interim
financial statements prior to publishing its first annual financial statements under IFRS. The Company has determined
that it will present its statement of comprehensive income by function of expense; the Company previously published
interim financial statements by nature of expense.
Property,plant and equipment
IFRS requires the Company to choose, for each class of equipment, either the cost model or the revaluation model.
The Company has selected the cost model in accounting for all of its capital assets.
The Company has changed its accounting policy to reflect the requirement under IFRS that when an item of property,
plant and equipment that is comprised of major components with different useful lives, the components are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment and amortized over their respective useful lives.
This change in accounting policy had no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
Upon transition to IFRS, the PiMon Ridge mill site and all intangible costs incurred to obtain the mill license are now
presented in property, plant and equipment in accordance with IAS 16 Property,Plant and Equipment. This resulted in
the reclassification of $11,297,478 and $12,762,815 from exploration and evaluation costs to property, plant and
equipment as at October 1, 2010 and September 30, 2011, respectively.
Impairment of assets
IFRS requires a write down of assets if the recoverable amount is less than its carrying value. The recoverable amount
is defined as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. Value in use is determined using the
discounted estimated future cash flows. Under Canadian GAAP, a write down to estimated fair value was required
only if the undiscounted estimated future cash flows of a group of assets are less than their carrying value.
IFRS also requires the reversal of any previous impairment losses, with the exception of goodwill, where
circumstances have changed such that the level of impairment in the value of the assets has been reduced. Under
Canadian GAAP, the reversal of impairment losses was prohibited.
The Company has changed its accounting policies related to impairment of assets to be consistent with the
requirements under IFRS. This change in accounting policy had no impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.
Share-basedpayments
In certain circumstances, IFRS requires a different measurement of share-based compensation than under Canadian
GAAP. In particular, the Company has changed its accounting policy to recognized forfeitures in its calculation of the
expense associated with the grants of graded stock options.
The effect of applying this change in accounting policy to all stock option grants which had not yet fully vested
resulted in a decrease in contributed surplus of $5,005 and $8,952, along with a corresponding decrease in the deficit
within shareholders' equity as at October 1, 2010 and September 30, 2011, respectively.
Accounting for income taxes
IFRS requires the recognition of deferred taxes on the temporary differences in the accounting and tax basis of nonmonetary assets and liabilities of foreign operations arising from exchange rate fluctuations. Deferred taxes were not
recognized on these types of temporary differences under Canadian GAAP. This change in accounting policy had no
impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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22. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued)
Decommissioning liability
Under Canadian GAAP, the decommissioning liability is discounted based on the credit adjusted risk-free rate. Under
IFRS, the decommissioning liability is discounted based on the current risk-free discount rate. Accordingly, the
Company recorded an adjustment to increase the decommissioning liability by $84,457 as of October 1, 2010 and an
increase of $66,431 as of September 30, 2011.
IFRS 1 provides the option to measure the restoration provision at the Transition Date in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 37. Accordingly the Company re-measured the provisions as at Transition Date under IAS 37,
Provisions, Contingent Liabilitiesand ContingentAssets, and estimated the amount to be included in the cost of the
related asset by discounting the liability to the date which the liability first arose.
Reconciliation of CanadianGAAP to IFRS
The following provides reconciliations of the shareholders' equity and the comprehensive loss from Canadian GAAP to
IFRS for the respective periods. The adoption of IFRS did not have a material impact on the consolidated statement of
cash flows.
Cash Flows
Consistent with the Group's accounting policy choice under IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, interest paid and income
taxes paid have moved into the body of the Statement of Cash Flows, whereas they were previously disclosed as
supplementary information. There are no other material differences between the statement of cash flows presented
under IFRSs and the statement of cash flows presented under previous Canadian GAAP.
In preparing the financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2011 and the disclosures included in these
financial statements, all comparative amounts have been restated to comply with IFRS, except where the Company
has applied the optional and mandatory exemptions under IFRS 1. The Company has reconciled the following
financial statements as prepared under Canadian GAAP to those prepared under IFRS for the following years:
*

Consolidated shareholders' equity as at October 1, 2010 and September 30, 2011.

October 1,
2010

September 30,
2011
Shareholders' equity underCanadian GAAP

$

42,192,648

$

32,623,054

Shareholders' equity under IFRS

$

42,192,648

$

32,623,054

*

Consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30, 2011.

Year Ended
September 30,
2011
$

Comprehensive loss underCanadian GAAP
Change in recognition of share-based payments

(3,571,219)
3,947
(3,567,272)
(1,251,438)

Net loss under IFRS
Foreign currencytranslation reserve
$

Net comprehensive loss under IFRS
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22. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued)
In preparing its opening IFRS statement of financial position, the Company has adjusted amounts reported previously
in financial statements prepared in accordance with previous Canadian GAAP. An explanation of how the transition
from previous Canadian GAAP to IFRSs has affected the Group's financial position, financial performance and cash
flows is set out in the following tables and the notes that accompany the tables.
Effect of transition to IFRS

Reconciliation of consolidated statements of financial position as at October 1, 2010
October 1,
2010
Canadian
GAAP
(C$)

Adjustments
to US dollar
presentation
currency
(Note 2)

October 1,
2010
Canadian
GAAP

IFRS
Adjustments

Changes to
financial
IFRS
statement
Adjustment presentation
References
()

Octoberi,
2010
IFRS

jAs restated)

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$ 3,738,671

$

9,1.879

Prepaid expenses and other assets

4,080,550

(78,690) $
17.1961

3,659,981
334.683

(85,886)

3,994,664

$

$ 3,659,981
914 68
3,994,664

-

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation costs
Restricted cash

490,750

(10,329)

480,421

28,894,305

(608,152)

28,286,153

1,053,703
$ 34,519,308

$

$

$

(22,178)
1,031,525
(726,545) $ 33,792,763

11,297,478
(11,213,021)
$

d

17,073,132
(17,073,132)

b, d

$

84,457

28,851,031
-

1,031,525
$ 33,877,220

LIABILITIES
& SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of decommissioning
liability
Current portion of long-term debt

827,036

(17,408) $

S

809,628

809,628

12,759
15,037

(269)
(316)

12,490
14,721

12,490
14,721

854,832

(17,993)

836,839

836,839

338,918

(7,133)

331,785

1,108

(23)

1,085

1,194,858

(25,149)

1,169,709

Capital stock

57,232,407

(6,800,925)

50,431,482

-

Contributed surplus

14,991,146

(1,786,796)

13,204,350

(5,005)

(38,899,103)

3,350,400

(35,548,703)

4,540,930

4,535,925

4,535,925

(4,535,925)

Non-current
Long-term decommissioning liability
Long-term debt

84,457

b

416,242
1,085

-

1,254,166

84,457

Shareholders' equity

Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income

33,324,450
$ 34,519,308

$

(701,396)
32,623,054
(726,545) $ 33,792,763
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-

$

84,457

50,431,482
a
a, c
c

13,199,345
(31,007,773)
32,623,054
$ 33,877,220

ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

22. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued)
Effect of transition to IFRS

Reconciliation of consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30,2011
September
30, 2011
Canadian
GAAP
(C$)

Adjustments
to US dollar
presentation
currency
(Note 2)

September
30, 2011
Canadian
GAAP

IFRS
Adjustments

IFRS
Adjustment
References

Changes to
financial
statement
presentation
(f)

September
30, 2011
IFRS

(As restated)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$ 7,225,182

$

6,954,646

(270,536) $

708,247

(26,519)

681,728

7,933,429

(297,055)

7,636,374

509,154

509,154

-

Prepaid expenses and otherassets

$ 6,954,646

$
509,154

Trade and other receivables

(509,154)

172,574
7,636,374

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation costs

282,879

(10,592)

272,287

34,235,323

(1,281,889)

32,953,434

(99,739)

2,563,974

2,663,713

Restricted cash

$ 45,115,344

$

$

$

(1,689,275) $ 43,426,069

12,762,815
(12,696,384)

d

20,257,050

b, d

33,292,152

(20,257,050)
2,563,974

$

66,431

$

43,492,500

LIABILITIES
& SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of decommissioning
liability
Current portion of long-term debt

(32,404) $

833,024

8333,024

13,974

(523)

13,451

13,451

1,118

(42)

1,076

1,076

880,520

(32,969)

847,551

847,551

865,428

Non-current
400,880

(15,010)

385,870

66,431

1,281,400

(47,979)

1,233,421

66,431

Capital stock

66,089,168

(6,600,731)

59,488,437

Contributed surplus

20,167,601

(1,627,955)

18,539,646

(42,422,625)

3,302,903

(39,119,922)

4,544,877

a, c

3,284,487

3,284,437

(4,535,925)

c

Long-term decommissioning liability

b

452,301
1,299,852

Shareholders' equity
(8,952)

563,138
(4,721,705)

a

4,158,367

Share purchase warrants
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive Income

-

43,833,944
S 43.115,344

(1,641,296)
42,192,648
S (1.689.275) S 43.426,069
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60,051,575
13,808,989
4,158,567
(34,575,045)
(1,251,438)
42,192,648

$

66,431

S

-

S 43.492.500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 and 2011
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22. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued)
Reconciliation of consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30,
2011
September
30, 2011
Canadian
GAAP
(C$)

Adjustments
to US dollar September 30,
presentation
2011
currency
Canadian
(Note 2)
GAAP

EXPENSES
Depreciation
Foreign exchange gain
General and administrative
Insurance
Interest expense
Professional fees
Salaries and other benefits
Shareholder relations
Stock-based compensation

Finance income
Finance expense
Other income
NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Foreign currency translation reserve
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Effect of transition to IFRS

IFRS
IFRS
Adjustments

Adjustment
References

September 30,
2011
IFRS

(As restated)

$

107,581

1,450

$

378,680

5,103

3,081,885

41,540

$

109,031

$

383,783
3,123,425

(109,031) e
(383,783) e
844,293
-

e

3,967,718

e
e
e
e

729,768
$ (4,297,914) $

9,837
(57,930) $

739,605
(4,355,844) $

11,339

153

11,492

-

-

-

74

5,567

5,493
$ (4,281,082) $

(57,703) $ (4,338,785) $
(1,251,438)

$ (4,281,082) $ (1,309,141)

(1,251,438)
$ (5,590,223) $

(739,605) a, e
388,126
383,387

$ (3,967,718)

e

11,492

e

383,387

- e
771,513

5,567
$

(1,251,438)

-

771,513

(3,567,272)

$

(4,818,710)

a.

The effect of the change to include forfeitures in the determination of the fair value of stock options issued.
Under Canadian GAAP, these adjustments are recognized as they occur.

b.

The effect of the change whereby decommissioning liabilities will be discounted using the current risk-free rate.
This change had no impact to the statement of comprehensive loss, only the statement of financial position was
effected.

c.

The effect of the change to reset all foreign translation gains and losses to nil in accumulated deficit at October
1, 2010.

d.

The effect of the change to reclassify the PiMon Ridge mill asset from exploration and evaluation costs to
property, plant and equipment.

e.

The effect of the change to present expenses recognized in profit or loss using a classification based on their
function.

f.

The effect of the change to reclassify assets from exploration and evaluation costs to property, plant and
equipment and to recognize share purchase warrants separately.
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Bay Adelaide Centre
333 Bay Street Suite 4600
Toronto ON M5H 2S5
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Fax
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(416) 777-8500
(416) 777-8818
www.kpmg.ca

Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Shareholders of Energy Fuels Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Energy Fuels Inc., which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and September
30, 2012, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), shareholders' equity and cash
flows for the fifteen-month period ended December 31, 2013 and year ended September 30, 2012, and
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the ConsolidatedFinancialStatements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG LLP Is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of Independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperafive
("KPMGintemaflonal'),a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Energy Fuels Inc. as at December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2012,
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the fifteen-month period
ended December 31, 2013 and year ended September 30, 2012 in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

,k6'k,6 /4
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
March 26, 2014
Toronto, Canada

ENERGY FUELS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressedin thousandsof U.S. dollars)

December 31, 2013
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities (Note 9)
Trade and other receivables (Note 10)
Inventories (Note 11)
Assets held for sale (Note 12)
Prepaid expenses and other assets

$

Non-current
Inventories (Note 11)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)
Investment InVirginia Energy Resources Inc. (Note 6)
Intangible assets (Note 14)
Restricted cash (Note 15)

6,628
409
653
28,040
4,415
757

September 30, 2012
(Revised, Note 5)

$

13,657
1,627
15,268
28,180
466

40,902

59,198

-

2,688
119,524

100,969
1,012
7,772
25,478

-

13,909
28,525

$

176,133

$

223,844

$

5,442
1,429

$

15,347
1,150

LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Decommissioning liability (Note 15)
Loans and borrowings (Note 16)

Non-current
Decommissioning liability (Note 15)
Loans and borrowings (Note 16)

Shareholders' equity
Capital stock (Note 18)
Contributed surplus (Note 18)
Share purchase warrants (Note 18)
Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

$

172
378

43
724

7,421

17,264

13,627
17,952

15,156
22,765

39,000

55,185

232,089
21,182
4,838
(120,366)
(610)

$

168,659

137,133

$
Additional footnote references
Commitments and contingencies (Note 23)
Subsequent events (Note 12 and 25)
Approved by the Board
(signed) Stephen P. Antony, Director

(signed) Larry Goldberg, Director
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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176,133

178,745
17,906
6,002
(33,041)
(953)

$

223,844

ENERGY FUELS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
15 month
period ended
December 31,
2013

12 month
period ended
September 30,
2012

(Revised, Note 5)
•

REVENUES (Note 22)
COST OF SALES
Production cost of sales

73,248

S

25,028

(56,802)

(21,093)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (Note 22)

(7,710)

(617)

Impairment of inventories (Note 11)

(3,269)

TOTAL COST OF SALES
GROSS PROFIT

(67,781)

(21,710)

5,467

3,318

(5,402)

Care and maintenance expenses (Note 12)

(24,897)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 22)

(11,442)
(1,869)

Finance income (expense) (Note 22)

960

Gain on purchase of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)

-

40,631

(60,257)

(24,022)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 13)

(1,941)

Impairment of Virginia Energy Resources (Note 6)
Other expense (Note 22)
NET PROFIT (LOSS)BEFORE TAXES

(1,255)

(5,082)

(87,325)

1,534

(87,325)

1,534

Income tax expense (Note 21)
NET PROFIT (LOSS)FOR THE PERIOD
TO PROFIT OR LOSS
ITEMS THAT MAY BERECLASSIFIED
Share of other comprehensive loss of Virginia Energy Resources Inc. (Note 6)

(38)

-

298

381

Foreign currency translation adjustment
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)FOR THEPERIOD

$

(86,982)

S

1,832

S

(5.61)

$

0.26

EARNINGS (LOSS)PER COMMON SHARE
BASICAND DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (Note 19)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
(Expressedin thousandsof U.S. dollars)
12 month
period ended
September 30,

15 month
period ended
December 31,

2012

2013

(Revised, Note 5)
Capital stock (Note 18)
Balance, beginning of period

$

178,745

$

60,052
32,559

Shares issued for Titan Uranium, Inc. asset purchase (Note 8)
Shares issued for Denison US Mining merger (Note 5)

80,303
6,549

5,684

Shares and Warrants issued for Private Placement

682

Shares issued for acquisition of joint venture interests (Note 4)

3,947

Shares issued for Investment in Virginia Energy (Note 6)
Shares issued for consulting fees

167
275

Shares Issued for property acquisition

38,634

Shares isssued for Strathmore Minerals Corp. asset purchase (Note 7)
Shares and compensation warrants issued for public offering
Tax recovery from expired share purchase warrants

4,775
266

Share issuance costs

(1,086)

(723)
5

Stock options exercised (Note 20)
Balance, end of period

232,089

178,745

17,906
2,004

13,809

Contributed surplus
Balance, beginning of period
Share purchase warrants expired

(266)

Tax expense from expired share purchase warrants
Share-based compensation

1,538

4,099

21,182

(2)
17,906

Stock options exercised (Note 20)
Balance, end of period
Share purchase warrants
Balance, beginning of period

6,002

Warrants issued in exchange for Titan warrants
Share purchase warrants expired

(2,004)

Warrants issued for private placement (Note 18)

838

4,159
541
1,464

60

Warrants issued for public offering

(162)

(58)

Share issuance costs - private placement
Balance, end of period

4,838

6,002

(33,041)

(34,575)

Deficit
Balance, beginning of period
Net income (loss) for the period
Balance, end of period
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Balance, beginning of period
Share of comprehensive loss of equity-accounted investees
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance, end of period
Total shareholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$

(87,325(

1,534

(120,366(

(33,041)

(953)

(1,251)

(38)
381
(610)

(953)

137,133

298

$

168,659

ENERGY FUELS INC.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressedin thousands of U.S. dollars)
15 month
period ended
December 31,

12 month
period ended
September 30,

2013

2012

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
$

Net income (loss) for the period

(87,325)

$

1,534

Items not involving cash:
16,393

Depletion, depreciation and amortization

2,634
3,642

1,538

Stock-based compensation
Finance income (expense)

(961)
(582)

Unrealized foreign currency translation

1,869
226

1,156

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Gain on purchase of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)

(40,632)
981

Shares issued for Denison US Mining advisory fees (Note 5)

(259)

Adjustment of decommissioning liability
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 13)

60,257

Impairment of investment in Virginia Energy Resources Inc. (Note 6)

1,941

Impairment of inventories (Note 11)

3,269

Other expense (Note 22)
Share of equity-accounted investee (Note 6)
Cash received for services not yet provided

(31)
1,286
278

Change in non-cash working capital (Note 22)

2,890

24,022

189

(8,902)

(42)
645

Expenditures on reclamation of mineral interests
Interest received

183

453

(14,254)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(6,503)

(3,528)

Expenditures on exploration, evaluation and development

(14,615)

(3,550)

Acquisition of Titan Uranium, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of joint venture interests, net of cash acquired

(758)

Expenditures for Investment in Virginia Energy Resources Inc. (Note 6)

(344)

Development expenditures on property, plant and equipment

(486)

552

Cash acquired in the acquisition of Denison Mines US Division (Note 5)

-

Acquisition of Strathmore Minerals Corp., net of cash acquired (Note 7)

1,399

-

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

1,100

324

839

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities
Change in cash deposited with regulatory agencies for decommissioning liabilities, net of interest (Note 15)

4,003

1,010

(14,879)

(5,678)

10,239

7,137

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common shares and warrants, net of share issuance costs

3

-

Stock option exercises

(2,252)

(608)

Repayment of borrowings
Proceeds from issue of convertible debentures

21,551

-

Interest paid on convertible debentures

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE PERIOD

(1,768)

-

7,863

26,439

(6,563)

6,507
195

(466)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held

6,955

13,657

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF PERIOD

$

Non-cash Investing and financing transactions:
Issuance of shares for acquisition of joint venture interests (Note 4)
Issuance of shares for investment in Virginia Energy (Note 6)

S

Issuance of shares and warrants for acquisition of Strathmore Minerals Corp (Note 7)
Issuance of shares and warrants for acquisition ofTitan Uranium Inc. (Note 8)
Issuance of shares and warrants for acquisition of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)
Issuance of secured notes for acquisition of mineral properties
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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6,628

$

682

$

13,657

3,945
37,097

275

33,470
80,303
1,161

ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE 15 MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 12 MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012
(Expressedin thousands of U.S. Dollarsexcept share and per share amounts)

1. REPORTING ENTITY AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Energy Fuels Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta and continued and is now incorporated
in the Province of Ontario. Energy Fuels Inc. registered and head office is located at 2 Toronto Street, Suite 500,
Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5C 2B6 and its principle place of business and the head office of the Company's U.S.
subsidiaries is located at 225 Union Blvd. Suite 600, Lakewood, Colorado, 80228 USA.
Energy Fuels Inc. and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the "Company" or "EFI") are engaged in uranium mining and
related activities, including acquisition, exploration and development of uranium and vanadium bearing properties, and
extraction, processing and selling of uranium and vanadium.
Uranium, the Company's primary product, is produced in the form of uranium oxide concentrates ("U30 8") and sold to
various customers around the world for further processing. Vanadium, a co-product of some of the Company's mines, is
also produced and is in the form of vanadium pentoxide ("'1205"). The Company also processes uranium bearing waste
materials, referred to as "alternate feed materials".
In fiscal 2013, due to current market conditions, the Company placed certain of its mines on standby (see note 12).
The Company and its significant subsidiaries, equity accounted investees, and joint operations, including those
acquired through the acquisition of Denison Mines Holding Corp. and White Canyon Uranium Ltd (as described in Note
5) and inthe acquisition of Strathmore Minerals Corp. (as described in Note 7) are as follows:

Entity
Energy Fuels Inc.
Energy Fuels Wyoming lnc.("EFW")
Energy Fuels Holdings Corp. ("EFHC")
Energy Fuels Resources (USA) Inc.("EFR")
EFR White Mesa LLC ("White Mesa")
EFR Henry Mountains LLC

Function

Location

Corporate

Onta rio
Wyoming
Colorado
Colorado
Utah
Colora do
Utah
Col ora do
Arizona
Nevada
Delaware
Wyoming
British Columbia

Exploration
Corporate
Corporate
Mill
Exploration

EFR White Canyon Corp

Mining

EFR Colorado Plateau LLC

Mining

EFR Arizona Strip LLC
Strathmore Resources (US) Ltd
Roca Honda Resources LLC

Mining
Exploration

Wyoming Gold Mining Company

Exploration
Exploration

Virginia EnergyResources Inc.

Exploration

Functional Dec. 31, Sept. 30,
currency
2013
2012
CAD

100%

100%

USD

100%

100%

USD

100%

100%

USD

100%

100%

USD

100%

100%

USD

100%

100%

USD
USD

100%
100%

100%
100%

USD

100%

100%

USD
USD
USD

100%
60%
100%

0%

USD

17%

0%

0%
0%

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") in United States dollars
("USD"). All numbers are expressed in thousands of USD, except per share amounts. Certain footnote disclosures
have share prices which are reported in Canadian dollars ("Cdn$").
These financial statements have been authorized for issue by the Company's board of directors on March 26, 2014.
Change in fiscal year end
In November 2013, the Company announced the change in its fiscal year end from September 30 to December 31,
effective as of December 31, 2013. Accordingly, for the 2013 fiscal reporting year, the Company is reporting audited
consolidated financial statements for the fifteen month period ending December 31, 2013, with comparative figures for
the twelve month period ended September 30, 2012 and consequently the results shown are not fully comparable. The
reason for this change is to better align the Company's year-end with the year-ends of its major uranium customers,
certain material subsidiaries and industry peers.
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ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE 15 MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 12 MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012
(Expressedin thousandsof U.S. Dollarsexcept share and per share amounts)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Share consolidation
At a special meeting held on October 30, 2013, the Company's shareholders approved a share consolidation, in which
fifty common shares of the Company were exchanged for one new common share. The share consolidation occurred
on November 5, 2013. All share and per share amounts in these consolidated financial statements have been
restated to reflect the share consolidation.
Principlesof consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company together with its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Company.
Business combinations
A business combination is defined as an acquisition of assets and liabilities that constitute a business. A business
consists of inputs, including non-current assets, and processes, including operational processes, that when applied to
those inputs, have the ability to create outputs that provide a return to the Company and its shareholders. A business
also includes those assets and liabilities that do not necessarily have all the inputs and processes required to produce
outputs, but can be integrated with the inputs and processes of the Company to create outputs.
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method whereby identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, including contingent liabilities, are recorded at 100% of their acquisition-date fair values. The
Company measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred plus the recognized amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized
immediately in profit and loss. The acquisition date is the date the Company acquires control over the acquiree. The
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in determining the acquisition date.
Acquisition related costs, other than costs to issue debt or equity securities of the acquirer, including investment
banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, valuation fees and other professional or consulting fees are expensed as
incurred.
Ifthe initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Company reports in its financial statements provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. During the measurement period, the Company will retrospectively adjust the provisional
amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as
of that date. The maximum length of time for the measurement period is one year from the acquisition date.
Interestsin equity-accountedinvestees
The Company's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates. Associates are those entities
in which the Company has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized initially at cost. The cost of an associate is
measured at the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition plus
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
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These financial statements include the Company's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Company, from the
date that significant influence commences until significant influence ceases.
When the Company's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the
investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on
behalf of the investee.
The carrying value of an associate is reviewed on a regular basis and, if impairment in the carrying value has occurred,
it is written down to its recoverable amount in the period in which impairment is identified.
Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the Company and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Company's interest in its associates.
Jointoperations
Joint operations are entities the Company has rights to its proportionate share of the assets and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to an arrangement. These consolidated financial statements include the Company's proportionate
share of the entities' assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses with items of a similar nature on a line-by-line basis,
from the date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases.
Revenue
a.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of mineral concentrates is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Company and delivery has occurred, the sales price and costs incurred with respect to the transaction can be
measured reliably and collectability is reasonably assured. For uranium, revenue is typically recognized when delivery
is evidenced by book transfer at the applicable uranium storage facility. For vanadium related products, revenue is
typically recognized at the time of shipment to the customer.
b.

Rendering of services

Revenue from toll milling services is recognized as material is processed in accordance with the specifics of the
applicable toll milling agreement. Revenue and unbilled accounts receivable are recorded as related costs are
incurred using billing formulas included in the applicable toll milling agreement.
Revenue from alternate feed process milling is recognized as material is processed, in accordance with the specifics of
the applicable processing agreement. Deferred revenues represent processing proceeds received on delivery of
alternate feed materials but in advance of the required processing activity.
Interestincome and expense
Interest income and expense are recognized as they accrue in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Foreigncurrency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Company's
subsidiaries, investments in associates, and joint operations at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated.
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The asset and liabilities of entities whose functional currency is not the US dollar are translated into the US dollar at
exchanges rates of the reporting date. The income and expenses of such entities are translated into the US dollar
using average exchange rates for the reporting period. Ifsettlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable
to an entity whose functional currency is not the US dollar is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable
future, then foreign currency differences arising from such item form part of the net investment in the foreign
operation. Accordingly, such differences are recognized in OCI.
Employee benefits
a. Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount
expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
b.

Share-basedpayment transactions

The Company uses a fair value-based method of accounting for stock options granted to employees, directors, and
non-employees. The fair value of the award is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model on the date
of the grant. For awards with graded vesting, the fair value of each tranche, adjusted for expected forfeitures, is
recognized over its respective vesting period as an increase in stock-based compensation expense and the
contributed surplus account.
When such stock options are exercised, the proceeds received by the Company, together with the respective amount
previously recorded in contributed surplus, are credited to capital stock.
Inventories
Expenditures, including depreciation, depletion and amortization of production assets, incurred in the mining and
processing activities that will result in the future concentrate production are deferred and accumulated as ore in
stockpiles and in-process and concentrate inventories.
Stockpiles are comprised of coarse ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further processing.
Mining production costs are added to the stockpile as incurred along with a pro-rata share of the depletion of the
associated mineral property and removed from the stockpile based upon the average cost per ton of ore produced
from mines considered to be in commercial production. The current portion of ore in stockpiles represents the
amount expected to be processed in the next twelve months. Stockpiles are valued at the lower of their weighted
average cost or net realizable value ("NRV"). NRV is the difference between the estimated future concentrate price
(net of selling costs) and estimated costs to complete production into a saleable form.
In-process and concentrate inventories include the cost of the ore removed from the stockpile as well as production
costs incurred to process the ore into a saleable product, as well as the additions from any product purchased from
the market. Processing costs typically include labor, chemical reagents and directly attributable mill overhead
expenditures. Work in-process and concentrates are carried at the lower of average costs or NRV.
Materials and other supplies held for use in the production of inventories are carried at average cost and are not
written down below that cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or
above cost. However, when a decline in the price of concentrates indicates that the cost of the finished products
exceeds net realizable value, the materials are written down to NRV. In such a circumstance, the cost to replace the
inventory through the market would be the best available measure of NRV.
Property,plant and equipment
a.

Recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are
included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
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that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when it is replaced, and the cost of the replacement
asset is capitalized.
b.

Depreciation,depletion and amortization

Depreciation, depletion and amortization are calculated on a straight line or unit of production basis as appropriate.
Where a straight line methodology is used, the assets are depreciated to their estimated residual value over an
estimated useful life which ranges from three to twenty depending upon the asset type. Where a unit of production
methodology is used, the assets are depreciated to their estimated residual value over the useful life defined by
management's best estimate of recoverable reserves and/or resources in the current mine plan. When assets are
retired or sold, the resulting gains or losses are reflected in current earnings as a component of other income or
expense. The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and
equipment to its significant parts and depreciates separately each such part. Residual values, method of depreciation
and useful lives of the assets are reviewed at least annually and adjusted if appropriate.
Where straight-line depreciation is utilized, the range of useful lives for various asset classes isgenerally as follows:
*
*
*
"
*
"
"

Buildings
Shop tools and equipment
Mining equipment
Mill equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Light trucks & utility vehicles

15 years
3-5 years
5 years
5-20 years
4-5 years
5-7 years
5 years

The amortization method, residual values, and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually
and any change in estimate is applied prospectively.
Exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation activities involve the search for minerals, the determination of technical feasibility and the
assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Exploration and evaluation expenditures include costs
which are directly attributable to researching and analyzing existing exploration data; conducting geological studies,
exploratory drilling and sampling; examining and testing extraction and treatment methods; completing pre-feasibility
and feasibility studies; and costs incurred in acquiring mineral rights.
Exploration and evaluation expenditures are capitalized and are classified as mineral property 'Pre-development and
non-operating' within property, plant and equipment, until the project demonstrates technical feasibility and
commercial viability. Technical feasibility and commercial viability generally coincide with the establishment of
proven and probable reserves; however, they may also occur when the Company makes a decision to proceed with
development or begins production. Upon demonstrating technical feasibility and commercial viability, and subject to
an impairment analysis, capitalized exploration and evaluation costs are transferred to the mineral properties
'operating' balance within property, plant and equipment.
Intangibleassets
Sales contracts acquired in a business combination are recognized initially at fair value at the acquisition date. The
Company's intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is recorded as the Company sells inventory under its long-term sales contracts based on units sold, and
is recognized in selling, general and administration expense of profit and loss.
Financialinstruments
The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities when the Company becomes a party to a contract.
Financial assets and financial liabilities, with the exception of financial assets classified as fair value through profit or
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loss, are measured at fair value plus transaction costs on initial recognition. Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss are measured at fair value on initial recognition and transaction costs are expensed when incurred.
Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the classification of the financial instrument:
a.

Financialassets and liabilitiesatfair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL")

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as FVTPL when acquired principally for the purpose of trading, if so
designated by management (fair value option), or if they are derivative instruments. Financial assets or liabilities
classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes recognized in profit and loss. The Company's financial
instruments classified as FVTPL include convertible debentures (Note 15). The Company does not currently hold any
derivative instruments. Interest expense is recorded using the effective interest method.
b.

Available-for-salefinancial assets

The Company's investments in equity securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to
initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses, and foreign
currency differences on available-for-sale monetary items, are recognized directly in other comprehensive income
(loss). When an investment is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss. The
Company has classified its marketable securities as available for sale.
c.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received, less a
discount (when material) to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment.
Loans and receivables comprise of trade and other receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, term deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are subject insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used
by the Company inthe management of short-term commitments.
d.

Otherfinancial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are financial liabilities that are not classified as FVTPL. Subsequent to initial recognition,
other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Accounts payable,
accrued liabilities, finance leases and notes payable are classified as other financial liabilities.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of an instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability or to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
Capitalstock
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and
share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Treasury shares
When shares recognized as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified
as treasury shares and are presented as a reduction in common shares. When treasury shares are sold or reissued
subsequently, the amount received is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the
transaction is presented within contributed surplus.
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Impairment
a.

Non-derivativefinancial assets

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset (other than a
financial asset classified as fair value through profit and loss) is impaired.
Objective evidence of an impairment loss includes:
"

significant financial difficulty of the obligor;

"

delinquencies in interest or principal payments;

"

increased probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; and

"

in the case of equity securities, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its
cost.

Ifsuch evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss, as follows:

b.

(i)

Financial assets carried at amortized cost: The loss is the difference between the amortized cost of
the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the
instrument's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this
amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an allowance account.

(ii)

Available-for-sale financial assets: The impairment loss is the difference between the original cost of
the asset and its fair value at the measurement date, less any impairment losses previously recognized
in profit and loss. This amount represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) that is reclassified to net income.

Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories)
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated.
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating unit ("CGU").
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata
basis.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
Decommissioningliabilities
The Company's decommissioning liabilities relates to expected mine and mill reclamation and closure activities, as
well as costs associated with reclamation of exploration drilling. Such costs, discounted to their present value, are
provided for and capitalized at the start of each project to the carrying amount of the asset, along with a
corresponding liability as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. The decommissioning liability is accreted
to full value over time through periodic accretion charges recorded to operations as accretion expense. The Company
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periodically adjusts the carrying amounts of the decommissioning liability and the related asset for changes in
estimates of the amount or timing of underlying future cash flows, and discount rates.
The Company's activities are subject to numerous governmental laws and regulations. Estimates of future
reclamation liabilities for asset decommissioning and site restoration are recognized in the period when such
liabilities are incurred. These estimates are updated on a periodic basis and are subject to changing laws, regulatory
requirements, changing technology and other factors which will be recognized when appropriate. Liabilities related
to site restoration include long-term treatment and monitoring costs and incorporate total expected costs net of
recoveries. Expenditures incurred to dismantle facilities, restore and monitor closed resource properties are charged
against the related reclamation and remediation liability.
Income taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income (loss).
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
yea rs.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realized.
Earnings(loss) pershare
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing
the earnings or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is determined by adjusting the
earnings or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the effects of all potential dilutive instruments.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. The Company does not
capitalize borrowing costs related to exploration and evaluation assets. All other borrowing costs are recognized as
finance costs in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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New accounting standardsadopted during the currentyear
The Company has adopted the following new standards, including any consequential amendments to other
standards, with a date of initial application of October 1, 2012.
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011)
IFRS 10 ConsolidatedFinancialStatements ("IFRS 10")
IFRS 11 JointArrangements ("IFRS 11")
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities ("IFRS 12")
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income ("Amendments to IAS 1")

The nature and effects of the changes are explained below.
(i)

IAS 28

Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and
operating policies. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized initially at
cost. The cost of an associate is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
The condensed consolidated interim financial statements include the Company's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those
of the Company, from the date that significant influence commences until significant influence ceases.
When the Company's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the
investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on
behalf of the investee.
The carrying value of an associate is reviewed on a regular basis and, if impairment in the carrying value has occurred,
it is written down to its recoverable amount in the period in which impairment is identified.
Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the Company and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Company's interest in its associates.
(ii)

IFRS 10

As a result of adopting IFRS 10, the Company has changed its accounting policy for determining whether it has control
over and consequently whether it consolidates its investees. IFRS 10 introduces a new control model that focuses on
whether the Company has power over an investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and ability to use its power to affect those returns.
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 10, the Company reassessed the control conclusion for its
investees at October 1, 2012. The reassessment resulted in no changes to its control conclusion for its investees at
October 1, 2012.
(iii)

IFRS 11
As a result of IFRS 11, the Company has changed its accounting policy for its interests in joint arrangements. Under
IFRS 11, the Company has assessed and classified its interests in joint arrangements as either joint operations (if the
Company has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities, relating to an arrangement) or joint ventures (if
the Company has rights only to the net assets of an arrangement). When making this assessment, the Company
considered the structure of the arrangements, the legal form of any separate vehicles, the contractual terms of the
arrangements and other facts and circumstances. Previously, the structure of the arrangement was the sole focus of
classification.
The Company has re-evaluated its involvement in its joint arrangement Colorado Strip Partners LLC ("CPP") and
Arizona Strip Partner LLC ("ASP") and has reclassified the investment from a jointly controlled entity to a joint
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operation. The reclassification did not have any impact on the financial statements for the 12 months ended
September 30, 2012. On October 1, 2012 the Company acquired the remaining balance the remaining 50% interest of
CPP and ASP. See Note 4 for further details.
(iv)

IFRS 12

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 12, the Company has expanded its disclosures about its interests in subsidiaries and
equity-accounted investees.
(v)

Amendments to IAS 1

As a result of the amendments to IAS 1, the Company has modified the presentation of items in other comprehensive
income (loss) in its statement of comprehensive loss, to present separately items that would be reclassified to profit
or loss from those that would never be. Comparative information has been re-presented accordingly.
FutureAccounting Changes
IFRS 9 FinancialInstruments
This standard replaces IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in phases. IFRS 9 (2009) reflects
the IASB's first phase of the project relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under IFRS 9
(2009), financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they were held and the
characteristics of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 (2010) provides guidance on the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and the requirements of lAS 39 for the de-recognition of financial assets and liabilities. IFRS 9
(2013) introduces a new general hedge accounting model which provides guidance on the eligibility of hedging
instruments and hedged items, accounting for the time value component of options, qualifying criteria for applying
hedge accounting, modification and discontinuation of hedging relationships, and required disclosures. In subsequent
phases, the IASB plans to make limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9
and to add new requirements to address macro hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. The IASB
tentatively decided to require an entity to apply IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. We
do not intend to adopt this standard early due to possible further changes in the standard before it becomes final.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement ("IFRS 13"), which is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early application permitted. IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single
standard a framework for measuring fair value, requires disclosures about fair value measurements, and applies when
other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not introduce requirements to measure assets or
liabilities at fair value, nor does it eliminate practicable exception to fair value measurement that currently exist in
certain standards. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the Standard on the consolidated financial
statements.
Amendments to IAS 32, FinancialInstruments: Presentation
Clarifies that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to off-set financial assets and liabilities if that right is:
not contingent on a future event; and enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all counterparties. The amendments to IAS 32 also clarify when a
settlement mechanism provides for net settlement or gross settlement that is equivalent to net settlement. The
effective date for the amendments to IAS 32 is annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The
amendments to IAS 32 are to be applied retrospectively. The Company intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 32 in
its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 2014. The Company is in the process of assessing
the impact of the revised standard.
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IFRIC Interpretation 21, Levies
This interpretation of IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets, is effective January 1, 2014 and
clarifies that a liability for a levy should be recognized when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the
relevant legislation, occurs. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this interpretation on our
consolidated financial statements.
Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported. It also requires management to exercise
judgment in applying the Company's accounting policies. These judgments and estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances taking into account previous experience.
Although the Company regularly reviews the estimates and judgments made that affect these financial statements,
actual results may be materially different.
Significant estimates made by management include:
a.

Reserves and resources

Proven and probable reserves are the economically mineable parts of the Company's measured and indicated mineral
resources demonstrated by at least a preliminary feasibility study. The Company estimates its proven and probable
reserves and measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources based on information compiled by appropriately
qualified persons. The information relating to the geological data on the size, depth and shape of the ore body
requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. The estimation of future cash flows related to proven
and probable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future
capital requirements and production costs along with geological assumptions and judgments made in estimating the
size and grade of the ore body. Changes in the proven and probable reserves or measured, indicated and inferred
mineral resources estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, goodwill, reclamation
and remediation obligations, recognition of deferred tax amounts and depreciation, depletion and amortization.
b.

Depreciation,depletion and amortization of property,plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise a large component of the Company's assets and, as such, the depreciation
and amortization of those assets have a significant effect on the Company's financial statements. Depreciation and
amortization of property, plant and equipment used in production is calculated on a straight line basis or a unit-ofproduction basis as appropriate.
Plant and equipment assets depreciated using a straight-line basis results in the allocation of production costs evenly
over the assets useful life defined as a period of time. Plant and equipment assets depreciated on a units-ofproduction basis results in the allocation of production costs based on current period production in proportion to
total anticipated production from the facility.
Mineral property assets are amortized using a unit-of-production basis that allocates the cost of the asset to
production cost based on the current period's mined ore as a proportion of the total estimated resources in the
related ore body. The process of making these estimates requires significant judgment in evaluating and assessing
available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data, projected rates of production, estimated
commodity price forecasts and the timing of future expenditures, all of which are, by their very nature, subject to
interpretation and uncertainty.
Changes in these estimates may materially impact the carrying value of the Company's property, plant and equipment
and the recorded amount of amortization, depletion and depreciation.
c.

Valuation of long-lived assets

The Company undertakes a review of the carrying values of property, plant and equipment and intangibles whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may exceed their estimated net recoverable
amounts determined by reference to estimated future operating results and discounted net cash flows. An
16

ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE 15 MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 12 MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars except share and per share amounts)

impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable. In undertaking this review,
the management of the Company is required to make significant estimates of, amongst other things, future
production and sale volumes, forecast commodity prices, future operating and capital costs and reclamation costs to
the end of the mine or mill's life. These estimates are subject to various risks and uncertainties, which may ultimately
have an effect on the expected recoverability of the carrying values of plant, property and equipment and intangibles.
d.

Business combinations

Management uses judgment in applying the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations and in
determining fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. The value placed on the acquired assets and
liabilities, including identifiable intangible assets, will have an effect on the amount of goodwill or bargain purchase
gain that the Company may record on an acquisition. Changes in economic conditions, commodity prices and other
factors between the date that an acquisition is announced and when it finally is consummated can have a material
difference on the allocation used to record a preliminary purchase price allocation versus the final purchase price
allocation which can take up to one year after acquisition to complete.
e.

Decommissioning liabilities

Decommissioning liabilities are recorded as a liability when the asset is initially constructed. The Company has
accrued its best estimate of its share of the cost to decommission its mining and milling properties in accordance with
existing laws, contracts and other policies. The estimate of future costs involves a number of estimates relating to
timing, type of costs, mine closure plans, and review of potential methods and technical advancements.
Furthermore, due to uncertainties concerning environmental remediation, the ultimate cost of the Company's
decommissioning liability could differ from amounts provided. The estimate of the Company's obligation is subject to
change due to amendments to applicable laws and regulations and as new information concerning the Company's
operations becomes available. The Company is not able to determine the impact on its financial position, if any, of
environmental laws and regulations that may be enacted in the future.
f.

Determinationof significant influence

Management determines its ability to exercise significant influence over an investment in shares of other companies
by looking at its percentage interest and other qualitative factors including but not limited to its voting rights,
representation on the board of directors, participation in policy-making processes material transactions between the
Company and the associate, interchange of managerial personnel, provision of essential technical information and
operating involvement.
g.

Determination whether an acquisition representsa business combination or asset purchase

Management determines whether an acquisition represent a business combination or asset purchase by considering
the stage of exploration and development of an acquired operation. Consideration is given to whether the acquired
properties include mineral reserves or mineral resources, in addition to the permitting required and results of
economic assessments.
4. ACQUISITION OF COLORADO PLATEAU PARTNERS LLC ("CPP") & ARIZONA STRIP PARTNERS LLC ("ASP")
On September 21, 2012, the Company executed a Purchase Agreement whereby the Company agreed to purchase
from Aldershot Resources Ltd. ("Aldershot") its membership interest in the CPP and ASP, each a 50/50 joint
arrangement between Energy Fuels Resources Corp. ("EFRC") and Aldershot. CPP and ASP are exploration stage
properties in the United States.
The acquisition was completed on October 1, 2012. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Aldershot received $750 in
cash, cancellation of amounts receivable owed by Aldershot to EFRC of $557 (including a note receivable of $509) and
70,551 shares of EFI common stock valued at Cdn$9.50 per share. The total purchase price was $2,042 including $53
of transaction costs. The transaction was accounted for as an asset purchase due to the stage of the exploration
properties. Accordingly, the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment acquired as part of the Company of
assets acquired was determined by allocating the price paid for the Company of assets to each item based on its
relative fair value at the time of acquisition.
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The aggregate fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were as follows on the acquisition date:
Cash
70,551 common shares of EFI
Cancellation of amounts receivable
Transaction costs incurred
Purchase consideration
The purchase price was allocated as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Property, plant and equipment (1)
Restricted cash
Decommissioning liability

$

$

$

750
682
557
53
2,042

4S
1,997
54
(54)
2,042

(1) The properties include the Calliham Lease, the Crain Lease, four Utah State Leases, and 94 unpatented mining
claims, all of which are located in Utah. As a result of the acquisition, the Company owns 100% of the Sage Plain
Project.
5. ACQUISITION OF DENISON MINES HOLDINGS CORP. AND WHITE CANYON URANIUM LTD.
On May 23, 2012, the Company and Denison Mines Corp. ("Denison") entered into an Arrangement Agreement (the
"Arrangement") whereby EFI would acquire from Denison (the "Acquisition") (i) all of the issued and outstanding
shares of Denison Mines Holdings Corp. ("DMHC") (ii) all of the issued and outstanding shares of White Canyon
Uranium Ltd. ("White Canyon"), and (iii) all indebtedness of DMHC, White Canyon and their direct and indirect
subsidiaries (collectively, the "Denison US Mining Division") owing to Denison and any affiliates of Denison (other
than members of the Denison US Mining Division). The Terms of the Arrangement required EFI to distribute
8,508,817 common shares to Denison shareholders on a pro-rata basis such that Denison shareholders would receive
approximately 0.02032 common shares of EFI for each common share of Denison owned.
The shareholders of EFI and the shareholders of Denison approved the Arrangement at their respective Special
Meetings held on June 25, 2012. The Arrangement was approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange on June 7, 2012 and
was approved by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice on June 27, 2012. The Acquisition was completed on June 29,
2012.
The transaction was accounted for as a business combination with the Company identified as the acquirer, owing to
the fact that post-transaction, Denison was given the right to nominate only two on a board of ten directors, has a
majority of senior management posts, and has overall control of the day-to-day activities of the combined entities. In
accordance with IFRS, the accounting for this acquisition was initially done on a preliminary basis. Subsequent to the
preliminary accounting for the acquisition in June 2013 as a result of information not available at the acquisition date,
the Company made certain adjustments to the allocation of the purchase price, taking into account new and relevant
information available including a valuation report from a third-party consultant received before the end of the
measurement period. The adjustments made subsequent to the preliminary purchase allocation include an
adjustment to decrease the acquisition date estimated fair value of plant, property and equipment by $16,109 and an
adjustment to decrease decommissioning liabilities by $526. The adjustments recorded resulted in a decrease in gain
on bargain purchase of $15,583 from the preliminary purchase allocation and the balance sheet was revised
accordingly.
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A summary of the final allocation of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed together with the
adjustments made during the preliminary purchase price allocation as disclosed in the Company's consolidated
financial statements for the 12 months ended September 30, 2012 is as follows:

Preliminary
Purchase price
Issuance of 8,508,817 common shares of EFI
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Restricted cash (1)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Decommissioning liabilities

Adjustments

Revised

$

79,322 $

$

79,322

$

552 $
241
31,530
303
84,941
15,851
24,965
(7,802)
(1,150)
(13,895)
135,536
(56,214)

$

552
241
31,530
303
68,832
15,851
24,965
(7,802)
(1,150)
(13,369)
119,953
(40,631)

$

79,322

Gain on bargain purchase (2)

$

79,322 $

(16,109)

-

526
15,583
-

(1) Cash, cash equivalents and fixed income securities posted as collateral for various bonds with state and
federal regulatory agencies for estimated reclamation costs associated with the decommissioning liability of
the White Mesa mill, and plant, property and equipment.
(2) The Acquisition of DMHC and White Canyon resulted in a gain on bargain purchase as a result of the excess
of the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired as of the acquisition date, over the fair value
of the issuance of 8,508,817 EFI common shares at Cdn$9.50, for a total purchase price of $79,322.
Under IFRS 3, the fair value consideration was based on the Cdn$9.50 common share price of the EFI
common shares issued on June 29, 2012 (the date of Acquisition) and not the Cdn$13.00 common share
price of the EFI common shares on May 23, 2012, the date when the Arrangement with Denison was
announced. The decline in share price of EFI common shares in the intervening period without any
adjustment to the number of common shares issued contributed to the bargain purchase gain.
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As a result of the measurement period adjustments, the comparative information presented in the consolidated
financial statements for the 12 months ended September 30, 2012 has been revised as follows:
As at
September 30, 2012
As originally reported

Inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Decommissioning liability
Deficit

Revised

$

33,273

$

30,868

$
$
$

133,085

$

119,524

(15,724) $
17,602

(15,199)

$

33,041

For the year ended
September 30, 2012
As orginially reported

Net profit for the period

$
$
$

Comprehensive incomefor the period

$

Production cost of sales
Gain on bargain purchase

Revised

(21,855) $

(21,711)

56,215

$

40,632

16,973

$

1,534

17,271

$

1,832

Proforma information
Pro forma results of operations have been prepared as if the Denison US Mining division acquisition had occurred at
October 1, 2011. The pro forma consolidated financial statement information is not intended to be indicative of the
results that would actually have occurred, or the results expected in future periods, had the events reflected herein
occurred on the dates indicated. Any potential synergies that may be realized and integration costs that may be incurred
have been excluded from the pro forma financial statement information.
For the 12 months ended September 30, 2012, pro forma consolidated revenue and net income is $94,294 and $2,961,
respectively. The pro forma net income is net of a total of $2,535 of acquisition costs incurred in connection with the
acquisition which included 87,478 of common shares of the Company issued for advisory fees
6. INVESTMENT IN VIRGINIA ENERGY RESOURCES INC.
On January 28, 2013, pursuant to a private placement, the Company acquired 9,439,857 common shares of Virginia
Energy Resources Inc. ("Virginia Energy") at a price of Cdn$0.42 per common share. The 9,439,857 common shares
acquired by the Company represented 16.5% of Virginia Energy's common shares outstanding. Consideration paid by
the Company for this investment consisted of $248 in cash and 437,028 common shares of the Company issued on a
private placement basis for an aggregate consideration of $4,156. The Company issued 5,405 common shares in
partial satisfaction of financial advisory services provided in connection with its investment in Virginia Energy.
Virginia Energy is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange and owns 100% of the advanced-stage Coles Hill Project located
in south central Virginia, USA.
Pursuant to the subscription agreement with Virginia Energy, for so long as the Energy Fuels owns at least 9.9% of the
outstanding shares of Virginia Energy, the Company has the right to participate in equity financings by Virginia Energy
in order to maintain its percentage ownership. In addition, the Company has the right to nominate one director for
election or appointment to the Board of Directors of Virginia Energy as long as it holds at least 5% of the issued and
outstanding common shares, increasing to 9.9% after 2 years. The provisions of the subscription arrangement allows
EFI to appoint a director to the Board of Virginia Energy and gives rights to participate in the operating and financial
decisions of Virginia Energy. Management has assessed these rights as significant influence over Virginia Energy and
consequently the Company has accounted for its investment in Virginia Energy using equity accounting.
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The following table summarized the financial information of Virginia Energy as included in its financial statements
adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition. The table also reconciles the summarized financial information to
the carrying amount of Energy Fuels interest in Virginia Energy.
December 31,
2013 (a)
100.0%

Percentage ownership interest
Cu rre nt a s sets

$

4,806

Non-current assets

24,112

Total assets

28,918

Current liabilities

421

Non-current liabilities

4,038

Total liabilities

4,459

Net assets (100%)

24,459

Energy Fuels's share of netassets (16.5%)

4,036

Impact of fairvaluation of the Company's interest on acquisition

(1,083)

Impairment (b)

(1,941)

Carrying amount of interestin associate

$

1,012

Netloss forthe nine months ended Sep 30, 2013 (100%)

$

7,796

Energy Fuels's share of net loss (16.5%)

$

1,286

Other comprehensive loss forthe nine months ended Sep 30, 2013 (100%)

$

230

Energy Fuels's share of other comprehensive loss (16.5%)

$

38

(a) Virginia Energy generally releases its financial statements after Energy Fuels releases its financial
statements. Accordingly, the Company records its share of Virginia Energy's comprehensive income or loss
using information available from the previous quarter. The Company has recorded a loss of $1,286 in other
income (expense) and $38 in other comprehensive income (loss) for its share of comprehensive income or
loss of Virginia Energy for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.
(b) During the 15 months ended December 31, 2013, it was determined that the carrying amount of the
Company's investment in Virginia Energy exceeded the recoverable amount of the investment. The
recoverable amount was based on an estimate of the investment's fair value less costs of disposal. Fair
value was derived from the price of Virginia Energy's shares (VUI.V) at the close of the TSX Venture
Exchange on December 31, 2013 less selling costs of $57. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $1,941.
7. ACQUISITION OF STRATHMORE MINERALS CORP.

On June 11, 2013 the Company and Strathmore entered into an agreement whereby EFI agreed to acquire, by way of a
Plan of Arrangement (the "Arrangement"), all of the outstanding common shares of Strathmore. Strathmore's primary
U.S. mineral properties are the Gas Hills project in Wyoming and a 60% stake in Roca Honda in New Mexico.
The shareholders of EFI and the shareholders of Strathmore approved the Arrangement at their respective Special
Meetings held on August 13, 2013 and August 20, 2013 respectively. Subsequent to receiving approval from the
Toronto Stock Exchange and the Supreme Court of British Columbia, the acquisition was completed August 30, 2013.
Pursuant to the Arrangement, Strathmore shareholders received 0.0294 EFI common shares for each common share
of Strathmore. Under the terms of the Arrangement, all Strathmore options vested fully upon change in control and
were replaced with options of EFI based on the exchange ratio.
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The cost of acquisition included the fair value of the issuance of the following instruments: 3,665,395 Energy Fuels
common shares at Cdn$10.50 ($9.95) per share aggregating to $36,470, plus 63,024 EFI common shares at Cdn$10.50
(S9.95) per share aggregating to $627 for replacement of Strathmore's restricted share units.
Transaction costs totaled $1,362 including the issuance of 55,095 EFI common shares valued at $548 in satisfaction of
the advisory fee, bringing the total purchase price to $38,459. The value of the Energy Fuels shares issued was
calculated using the share price of the Company's shares on the date the acquisition closed.
The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition and not a business combination under IFRS 3 due to the
stage of its mineral property projects. The cost of each item of property, plant and equipment acquired was
determined by allocating the price paid for the Company of assets to each item based on its relative fair value at the
time of acquisition.
The aggregate fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were as follows on the acquisition date:

$
Issuance of 3,665,395 common shares for replacement of Strathmore common shares
Issuance of 63,024 common shares for replacement of Strathmore restricted share units
Transaction costs
Purchase consideration

36,470
627
1,362
38,459

The purchase price was allocated as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and otherassets
Property, plant and equipment
Restricted cash
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current decommissioning liability
Net identifiable assets

2,213
245
413
37
35,671
902
(917)
(105)
38,459

8. ACQUISITION OF TITAN URANIUM INC.

On December 5, 2011, the Company and Titan Uranium Inc. ("Titan") entered into an agreement whereby EFI agreed
to acquire, by way of a Plan of Arrangement ("Arrangement"), all of the outstanding common shares of Titan. Titan's
primary U.S. mineral property is the Sheep Mountain Project located about 8 miles south of Jeffrey City, Wyoming.
The shareholders of EFI and the shareholders of Titan approved the Arrangement at their respective Special Meetings
held on February 10, 2012 and February 14, 2012. The Arrangement has been approved by the Toronto Stock
Exchange and was approved by the Supreme Court of British Columbia on February 21, 2012. The acquisition was
completed on February 29, 2012.
Pursuant to the Arrangement, Titan shareholders received 0.68 of an EFI common share for each common share of
Titan. Under the terms of the Arrangement, all outstanding warrants of Titan became exercisable for common shares
in EFI. The number of shares received upon exercise and the exercise price of Titan's outstanding share purchase
warrants were adjusted proportionately to reflect the share exchange ratio. Under the terms of the Arrangement, all
Titan options expired on the business day preceding the transaction close date.
The cost of acquisition included the fair value of the issuance of the following instruments: 1,781,280 Energy Fuels
common shares at C$18.00 per share aggregating to C$32,063 ($32,499), plus 298,538 share purchase warrants of
Energy Fuels, with an average exercise price of C$31.50 per share and a fair value of $541.
Acquisition costs totaled $1,214 including the issuance of 25,130 EFI common shares to an associate of a shareholder,
valued at $431 in satisfaction of the advisory fee, bringing the total purchase price to $34,254. The value of the
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Energy Fuels shares issued was calculated using the share price of the Company's shares on the date the acquisition
closed.
The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the
fair value of the warrants of Titan assumed as part of the acquisition:
Risk-free
Expected
Expected
Expected

rate
life
volatility
dividend yield

0.92% - 0.94%
0.76 - 1.43 years
74%- 106%
0.0%

The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition and the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
acquired as part of the group of assets acquired was determined by allocating the price paid for the group of assets to
each item based on its relative fair value at the time of acquisition. Expected volatility is measured based on the
Company's historical share price volatility over the expected life of the options.
The aggregate fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were as follows on the acquisition date:

$
1,781,280 common shares of EFI
Fairvalue of warrants assumed (Note 18)
Transaction costs incurred
Purchase consideration

32,499
541
1,214
34,254

The purchase price was allocated as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Treasuryshares (Note 18)
Prepaid expenses and otherassets
Property, plant and equipment (1)
Restricted cash
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Due to related parties
Decommissioning liability
Net identifiable assets

299
3,446
370
221
34,366
2,007
(3,025)
(1,103)
(1,026)
(1,301)
34,254

$

(1) The two properties included as part of property, plant and equipment are the Sheep Mountain property in
Wyoming and the Green River property located in the San Rafael district of Utah.
9. MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale, are stated at their fair values, and consist of the following:
December,

September 30,

2013

2012

$

$

Mega Uranium Ltd.
2,877,000 common shares (September 30, 2012 - 10,000,000)

243

1,627

Bayswater Uranium Corporation(l) (Note 7)
2,759,807 common shares (September 30, 2012 - nil)
Other(l) (Note 7)

157

-

9

-

409
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(1) Acquired in the transaction with Strathmore at an aggregate fair value of $245.
The Company has classified its investments in Mega Uranium Ltd. ("Mega") and Bayswater Uranium Corporation
("Bayswater") as available-for-sale investments. During the 15 months ended December 31, 2013 the Company sold
7,123,000 shares of Mega for gross proceeds of $849, and recorded a loss of $539 in profit and loss.
The investment in Mega and Bayswater are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy outlined in IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosuresas their fair value has been determined based on a quoted price in an active market.
10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31,
2013

Trade receivables - mineral concentrate sales
Other receivables
Notes receivable (1)

(1)

September 30,
2012

-

12,807

653

1,906

-

555

653

15,268

The September 30, 2012 amount of $555 included a $509 promissory note receivable from Aldershot, which
held a 50% interest in the CPP joint venture with EFRC until the promissory note was canceled on October 1,
2012 as a result of EFRC's acquisition of Aldershot's 50% joint venture interest in CPP (Note 4).

11. INVENTORIES

Concentrates and work-in-progress (1)
Inventoryof ore and alternate feed in stockpiles
Raw materials and consumables

December 31,
2013

September 30,
2012

$

$
19,754

11,376

4,618

15,290

3,668
28,040

4,202
30,868

28,040

28,180

Inventories - byduration
Current
Long-term -ore in stockpiles

(1)

-

2,688

28,040

30,868

During the15 months ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $3,269 on a
write down of inventories to net realizable value in profit and loss.

As at December 31, 2013, $4,618 of inventories are carried at fair value less costs of disposal (September 30, 2012 Nil). The current portion of inventory of ore in stockpiles represents ore that is currently expected to be processed
within the next twelve months.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
equipment
Cost
Balance at September 30, 2011

Operating

14,277

Acquisition of Titan Uranium (Note 8)
Acquisition of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)
Additions
Disposals

Balance at September 30, 2012

$

Acquisition of Strathmore Minerals Corp (Note 7)
Disposals for the period

20,257

34,534

-

34,323

34,366

64,634

176

4,015

68,825

2,180

2,112

5,395

9,687

80,618

-

$

2,288

(516)

-

S

$

63,990

$

146,896

3,174

3,057

13,297

19,528

965

-

34,706

35,671

(1,502)

-

Reclassification to operating (2)
Reclassification to care and maintenance (1)
(2,071)

Reclassified to assets held forsale (4)

(5,179)

(3,169)

3,169

(28)

93

-

(1,502)

-

5,179

Revision of decommissioning liability

Total

43

(516)

Acquisition of Colorado Plateau Partners LLC&
Arizona Strip Partners LLC(Note 4)
Additions

Balance at December31, 2013

Mineral Properties
Care and
Pre-development
maintenance and non-operating

-

-

334

(1,672)

(4,415)

-

$

81,184

$

7,327

$

3,262

$

$

1,242

$

-

$

-

$

104,730

(4,415)
$

196,503

$

1,242

Depreciation, depletion, disposals and Impairment
Balance at September 30, 2011
Depreciation forthe period

2,414

-

-

37

Depletion forthe period
Disposals for the period

-

2,414

-

37

(343)

Impairment (Note 13)

-

-

(343)

-

12,028

-

11,994

24,022

Balance at September30, 2012

15,341

37

11,994

27,372

Depreciation forthe period

8,460

-

8,460

Depletion for the period

622

-

Disposals for the period

(1,177)

Reclassification to care and maintenance (1)

(1,177)

-

(232)

36,298
$

622

-

-

Impairment (Note 13)(3)
Balance at December31, 2013

-

232

4,173

2,730

58,922

$

4,600

$

17,056

2,962

$

29,050

60,257
$

95,534

Carrying amounts
At September 30, 2012

$

65,277

$

2,251

$

-

$

51,996

$

119,524

At December 31, 2013

$

22,262

$

2,727

$

300

$

75,680

$

100,969

(1)

The Beaver, Pandora, and Daneros mines were placed on care and maintenance in the 15 months ended
December 31, 2013 as a result of current market conditions. Costs associated with the care and
maintenance for mines are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and depletion is no longer
recorded. For the 15 months ended December 31, 2013, the costs expensed in profit and loss were $5,402.

(2)

The Pinenut mine achieved commercial production in July 2013.

(3)

During the 15 months ended December 31, 2013, the Company tested its property, plant and equipment for
impairment (excluding any assets acquired pursuant to the acquisition of Strathmore) and recognized an
impairment loss of $60,257. A summary of the impairment charge by asset is provided in Note 13.

(4)

During the 15 months ended December 31, 2013 the Company identified some non-core assets and
reclassified them to assets held for sale.
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Pre-development and non-operatingproperties
The Company enters into exploration agreements from time to time whereby it may earn an interest in certain
mineral properties by issuing common shares, making cash option payments and/or incurring expenditures in varying
amounts by specified dates.
The following is a summary of the carrying value of pre-development non-operating property expenses shown by area
of interest:

December 31,
2013

September 30,
2012

Colorado Plateau

2,282

11,010

Henry Mountains

1,170

3,567

Arizona Strip

3,002

2,737

Wyoming (1)

43,372

34,682

New Mexico (2)

25,854

Total

75,680

51,996

(1) Includes the Gas Hills, Juniper Ridge and Copper King mineral interests from the acquisition of
Strathmore as well as the Company's Sheep Mountain project.
(2)

Includes the Roca Honda, Marquez, Nose Rock, Dalton Pass and Sky mineral interests from the
acquisition of Strathmore.

13. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Impairmentfor the 15 months ended December 31,2013
The Company considers both quantitative and qualitative factors to assess impairment.
In the 15 months ended December 31, 2013, the Company identified the recent and the continued decline of uranium
prices and the Company's expectation to place certain of its mineral properties on care and maintenance as indicators
of impairment.
For the purpose of performing impairment analysis, the Company grouped its plant and equipment at its White Mesa
Mill together with its mines located in the Colorado Plateau, Henry Mountains and Arizona strip geographic regions as
a single cash generating unit ("CGU") (collectively referred as "WMM CGU"). The Company also assessed impairment
of its properties in Wyoming and New Mexico on a standalone basis.
Based on the impairment analysis, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $60,257, in the quarter ended
September 30, 2013, with respect to the WMM CGU. No impairment was recorded with respect to the Company's
mineral properties in the Wyoming and New Mexico area. The Company determined there were no additional
indications of impairment at December 31, 2013.
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The following table summarizes the impairment charges for property, plant and equipment related to the WMM CGU
by area of interest for the 15 month period ending December 31, 2013:

As at December 31, 2013
Preimpairment

Impairment
loss

Postimpairment

PI a nt and equipment

58,560

(36,298)

22,262

Total plantand equipment

58,560

(36,298)

22,262

Arizona Strip

6,900

(4,173)

2,727

Total operating

6,900

(4,173)

2,727

2,136

(1,836)

300

894

(894)

3,030

(2,730)

300

Colorado Plateau

11,936

(9,654)

2,282

Henry Mountains

5,013

(3,843)

1,170

Arizona Strip

6,561

(3,559)

3,002

Mineral Properties
Operating

Care and maintenance
Colorado Plateau
Daneros
Total care and maintenance

-

Pre-development and non-operating

Wyoming

43,372

43,372

New Mexico

25,854

25,854

Total pre-development and non-operating
Tota l

92,736

(17,056)

75,680

161,226

(60,257)

100,969

Key Assumptions
The recoverable amount in the impairment analysis was based on the fair value less costs of disposal using discounted
cash flow projections. Key assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable amounts include discount rates,
uranium prices, future timing of production volume including the date when a mineral property can be brought into
production and the expected cost to produce uranium and future operating costs.
The Company's estimate of future uranium sales prices were based on the uranium prices prepared by industry
analysts. For the purpose of the impairment analysis, management estimated a uranium price of $ 38.00/lb. for the
period up to December 31, 2014; a price range of $42.00/lb. to $55.00/lb. for the period 2015 to 2018 and $62.00/lb.
to $75.00/lb. for the period 2019 to 2024. The Company used a pre-tax discount rate of 12.5% based on the
Company's estimated weighted-average cost of capital for discounting the cash flow projections.
Impairment charges recognized against property, plant and equipment may be reversed if there are changes in the
assumptions or estimates used in determining the recoverable amounts of the WMM CGU which indicate that a
previously recognized impairment loss may no longer exist or may have decreased.
Sensitivity analysis
As at December 31, 2013, a 5% increase or decrease in the future uranium prices would result in a change in the
recoverable amount by approximately $13.6 million, and a 1% increase or decrease in the discount rate would result
in an approximately $4.6 million change in the recoverable amount based on current life of mine plans models.
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Significant changes in uranium price would cause the Company to review its mine plans accordingly (See Note 25 for
discussion change in industry price forecast).
Impairmentfor the 12 months ended September 30, 2012
Due to the acquisition of DMHC (Note 5) which resulted in the Company acquiring the White Mesa Mill, a fully
operational uranium mill, the Company assessed the recoverable amount of Piiion Ridge Mill site for which the
Company is incurring costs to obtain the mill permit. The Company estimated that the recoverable amount of Pirion
Ridge Mill site based on fair value less cost to sell, considering comparable sales price per acre for nearby land. Based
on the assessment, the carrying value of the Piton Ridge mill was determined to be $12.0 million higher than its
recoverable amount, and an impairment loss was recognized in profit and loss for the 12 months ended September
30, 2012.
During the 12 months ended September 30, 2012, as a result of the drop in the U308 spot price through September
30, 2012, the Company's decisions to place the Beaver and Daneros mines on stand-by status and the fact that the
Company has not budgeted any material investment in its exploration and evaluation assets, the Company tested its
exploration and evaluation assets (excluding any assets acquired pursuant to the acquisitions of Titan, DMHC and
White Canyon) for impairment and recognized an impairment loss of $11,994.
The following table summarizes the impairment charges for to the property, plant and equipment related to the by
area of interest for the 12 month period ending September 30, 2012:
As at September 30, 2012
Preimpairment

Impairment
loss

Post i mpairment

Plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment

53,062

(12,028)

41,035

53,062

(12,028)

41,035

Colorado Plateau

24,626

(11,994)

12,632

Henry Mountains

14,450

-

14,450

Total plantand equipment
Pre-development and non-operating

Daneros

8,922

8,922

Arizona Strip

7,803

7,803

Wyoming
Total pre-developmentand non-operating
Total
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-

34,682

90,483

(11,994)

78,489

143,545

(24,022)

119,524

ENERGY FUELS INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE 15 MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 12 MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollarsexcept share and pershare amounts)

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Sales
contracts
Cost
Balance at September 30, 2012
Balance at December 31, 2013
Amortization
Balance at September 30, 2012
Amortization forthe period
Balance at December3l, 2013
Carrying amounts
At September 30, 2012
At December 31, 2013

$
$

15,851
15,851

$

$

1,942
6,137
8,079

$
$

13,909
7,772

15. DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITIES AND RESTRICTED CASH
The following table summarizes the Company's decommissioning liabilities:
December 31,

September 30,

2013

2012

$
Reclamation obligations, beginning of period

$
15,199

Revision of estimate (1)

(1,933)

Liabilityfrom acquisition of Titan Uranium, Inc.

466
(45)
1,301

Liabilityfrom acquisition of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)

-

13,369

54

-

105

-

Accretion

416

108

Reclamation work

(42)

-

13,799

15,199

Liabilityfrom acquisition of Colorado Plateau Partners LLC&
Arizona Strip Partners LLC(Note 4)
Liabilityfrom acquisition of Strathmore Minerals Corp (Note 7)

Reclamation obligations, end of period
Site restoration liability by location:
Exploration drill holes

172

43

White Mesa Mill

8,206

9,944

Colorado Plateau

2,053

1,679

Henry Mountains

441

417

Dane ros
Arizona Strip
Sheep Mountain

78

74

1,550

1,712

1,299
13,799

1,330
15,199

Site restoration liability:
Current
Non-current
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13,627
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(1)

Revision of estimates is as a result of a change in the risk-free discount rates used to calculate
decommissioning liabilities.

The decommissioning and reclamation of the White Mesa mill and U.S. mines are subject to legal and regulatory
requirements. Estimates of the costs of reclamation are reviewed periodically by the applicable regulatory
authorities. The above accrual represents the Company's best estimate of the present value of future reclamation
costs, discounted using risk-free interest rates ranging from 0.14% to 3.83% based on US Treasury rates of varying
lengths ranging from I to 30 years. The total undiscounted decommissioning liability as at December 31, 2013 is
$27,963 (September 30, 2012 - $26,647). Reclamation costs are expected to be incurred between 2014 and 2040.
Restricted cash, which is held by or for the benefit of regulatory agencies to settle these future obligations, are
comprised of the following:
December 31,
2013
Restricted cash, beginning of year
Restricted cash from acquisition of Titan (Note 8)
Restricted cash from acquisition of Denison US Mining Division (Note 5)
Restricted cash from acquisition of Colorado Plateau Partners LLC &
Arizona Strip Partners LLC (Note 4)
Restricted cash from acquisition of Strathmore Minerals Corp (Note 7)
Refunds and returns for the year
Restricted cash, end of period

September 30,
2012

28,525
-

54
902
(4,003)
2S,478

2,563
2,007
24,965

(1,010)
28,525

Mill and mine reclamation
The Company has cash, cash equivalents and fixed income securities as collateral for various bonds posted in favour
of the State of Utah, the applicable state regulatory agencies in Colorado and Arizona and the U.S. Bureau of Land
Management for estimated reclamation costs associated with the White Mesa mill and mining properties. Cash
equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. The restricted
cash will be released when the Company has reclaimed a mineral property. During the 15 months ended December
31, 2013, the Company had a net refunds and returns of $4,003 from its collateral account (September 30, 2012 ($1,010) primarily as a result of the restructuring of the Company's surety arrangements and the reduction of bonding
requirements at some of the Company's projects.
16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS
The contractual terms of the Company's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured at amortized
cost, and the Company's convertible debentures which are measured at fair value, are as follows.
December 31,
2013

September 30,
2012

$

$

Current portion of loans and borrowings:
Convertible debentures (1)
Secured note (2)
Finance leases and other

354
250
128

250
120

378

724

17,478
203
271
17,952

21,750
602
413
22,765

Long-term loans and borrowings:
Convertible debentures (1)
Secured note (2)
Finance leases and other
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Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:
December 31,
2013

Currency

Nominal
interest
rate

Convertible debentures (1)
Secured note (2)

USD
USD

8.5%

Finance leases and other

USD

7%

Yearof
maturity

Carrying
Face value amount

Septembe r 30,
2012

Face value

Ca rryi ng
amount

2017
2016

20,684
500

17,478
453

22,365
1,126

22,104
852

2013-2017

566
21,750

399
18,330

566
24,057

533
23,489

-

(1) On July 24, 2012 the Company completed a bought deal public offering of 22,000 floating-rate convertible
unsecured subordinated debentures maturing June 30, 2017 (the "Debentures"). The Debentures were
issued at a price of Cdn$1,000 per Debenture for gross proceeds of $21,551 (the "Offering"). The
Debentures are convertible into common shares at the option of the holder at a conversion price of
Cdn$15.00 per common share. Interest is paid in cash and in addition, unless an event of default has
occurred and is continuing, the Company may elect, from time to time, subject to applicable regulatory
approval, to satisfy its obligation to pay interest on the Debentures, on the date it is payable under the
indenture (i) in cash; (ii)by delivering sufficient common shares to the debenture trustee, for sale, to satisfy
the interest obligations in accordance with the indenture in which event holders of the Debentures will be
entitled to receive a cash payment equal to the proceeds of the sale of such common shares; or (iii) any
combination of (i)and (ii).
The Debentures will accrue interest, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each
year at a fluctuating rate, of not less than 8.5% and not more than 13.5%, indexed to the simple average
spot price of uranium as reported on the Ux Weekly Indicator Price. Interest can be paid in cash or issuance
of the Company's common shares. The Debentures may be redeemed in whole or part, at par plus accrued
interest and unpaid interest by the Company between June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2017 subject to certain
terms and conditions, provided the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares of the
Company on the TSX during the 20 consecutive trading days ending five days preceding the date on which
the notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price.
Upon redemption or at maturity, the Company will repay the indebtedness represented by the Debentures
by paying to the debenture trustee in Canadian dollars an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount
of the outstanding Debentures which are to be redeemed or which have matured, as applicable, together
with accrued and unpaid interest thereon.
Subject to any required regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is
continuing, the Company has the option to satisfy its obligation to repay the Cdn$1.00 principal amount of
the Debentures, in whole or in part, due at redemption or maturity, upon at least 40 days' and not more
than 60 days' prior notice, by delivering that number of common shares obtained by dividing the Cdn$1,000
principal amount of the Debentures maturing or to be redeemed as applicable, by 95% of the volumeweighted average trading price of the common shares on the TSX during the 20 consecutive trading days
ending five trading days preceding the date fixed for redemption or the maturity date, as the case may be.
The debentures are classified as FVTPL where the debentures are measured at fair value based on the
closing price on the TSX and changes are recognized in profit and loss. For the 15 months ended December
31, 2013 the Company recorded a gain on revaluation of convertible debentures of $2,744 (September 30,
2013 - $601).
(2) On October 12, 2011 the Company issued a secured note in the amount of $1,126 for the assignment of a
mineral lease with an effective interest rate of 7%. To date the Company has paid $625 in accordance with
the terms of the agreement. The remaining balance of the note is repayable on the following schedule:
October 13, 2014 ($250), and October 13, 2015 ($250). This note is secured by the lease. The current
portion of this note is $250.
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Key managementpersonnel compensation
Key management includes the Company's Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Chief Operating
Officer (COO), General Counsel and Secretary, Senior Vice President Marketing and Sales, and the directors. In
addition to their salaries or directors fees, executive officers and directors also participate in the Company's stock
option plan (see Note 20).
Key management personnel compensation is comprised of the following:

15 months ended 12 months ended
December 31,
September 30,
2013
2012
Salaries and short-term employee benefits

$

2,316

Share-based payments

$

1,107

923
$

3,239

2,983

$

4,090

18. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
Authorized capitalstock
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value, unlimited Preferred
Shares issuable in series, and unlimited Series A Preferred Shares. The Series A Preferred shares are non-redeemable,
non-callable, non-voting and with no right to dividends. The Preferred Shares issuable in series will have the rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions assigned to the particular series upon the Board of Directors approving their
issuance.
Issued capitalstock
The issued and outstanding capital stock consists of Common Shares as follows:
December 31,2013
Shares
Balance, beginning of period
Shares issued foracquisition of joint venture interests (Note 4)
Shares issued forTitan Uranium Inc. asset purchase (a)

September 30, 2012

13,572,121

Amo untS
178,74S

70,551

682

-

-

-

1,781,280
25,130

32,498
431

8,508,817

79,322

Shares issued forTitan Uranium Inc. advisoryfees (b)
Shares issued for Denison US Mining merger (Note 5)
Shares issued for Denison US Mining advisory fees
Shares and warrants issued for private placement (c)
Shares issued forVirginia Energyshares (Note 6)
Shares issued forVirginia Energyadvisory fees (Note 6)

Shares issued Strathmore Minerals Corp. advisoryfees (g)
Shares issued to employees ofStrathmore in consideration of
termination liability (h)
Shares and compensation warrants issued for publicoffering (i)

981

710,010

6,549

39

-

-

-

333

5

947,616

5,684

21,000

167

31,407

275

3,728,419

37,097

55,095

548

107,645

989

625,000

4,775
266

Tax recoveryfrom expired share purchase warrants
Adjustment due to rounding for share consolidation

87,478
3,908

-

Shares issued Strathmore Minerals Corp. asset purchase (Note 7) (f)

60,052

5,405

Treasuryshares (d)
Shares issued for investor relations
Shares issued for property acquisitions

Amount

2,479,993

437,028

Stock options exercised
Shares and warrants issued for private placement (e)

Shares

(20,920)

(370)

(36)

Share issuance costs

(1.086)

Balance. end of period

19.601.251
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a)

On February 29, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of Titan Uranium Inc. in exchange of 1,781,208
EFI's common shares at Cdn$18.00 per share aggregating to $32,498. The acquisition was accounted for as an
asset purchase.

b)

Pursuant to the acquisition of Titan Uranium Inc., the Company issued 25,130 EFI common shares valued at
$431 in satisfaction of the advisory fee. The value of the EFI shares issued was calculated using the share price
of the Company's shares on the date the acquisition closed.

c)

On June 21, 2012, the Company completed an equity private placement of 710,110 non-transferable
subscription receipts at a price of Cdn$11.50 per subscription receipt for gross total proceeds of $8,013. Each
subscription receipt was exchangeable into one unit of the Company upon completion of the Acquisition of the
Denison US Mining Division. Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one warrant. Each
whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share at a price of Cdn$13.50 until June
22, 2015. The fair value of the 355,005 full warrants that were issued on the completion of the private
placement totaled $1,464 and this value was recorded in share purchase warrants, a separate component of
shareholders' equity.

d)

As a result of the Company's acquisition of Titan Uranium Inc., the Company acquired ownership of 20,920
shares of EFI common stock. Such shares are treated as treasury shares at December 31, 2013 and are shown
as a reduction of equity.

e)

On June 13, 2013, the Company completed an equity private placement of 947,616 non-transferable
subscription receipts at a price of Cdn$7.00 ($6.75) per subscription receipt for gross total proceeds of $6,522.
Each subscription receipt was exchangeable into one unit of the Company. Each unit consisted of one common
share and one-half of one warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common
share at a price of Cdn$9.50 until June 15, 2015. Also included in the consideration are compensation warrants
where each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of Cdn$9.00 until June
15, 2015. The fair value of the 473,808 full warrants and the 50,594 compensation warrants that were issued
on the completion of the private placement totaled $838 and this value was recorded in share purchase
warrants, a separate component of shareholders' equity.

f)

On August 29, 2013 the Company completed the acquisition of Strathmore in exchange for 3,665,395 Energy Fuels
common shares at Cdn$10.50 ($10.00) per share aggregating to $36,470, plus 63,024 EFI common shares at
Cdn$10.50 (510.00) per share aggregating to $627 for replacement of Strathmore's restricted share units which
had fully vested upon acquisition by EFI.

g)

Pursuant to the acquisition of Strathmore, the Company issued 55,095 EFI common shares valued at $548 in
satisfaction of the advisory fee. The value of the Energy Fuels shares issued was calculated using the share price
of the Company's shares on the date the acquisition closed.

h)

On September 11, 2013 the Company issued 107,645 shares valued at $989 to former employees of Strathmore in
consideration for termination liabilities of certain employees. The value of the Energy Fuels shares issued was
calculated using the share price of the Company's shares on the date the shares were issued. These costs were
expensed in the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

i)

On October 16, 2013 the Company completed an offering of 625,000 shares at a price of Cdn$8.00 ($7.73) for
total gross proceeds of $4,833. Also included in the consideration are 30,963 compensation warrants where each
whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of Cdn$8.00 until October 16, 2016.
The fair value of the 30,963 compensation warrants that were issued on the completion of the offering totaled
$58.
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Contributed surplus
December 31,
2013
Balance, beginning of period
Share purchase warrants expired
Tax expense from expired share purchase warrants
Share-based compensation
Stock options exercised
Balance, end of period

September 30,
2012

17,906
2,004
(266)

13,809

1,538

4,099

21,182

(2)
17,906

-

Share Purchase Warrants

Month Issued
March 2011
June 2012
June 2013
June 2013
October 2013

Expiry Date

Exercise Price
Cdn$

Warrants
Issued

Ma rch 31, 2015
June 22, 2015

32.50

230,000

13.25

355,005

June 15, 2015
June 15, 2015
October 16, 2015

9.50
9.00
8.00

473,808
50,594
30,963

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
Cdn$
Balance, beginning of period
Warrants issued in exchange for Titan Uranium Inc. warrants
Warrants issued in connection with private placement
Expiration of agent warrants issued in connection with public offering
Expriation of warrants issued in exchange for Titan Uranium Inc. warrants
Warrants issued in connection with private placement
Warrants issued in connection with the public offering
Balance, end of period

Balance, beginning of period

Number of warrants
December31,
2013

24.50
32.50
13.25
25.00
32.50
9.45
8.00
15.24

915,743
-

(32,200)
(298,538)
524,402
30,963

September 30,

2013

2012

$

$
4,159
541
1,464
(541)

-

(1,464)

Warrants issued in connection with private placement (3)

838

Warrants issued in connection with the public offering (4)

60

Share issuance costs

(57)
4,838

34

-

915,743

December 31,

Warrants issued in connection with pubiic offering (2)

Balance, end of period

-

1,140,370

Warrants issued in exchange for Titan Uranium Inc. warrants (1)

Expiration of warrants issued in connection with public offering (2)

262,200
298,538
355,005

-

6,002

Expriation of warrants issued in exchange for Titan Uranium Inc. warrants (1)

September 30,
2012

-

(162)
6,002
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(1) The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $541 of fair value for the 298,538 Titan warrants assumed as part of the acquisition of Titan:
Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

0.92% - 0.94%
0.76- 1.43 years
74% - 106%*
0.0%

(2) The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $1,464 of fair value for the 355,005 warrants issued in connection with the June 2012 private placement:
Risk-free
Expected
Expected
Expected

rate
life
volatility
dividend yield

1.22%
3.0 years
82%*
0.0%

(3) The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $838 of fair value for the 542,402 warrants issued in connection with the June 2013 private placement.
Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

1.016%
2.0 years
94%*
0.0%

(4) The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate
the $60 of fair value for the 30,963 warrants issued in connection with the October 2013 public offering:
Risk-free
Expected
Expected
Expected
*

rate
life
volatility
dividend yield

1.186%
2.0 years
93%*
0.0%

Expected volatility is measured based on the Company's historical share price volatility over the expected
life of the warrants.

19. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE
15 months ended
December 31,
2013
Earnings (loss) attributable to shareholders

Basic and diluted weighted average numberof common shares outstanding
Earnings (loss) per common share

12 months ended
September 30,
2012

($87,325)

$1,534

15,557,980
($5.61)

5,898,176
$0.26

Basic earnings (loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share at December 31, 2013 was based on the net income (loss) attributable to
common shareholders of $(87,325) (September 30, 2012 - $1,534), and a weighted average number of common
shares outstanding of 15,557,980 (September 30, 2012 - 5,898,176).
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Weighted average number of common shares (basic)
The following is a reconciliation of weighted average shares outstanding for the 15 months ended December 31, 2013
and the 12 months ended September 30, 2012:

Issued common shares at beginning of period
Effect of treasuryshares held
Effect of share options exercised
Effect of shares issued related to Denison US Mining merger
Effect of shares issued in asset acquisitions
Effect of shares issued in a private placements
Effect of shares issued in a public offerings
Effect of shares issued to settle obligations
Weighted average shares outstanding

15 months ended
December 31, 2013
13,572,121

12 months ended
September 30, 2012

1,101,711
744,151
104,167
35,830

1,059,100
180,907

2,479,993
(12,266)
153
2,190,289

15,557,980

5,898,176

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share after adjustment for the effects of all potential dilutive common shares,
calculated as follows:

15 months ended
December 31,
2013

12 months ended
September 30,
2012
($87,325)
$1,534
15,557,980
5,898,176
($5.61)
$0.26

Earnings (loss) attributable to shareholders
Basic and diluted weighted average numberof common shares outstanding
Earnines (loss) oer common share

At December 31, 2013, 1,935,688 options and warrants (September 30, 2012 - 1,520,098) and the potential
conversion of the uranium debentures have been excluded from the calculation as their effect would have been antidilutive.
The average market value of the Company's shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was
based on quoted market prices for the period during which the options were outstanding.
20. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock options
The fair value of stock options granted during the 15 months ended December 31, 2013 and the 12 months ended
September 30, 2012 is as follows:

Share option plan expense11

12 months ended
September 30, 2012

$

$
1,269

Replacement of Strathmore options(2 )
Value of stock options granted
(1)

15 months ended
December 31, 2013

4,099

269
1,538

4,099

The Company has established a stock option plan whereby the Board of Directors may grant options to
employees, directors and consultants to purchase common shares of the Company. The maximum number of
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authorized but unissued shares available to be granted under the plan shall not exceed 10% of its issued and
outstanding common shares. The exercise price of the options is set at the Company's closing share price on
the day before the grant date.
For the 15 months ended December 31, 2013, the Company granted 496,121 stock options (September 30,
2012 - 502,920) to its employees, directors, consultants and former employees of Strathmore, recording stockbased compensation expense of $1,538 including $312 capitalized as a cost of the Strathmore transaction
(September 30, 2012 - $3,636, net of $457 capitalized).
The fair value of stock options granted to employees, directors and consultants was estimated on the dates of
the grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions used for the grants
made during the year:
Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
(2)

1.18% - 1.84%
1.2 - 5.0 years
60% - 95%*
0.0%

The fair value of stock options granted to former employees, directors and consultants of Strathmore was
estimated on the dates of the grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions used for the grants made during the year:
Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
*

1.06% - 2.40%
0.2 - 9.2 years
51% - 104%*
0.0%

Expected volatility is measured based on the Company's historical share price volatility over the expected
life of the stock options.

The summary of the Company's stock options at December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2012, and the changes for
the fiscal years ending on those dates is presented below:
15 months ended
December 31, 2013
Weighted
Range of
Average
Exercise Prices Exercise Price
Cdn$
Cdn$
Balance, beginning of period 8.00- 112.50
16.56
Transactions during the period:
Granted
7.60- 44.22
14.79
Exe rci se d
Forfeited
7.60-44.22
19.45
Expi red
13.95 - 112.50
24.50
Balance, end of period
7.60-44.22
14.27

12 months ended
September 30, 2012

Numberof
Options
620,756
496,121
-

(180,323)
(141,236)
795,318

Range of
Exe rci se
Prices
Cdn$
0.16-2.25

Weighted
Ave rage
Exercise Price
Cdn$
29.52

11.50 - 43.00
10.00
10.00 - 112.50
22.50
8.00 - 112.50

13.32
10.00
19.69
22.50
16.63

The weighted average price on option exercised in the 12 months ended September 30, 2012 was $10.00.
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The following table reflects the actual stock options issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013:
Options outstanding

Options Exercisable

Quantity
215,915

Weighted average
remaining
contractual life
4.80

Quantity
215,915

Weighted average
remaining
contractual life
4.80

$10.00 to $19.99

506,190

3.21

506,190

3.21

$20.00 to $29.99
$30.00 to $39.99

44,618
13,819

1.93
1.95

44,618
13,819

1.93
1.95

14,776

1.70

14,776

1.70

Exercise price
(Cdn$)
$0.00 to $9.99

$40.00 to $49.99

795,318

795,318

21. INCOME TAXES
A reconciliation of income tax expense (recovery) and the product of accounting income before income tax,
multiplied by the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate for the 15 months ended
December 31, 2013 and the 12 months ended September 30, 2012 is as follows:

15 months ended
12 months ended
December 31, 2013 September 30, 2012
Income (loss) before income taxes
Combined federal and provincial rate

$

Expected income tax expense (recovery)

(87,325) $
26.50%

16,973
26.88%

(23,141)

Stock based compensation
Non-taxable items
Non-deductible items

4,562

317
(59)
58

Foreign tax rate differences
Change in unrecognized temporary differences
Income tax expense (recovery)

979
(15,220)

(9,147)
31,972
$

-

2,972
6,707

$

-

The significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

Deferred tax asset:
Other
Net operating losses
Deferred income tax asset

$
$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangibles
Convertible debentures
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories and short-term investments
Deferred tax liabilities:

$

Deferred tax assets - net

$

December 31,

September 30,

2013

2012
3,772
3,772

$
$
$

(2,924)
(848)
-
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(9,307)
-
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The aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized, as of December 31, 2013 is $3,100 (September 30, 2012, $55,773).
Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences:
December 31,

September 30,
2012

2013
Loss Carryforwards
Mineral properties and deferred costs
Reclamation and remediation obligations

168,392
67,926

Inventories, Investments & Other
Property, plant and equipment
$

$

164,173
28,959

13,016

15,724

3,740
5,321

6,405

258,395

-

$

215,261

At December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2012 the Company did not recognize the benefit related to the deferred tax
assets for the above related items in the financial statements as management did not consider it probable that the
Company will be able to realize the deferred tax assets in the future.
The following table summarizes the Company's non-capital losses and net operating losses that can be applied against
future taxable profit.
Country
Canada
United States

Type
Non-capital losses $
Net operating losses

Amount
36,178

Expiry Date
2014-2033

143,187

2026 - 2033

22. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The components of revenues are as follows:
15 months ended
December 31,
2013
Uranium concentrates

$

Vanadium concentrates
Alternate feed materials processing and other
Revenues

$

63,732
9,194
322
73,248

12 months ended
September 30,
2012

$

24,939

$

89
25,028

The Company has three major customers to which its sales for the year were as follows: $26,935; $10,409; $26,389;
(2012-$6,949; $5,183; nil).
The Company's revenues by country of customer for the current year were as follows: $46,313 - U.S.; $26,935 - South
Korea (2012 - $18,079 - U.S.; $6,949 - South Korea).
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The components of selling, general and administrative expenses are as follows:

15 months ended
December 31,
2013
Intangible assetamortization

$

6,137

Selling expenses

12 months ended
September 30,
2012

$

1,943

1,252
2,418

Starthmore termination payments
General and administrative

130

15,090

Selling, general and administrative expenses

$

24,897

9,369

$

11,442

The components of finance income (expense) are as follows:

$

Accretion expense
Change in value of marketable securities
Foreign exchange
Change in value of convertible debentures
Interest expense
Interest income
Finance income (expense)

15 months ended
December 31,

12 months ended
September 30,

2013

2012
(416) $
(539)
497
2,744

$

(1,971)
645
960

(108)
(1,787)
(295)
601

$

(463)
183
(1,869)

A summary of depreciation, depletion and amortization expense recognized in the consolidated financial statements
is as follows:
15 months ended
December 31,
2013

$

Recognized in production cost of sa les
Recognized i n care and maintence expenses
Recognized in selling, general and administrative
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

$

7,710
2,544
6,139
16,393

12 months ended
September 30,
2012

$

617

$

2,017
2,634

A summary of employee benefits expense recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
15 months ended
December 31,
2013

12 months ended
September 30,
2012

Recognized in property, plant and equipment and inventories
Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Share-based compensation

22,462

Recognized in selling, general and administration
Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Share-based compensation
Employee benefits expenses
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6,248
457
6,705

5,654

2,596

1,201
6,855

3,642
6,238

29,317

12,943
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The change in non-cash working capital items in the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:
15 months ended
December 31,
2013
Change in non-cash working capital items:
Change in trade and other receivables

$

Change in inventories
Change in prepaid expenses and other assets
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Change in non-cash working capital items

14,471

12 months ended
September 30,
2012

$

5,988

(9,819)
(285)

$

(15,520)
742

(1,477)
2,890 $

(112)
(8,902)

A summary of other income (expense) recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

$

Transaction costs

15 months ended

12 months ended

December 31,
2013

September 30,
2012

$

(4,893)

31
(1,255) $

(189)
(5,082)

-

(1,286)

Share of equity-accounted investees (Note 6)
Other
Other Income (expense)

$

The Company's loss from operations included the following expenses presented by function:
15 months ended
December 31,
2013
Cost of sales
General and administrative

12 months ended
September 30,
2012

$

133,440
24,897

$

45,732
11,442

$

158,337

$

57,174

Cost of sales for the 15 month period ended December 31, 2013 includes impairment charges of $60,257 related to its
US operating and non-operating properties (12 month period ended September 30, 2012 - $24,022 related to the
impairment of the Piiion Ridge mill and exploration properties).
23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Generallegalmatters
The Company is involved, from time to time, in various legal actions and claims in the ordinary course of business. In
the opinion of management, the aggregate amount of any potential liability is not expected to have a material
adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results.
One of the Company's subsidiaries, Energy Fuels Resources (USA) Inc. ("EFRI"), entered into a fixed price construction
contract with KGL Associates, Inc. ("KGL") in 2009 relating to the construction of tailings cell 4B at the Company's
White Mesa Mill. The performance by KGL of its obligations under this contract was under dispute. In the dispute: (a)
EFRI sought approximately $3.25 million in damages from KGL, including project completion costs as well as
indemnity and reimbursement from KGL for monies paid by EFRI to KGL subcontractors or suppliers unpaid when KGL
abandoned the project; (b) KGL sought payment of approximately $1.65 million for alleged project labor and/or
equipment inefficiencies allegedly caused by EFRI and foregone profits and to enforce its lien against the Mill
property; and (c) both parties sought pre-judgment interest, attorney fees and costs. The parties agreed to settle this
matter in binding arbitration. Under the Arrangement Agreement dated May 23, 2012 between the Company and
Denison Mines Corp., which was entered into in connection with the acquisition by the Company of the Denison US
Mining Division in June 2012, Denison agreed to fully indemnify the Company in connection with this litigation and
will receive any proceeds from arbitration. On January 10, 2014 the arbitrator issued his decision, awarding damages
in favor of Denison. This matter is now concluded.
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On November 26, 2012, the Company was served with a Plaintiff's Original Petition and Jury Demand claiming an
unspecified amount of damages from the disease and injuries resulting from mesothelioma from exposure to
asbestos, which the Plaintiff claims was contributed to by being exposed to asbestos products and dust from asbestos
products while working at the White Mesa Mill. The Plaintiff has also named a number of manufacturers of asbestos
and asbestos-related products in the law suit. The Company does not consider this claim to have any merit and
therefore does not believe it will material affect the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
On January 28, 2013, the Company filed a Special Appearance to Challenge Personal Jurisdiction, Motion to Transfer
Venue, Motion to Dismiss for Forum Non Conveniens and Original Answer Subject Thereto.
On March 7, 2013, the Center for Biological Diversity, the Grand Canyon Trust, the Sierra Club and the Havasupai
Tribe (the "Plaintiffs") filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Arizona (the "District Court")
against the Forest Supervisor for the Kaibab National Forest and the U.S. Forest Service ("USFS", collectively, the
"Defendants") seeking an order declaring that the USFS failed to comply with environmental, mining, public land, and
historic preservation laws in relation to the Company's Canyon mine, and setting aside and vacating any approvals
and authorizations regarding exploration and mining operations at the Canyon mine. In addition, the Plaintiffs seek
injunctive relief directing operations to cease at the mine and enjoining the USFS from authorizing or allowing any
further exploration or mining-related activities at the Canyon mine until the USFS fully complies with all applicable
laws. In April 2013, the Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction to enjoin the Defendants from allowing
construction and/or mining activities to occur at the Canyon mine and suspending all USFS approvals. This motion
was denied by the District Court on September 9, 2013. In October 2013 Plaintiffs appealed the District Court's Order
to the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals (the "Court of Appeals"), and filed two Emergency Motions for an Injunction
Pending Appeal. In November 2013, the Company decided to place shaft sinking operations on standby at the Canyon
Mine, due to market conditions, and to simplify and lessen the expense of the litigation at the mine. At the same
time, the Company entered into a stipulation agreement with Plaintiffs under which the Company agreed to keep
shaft sinking operations on standby until the earlier of the date the District Court issues a final appealable order on
the merits of Plaintiffs' claims, or December 31, 2014. In return, Plaintiffs agreed to stay their appeal of the District
Court's denial of their Motion for Preliminary Injunction in the Court of Appeals, and the emergency motions related
thereto. As a result of this stipulation agreement, the Court of Appeals stayed Plaintiffs' appeal and emergency
motions. Proceedings on the merits of the case are ongoing. Ifthe Plaintiffs are successful on the merits, the
Company may be required to maintain activities at the mine on standby for longer than otherwise planned, pending
resolution of the matter. Such a required prolonged stoppage of mine development and mining activities could have
a significant impact on the Company.
Mineral property commitments
The Company enters into commitments with federal and state agencies and private individuals to lease mineral rights.
These leases are renewable annually and are expected to total $1.2 million for the 15 months ended December 31,
2014.
The following table reflects the operating commitments on an undiscounted basis as of December 31, 2013:

As at December 31,
Rent
Office expenses

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Thereafter

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$
1,203

297

304

311

40

31

15

-

-

-

25,326

27,963

326

291

25,326

33,377

Consumable materials contracts

4,125

-

Reclamation expenditures

1,876

761

6,338

1,096
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Fairvalue hierarchy:
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the balance sheet are classified using a fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The three levels of fair value hierarchy are:
Level 1 - Reflects inputs based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Reflects inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly
or indirectly.
Level 3 - Reflects inputs that are not based on observable market data.
The following table illustrates the classification of the Company's financial instruments carried at fair value within the
fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2013:
Level 1
409
17,478

Marketable securities
Convertible debentures

$

17,887

Level 2

Level 3

Total
409
17,478

$

$

-

$

17,887

(b) Fair values:
As at December 31, 2013, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term deposits,
receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values because of the short-term
nature of these instruments.
(c) Credit risk:
Credit risk relates to cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables and arises from the possibility that
any counterparty to an instrument fails to perform. The Company only transacts with highly-rated counterparties and
a limit on contingent exposure has been established for any counterparty based on that counterparty's credit rating.
The Company's sales are attributable mainly to three multinational utilities. As at December 31, 2013, the Company's
maximum exposure to credit risk was the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and taxes
recoverable.
The aging of trade and other receivables at the reporting date that were not impaired were as follows:
December 31,
2013
Neither past due or impaired
Past due 1-30 days
Past due 31-90 days
Past due 91-120 days

September 30,
2012

593
38

15,268
-

20
2

-

653

15,268

(d) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk the Company will not be able to meet the obligations associated with its financial liabilities.
The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure as outlined in Note 17 and 19.
The Company has $33,481 of working capital as at December 31, 2013 (September 30, 2012 - $41,934). Accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, current portion of notes payable and current taxes payable are due within the current
operating year. The Company's financial liabilities and other commitments are listed in Notes 15 and 20.
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The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities (undiscounted) outstanding as at December 31,
2013:
< Iyear
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loans and borrowings

$
$
$

Ito 2years

2to 5years

5,441
2,150

$

-

$

7,591

$

Thereafter

2,033

$
$

23,652

2,033

$

23,652

-

$
$
$

Total

$

5,441
27,835

$

33,276

(e) Foreign Currency Risk:
The foreign exchange risk relates to the risk that the value of financial commitments, recognized assets or liabilities
will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency rates. The Company does not use any derivative instruments to
reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
The following table summarizes, in United States dollar equivalents, the Company's major foreign currency (Cdn$)
exposures as of December 31, 2013:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

5,490

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(907)

Loans and borrowings

(17,478)

Total

$

(12,895)

The table below summarizes a sensitivity analysis for significant unsettled currency risk exposure with respect to the
Company's financial instruments as at December 31, 2013 with all other variables held constant. It shows how net
income would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible at that date.

Strengthening net earnings
Weakening net earnings

Change for
Sensitivity Analysis
+1% change in U.S.

Increase (decrease) in other
comprehensive income

dollar
-1% change in U.S.
dollar

$254
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(f) Interest rate risk:
The Company is also exposed to an interest rate risk associated with the convertible debentures which is based on the
spot market price of U30 8. The Company does not use derivatives to manage interest rate risk. The following chart
displays the interest rate at various U308 price levels.
UxC U308 Weekly Indicator Price

Annual Interest Rate

Up to $54.99

8.50%

$55.00-$59.99

9.00%

$60.00 -$64.99

9.50%

$65.00 -$69.99

10.00%

$70.00--$74.99

10.50%

$75.00-$79.99

11.00%

$80.00-$84.99

11.50%

$85.00-$89.99
$90.00-$94.99
$95.00-$99.99

12.00%
12.50%
13.00%

$100 and above

13.50%

(g) Capital management:
The Company's objectives, when managing capital, are to safeguard cash as well as maintain financial liquidity and
flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations and deploy capital to develop its mining
properties into production and to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence to sustain the future
development of the business. The Company considers its capital structure to include share capital and working
capital.
December 31, September30,

Working Capital
Shareholders' equity

2013

2012

$

$

33,481

41,934

137,133

168,659

The Company's financial strategy is designed to maintain a flexible capital structure consistent with the objectives
stated above and to respond to business growth opportunities and changes in economic conditions. In order to
maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may, from time to time, issue new shares, issue new debt
(secured, unsecured, convertible and/or other types of debt instruments), acquire or dispose of assets or adjust its
capital spending to manage its ability to continue as a going concern.
As of December 31, 2013, the Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Issuance of stock options
On January 23, 2014 the Company granted 307,250 stock options to its employees, directors and consultants at a
price of $Cdn9.05 ($8.28). These options carry a five year life and are vested as follows: 50% immediately; 25% on
January 23, 2015; 25% on January 23, 2016.
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Restructuringof regulatorybondingportfolio
On March 3, 2014, the Company completed the replacement of its $28,167 regulatory bonding portfolio, utilizing
three different qualified sureties. As a result of replacing the bonds, the Company released $12,336 of previously
restricted cash. Prior bonding arrangements, covering all of the Company's mines and mills, required the Company to
post 100% cash collateral to back the currently outstanding $27,963 undiscounted decommissioning liability.
Update of industryprice forecast
The Company utilizes various industry forecasts to assist in its valuation of long-lived assets. Subsequent to year end,
one such forecast was issued that predicts lower future uranium prices than the expected future uranium prices used
by the Company for its assessment of valuation of long-lived assets for the year ended December 31, 2013. Uranium
pricing is one of many assumptions used by the Company in assessing the recoverable amount of long-lived
assets. Any changes to assumptions subsequent to December 31, 2013 will be utilized on a prospective basis within
any future impairment analyses.
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UNITED STATES
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20555.0001

August 28, 2014
Mr. Michael P. Thomas
Vice President Regulatory Affairs
Uranerz Energy Corporation
P.O. Box 50850
1701 East E Street
Casper WY 82605-0850
SUBJECT:

URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION, NICHOLS RANCH ISR PROJECT,
SOURCE MATERIALS LICENSE SUA-1597 -APPROVAL OF ANNUAL
FINANCIAL ASSURANCE UPDATE (TAC NO. J00718)

Dear Mr. Thomas:
The U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) received the annual financial assurance
update for the Uranerz Energy Corporation (Uranerz or licensee) Nichols Ranch in situ recovery
(ISR) Project dated December 9, 2013. The report was made publicly available in the NRC's
Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS) on January 14, 2014, and
can be found at ML13353A634. Uranerz submitted a revision to the financial assurance update
on January 31, 2014, which can be found at ML14041A337.
Uranerz seeks to maintain the financial assurance amount for the Nichols Ranch ISR Project of
$6,800,000, which is higher than Uranerz's estimate of $6,235,956 to decommission the site.
The costs in the current financial assurance include restoration and decommissioning of
wellfield 1, including 8 header houses, as well as costs including, but not limited to,
decommissioning the Nichols Ranch ISR Project processing plant, wellfield plugging and
restoration, and disposal of I le.(2) byproduct material. The NRC staff evaluated the contents
of the financial assurance estimate according to Appendix A to Part 40 of Title 10 of the Code of
Federal Regulations (10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A) and NUREG-1 569, "Standard Review Plan
for In Situ Leach Uranium Extraction License Applications". Based on this review, the staff has
reasonable assurance that the current financial assurance estimate of $6,235,956 will be
adequate to complete ground water restoration and decommissioning activities.
The current financial assurance instrument is a surety bond with a face value of $6,235,956 in
favor of the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality (WDEQ). Because the licensee
does not have a standby trust agreement (STA) in place at this time as required by 10 CFR
Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 9, in accordance with 10 CFR 40.14(a), NRC has elected to grant
an exemption to the STA requirements in 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 9, through the
2016 financial assurance cycle.
The staff's review is documented in the enclosed Technical Evaluation Report (TER)
(Enclosure 1). The TER concludes that sufficient information is available to support the staffs
reasonable assurance finding. The revised license condition was agreed to by the licensee in
correspondence dated August 19, 2014 (ML14233A406). The amended license is enclosed.
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This licensing action meets the categorical exclusion provisions in 10 CFR 51.22(c)(10)(i) and
the exemption meets the categorical exclusion provisions in 10 CFR 51.22(c)(25)(vi)(H).
Therefore, no further environmental review is required for this action. If you have any questions
regarding this action, please contact Mr. Ron Linton, the Project Manager for Source Material
License SUA-1597, at 301-415-7777, or by e-mail at Ron.Linton nrc.Qov.
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Agency Rules of Practice and Procedure," a
copy of this letter will be available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public
Document Room or from the Publicly Available Records component of NRC's ADAMS. ADAMS
is accessible from the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.govlreadinc-rm/adams.html.
Sincerely,

Andrew Persinko, Deputy Director
Decommissioning and Uranium Recovery
Licensing Directorate
Division of Waste Management
and Environmental Protection
Office of Federal and State Materials
and Environmental Management Programs
Docket No,: 040-09067
License No.: SUA-1597
Enclosures:
1. Technical Evaluation Report
2. Materials License SUA-1 597, Amendment 3
cc: Dorran Lamer (WDEQ)

TECHNICAL EVALUATION REPORT
DATE:

August 28, 2014

DOCKET:

040-09067

LICENSEE:

Uranerz Energy Corporation

SITE:

Nichols Ranch in situ recovery (ISR) Project, Johnson and
Campbell Counties, Wyoming

PROJECT MANAGER:

Ron Linton

TECHNICAL REVIEWER:

Reginald Augustus, Ron Linton

SUBJECT:

Uranerz Energy Corporation (Uranerz), Nichols Ranch ISR
Project, Annual Financial Assurance Update

BACKGROUND
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Materials License SUA-1597, License Condition
9.5, requires Uranerz to submit to the NRC for review and approval, annual updates of the
financial assurance mechanism (surety bond) to cover third-party costs for decommissioning
and decontamination at the Nichols Ranch ISR Project located in Johnson and Campbell
Counties, Wyoming. By letter dated December 9, 2013, Uranerz submitted to the NRC, for
review and approval, its Nichols Ranch ISR Project annual surety update for 2014 (Agencywide
Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS) Accession No. ML1 3353A634). The
annual financial assurance was revised on January 31, 2014 (ML14041A337). The NRC staff
evaluated the contents of the cost estimate according to 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A and
NUREG-1 569, "Standard Review Plan for In Situ Leach Uranium Extraction License
Applications".
The previous year's (2013) approved surety bond amount of $6,800,000 at the Nichols Ranch
ISR Project has remained unchanged for the current operating year's (2014) surety bond
amount. The surety bond estimate was approved by the Wyoming Department of
Environmental Quality (WDEQ) by letter dated March 11, 2014 (ML14202A367).
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
The NRC staff reviewed Uranerz's Nichols Ranch ISR Project financial assurance update in
accordance with requirements in 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 9, "Financial Criteria"
and in Materials License SUA-1597, License Condition 9.5. The staff used NUREG-1569,
"Standard Review Plan for In Situ Leach Uranium Extraction License Applications" (SRP) as
guidance in determining elements to be included in the financial assurance review. Specifically,
staff used the review procedures and acceptance criteria in Section 6.5, and guidance in
Appendix C of the SRP. Staff used WDEQ Land Quality Division Guideline 12 "Standardized
Enclosure
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Reclamation Performance Bond Format and Cost Calculation Methods" (Guideline 12), when
applicable, to verify that reasonable unit costs were included in the financial assurance
calculations.
TECHNICAL EVALUATION
Sufficiency of the Cost Estimate
In the financial assurance calculations, the licensee includes costs for decommissioning and
decontamination (D&D), reclamation of sites, structures, and equipment used in conjunction
with project operation. The unit costs for D&D are consistent with WDEQ Guideline 12.
Uranerz estimates the cost to decommission and decontaminate the project by an independent
party at $6,235,956. This constitutes a decrease of $484,180 from the previous year's financial
assurance estimate of $ 6,720,136. The cost estimate is based on costs of a third party
contractor, does not take credit for any salvage value, and includes a 25 percent contingency
factor.
Worksheet I
Uranerz has reduced the number of header houses in Production Area number 1 (PA#1) from
12 to 8 for this financial assurance cycle. Although licensed for an elution circuit and yellowcake
dryer, Uranerz is shipping loaded resins for elution and yellowcake production at the Cameco
Smith Ranch central processing plant. The costs for Barium Chloride, antiscalent, and elution
were removed as Nichols Ranch ISR Project is not performing the elution process. Sulfuric
acid, caustic soda, corrosion inhibitor, and algaecide were removed as these chemicals are no
longer needed in the current Nichols Ranch ISR Project process. These changes reduced the
decommissioning costs.
Worksheet 2
Uranerz has reduced the number of header houses in PA#1 from 12 to 8 for this financial
assurance cycle. The reduction in the number of header houses resulted In reduced header
house decontamination, demolition, and disposal costs.
Worksheet 3
The reduction in the number of header houses resulted in reduced costs for 1 le.(2) byproduct
material disposal and radiation surveys.
Worksheet 4
The number of wells for PA#1 was reduced to match the exact count of installed wells and
planned wells, which resulted in a reduction in decommissioning costs. An increase in per-ton
disposal costs and additional wells for PA#2 increased decommissioning costs.
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Worksheet 5
The number of wells for PA#1 was reduced to match the exact count of installed wells and
planned wells, which resulted in a reduction in decommissioning costs. An increase in per-ton
disposal costs and additional wells for PA#2 increased decommissioning costs. Additional costs
were added to account for manholes along the trunkline in PA#1.
Worksheet 6
The affected area and decommissioning costs were reduced to account for the reduced number
of header houses in PA#1.
Worksheet 7
Additional decommissioning costs were added to the surety to account for additional culverts in
PA#1 and an increase in demolition unit cost.
Cost Estimate Summary
The NRC staff has completed its review of the financial assurance update estimate for the
Uranerz Nichols Ranch Project. Based upon its review, the staff finds that the update includes
all activities that the licensee plans to conduct during the period covered by the update and that
are listed in the reclamation plan or in Sections 6.1-6.4 of the standard review plan in NUREG1569. Further, the staff finds the licensee has based the assumptions for the financial
assurance analysis on site conditions, including experiences with generally accepted industry
practices, and research and development at the site.
The NRC staff finds the values used in the financial assurance update are based on current
dollars and reasonable costs for the required reclamation activities are defined. Therefore, the
staff finds that the licensee has established an acceptable financial assurance cost estimate
based on the requirements in 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 9.
Appropriatenessof the FinancialInstrument
The instrument to be used by the licensee for the financial assurance update is a surety bond.
The surety bond has a face value of $6,800,000 in favor of the WDEQ.
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Pursuant to Criterion 9(d), the NRC,
[Mlay accept financial sureties that have been consolidated with
financial or surety arrangements established to meet requirements
for other Federal or state agencies and/or local governing bodies
for decommissioning, decontamination, reclamation, and longterm site surveillance and control, provided such arrangements
are considered adequate to satisfy these requirements and that
the portion of the surety which covers the decommissioning and
reclamation of the mill, mill tailings site and associated areas, and
the long-term funding charge is clearly identified and committed
for use in accomplishing these activities.
In accordance with this criterion, Uranerz has consolidated the NRC's financial assurance
surety with the financial assurance surety required by the State of Wyoming. The financial
instrument is in favor of WDEQ and the original copy of the financial instrument remains with
WDEQ, based on an agreement between the State and the NRC. The NRC maintains a copy of
the instrument on file. Uranerz will continue to use a performance bond to satisfy its financial
assurance obligations in the amount provided for in this update.
As of December 17, 2012, NRC uranium recovery licensees that do not use a trust fund to
satisfy their financial assurance obligations are required to have a standby trust agreement
(STA) in place, pursuant to 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 9, which states, "[i]f a trust is
not used, then a standby trust fund must be set up to receive funds in the event the Commission
or State regulatory agency exercises its right to collect the surety." The purpose of an STA is to
provide a separate account to hold decommissioning funds in the event of a default. The STA
requirement for uranium recovery licensees is a relatively new requirement. Criterion 9 of 10
CFR Part 40, Appendix A, was revised as part of the Decommissioning Planning Rule (76 FR
35512; June 17, 2011). An STA had already been required for other NRC licensees under 10
CFR 40.36(e)(2)(ii) prior to December 17, 2012. In the Decommissioning Planning Rule, the
NRC noted that the revision to Criterion 9 "codifies certain aspects of existing regulatory
guidance to improve the quality of the [Decommissioning Funding Plan] and applies NRC
experience to increase the likelihood that adequate funds will be available when needed to
complete the decommissioning process.. .This final rule requires all reactor and materials
licensees who use these guarantee mechanisms to establish a standby trust fund to receive the
guaranteed financial assurance amount should that amount become immediately due and
payable." 76 FR at 35515. Absent a pre-existing STA, if financial assurance funds became
unexpectedly available, the NRC would be unable to accept such funds. For example, if an
NRC licensee's bond was forfeited and an STA was not set up to receive those funds, the funds
would have to be deposited into the U.S. Treasury and be appropriated back to NRC by
Congress before their decommissioning use. With an STA, the funds are deposited into the
STA with specific guidelines as to how they can be administered by the trustee for their
immediate decommissioning use.
Currently, Uranerz uses a performance bond to provide its financial assurance. At this time,
Uranerz does not have an STA in place, nor has it requested an exemption from the
1See NUREG - 1757, Vol. 3, Rev. 1, for explicit details of an STA.
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requirement to do so. However, the NRC has the discretion under 10 CFR 40.14(a), to grant an
exemption from the requirements of a regulation in 10 CFR Part 40 on its own initiative, if it
determines the exemption is authorized by law and will not endanger life or property or the
common defense and security and is otherwise in the public interest.
Wyoming law requires that a separate account be set up to receive forfeited decommissioning
funds, but does not specifically require an STA. Section 35-11-424(a) of the Code of Wyoming
states, "[ajll forfeitures collected under the provisions of this act shall be deposited with the
State treasurer in a separate account for reclamation purposes." Pursuant to WDEQ financial
assurance requirements, WDEQ holds permit bonds in a fiduciary fund called an agency fund.
If a bond is forfeited, the forfeited funds are moved to a special revenue account. Although the
special revenue account is not an STA, the special revenue account serves a similar purpose in
that forfeited funds are not deposited into the State treasury for general fund use, but instead
are set aside in the special revenue account to be used exclusively for reclamation
(decommissioning) purposes.
NRC has elected to grant Uranerz an exemption from the STA requirements in 10 CFR Part 40,
Appendix A, Criterion 9, for the surety arrangement until the 2016 review cycle to allow the NRC
staff an opportunity to evaluate whether the separate account required by the State of Wyoming
would satisfy the NRC's requirement for a an STA. This exemption will expire on December 31,
2016. At that time, Uranerz will be required to ensure that its financial assurance arrangement
includes an STA to receive decommissioning funds, even if this results in Uranerz having to
obtain a separate financial surety for the NRC. NRC staff's discussion of its basis for granting
the exemption follows below.
The Exemption is Authorized by Law.
The NRC staff concludes that the exemption is authorized by law as 10 CFR 40.14(a) expressly
allows for an exemption to the requirements of the regulation in 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A,
Criterion 9, and the exemption is not contrary to any provision of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954,
as amended.
The Exemption Presentsno Undue Risk to PublicHealth and Safety.
The exemption is related to the financial surety. The requirement that the licensee provide
adequate financial assurance through an approved mechanism (e.g., a surety bond, irrevocable
letter of credit) remains unaffected by the exemption. Rather, the exemption only pertains to the
establishment of a dedicated trust in which funds could be deposited in the event that the
financial assurance mechanism would be need to be liquidated. The regulations in 10 CFR Part
40, Appendix A, Criterion 9(d), allow for the financial or surety arrangements to be consolidated
within a State's similar financial assurance instrument. NRC has determined that while the
WDEQ does not require an STA, the special revenue account may serve a similar purpose in
that forfeited funds are not deposited into the State treasury for general fund use, but instead
are set aside in the special revenue account to be used exclusively for site-specific reclamation
(decommissioning) purposes. Because Uranerz remains obligated to establish an adequate
financial assurance mechanism for its licensed sites, the NRC has approved such a
mechanism, and the NRC has determined that sufficient funds are available in the event that the
site needs to be decommissioned. A temporary delay in establishing an STA does not impact
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the present availability and adequacy of the actual financial assurance mechanism. Therefore,
the temporary exemption being issued by the NRC presents no undue risk to public health and
safety.
The Exemption is Consistentwith the Common Defense ahd Security.
The exemption does not involve or implicate the common defense or security. Therefore, the
exemption has no effect on the common defense and security.
The Exemption is in the Public Interest
The exemption will enable the NRC staff to further evaluate whether the State of Wyoming's
separate account provision for financial assurance instruments it holds is consistent with the
NRC's requirement for a standby trust agreement. The evaluation will allow the NRC to
determine whether the licensee's compliance with the state law provision will sufficiently
address the NRC requirement as well, and therefore provide clarity on the implementation of the
NRC regulation in this instance. Therefore, granting the exemption is in the public interest.
CONCLUSION
Based on the information provided in the application and the detailed review of the surety
estimate for Uranerz's Nichols Ranch ISR Project, the NRC staff concludes that the current
surety estimate includes funds sufficient to cover the estimated decommissioning costs of the
facilities and, therefore, the financial instrument is acceptable. The surety arrangement does
not include an STA agreement, as required by 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 9.
However, NRC is granting a temporary exemption to the regulation that requires an STA for this
surety arrangement.
For the reasons discussed above, the NRC staff finds that Uranerz has provided adequate
justification for the current financial assurance estimate at the Nichols Ranch ISR Project.
Therefore, the NRC staff has reasonable assurance that the financial assurance estimate is
sufficient and accepts Uranerz's estimate for the Nichols Ranch ISR Project.
LICENSE AMENDMENT
Since the Nichols Ranch ISR Project is operational and the financial assurance is approved, the
license condition no longer needs to state, "The initial surety estimate shall be submitted for
NRC review and approval within 90 days of license issuance, and the surety instrument shall be
submitted for NRC review and approval 90 days prior to commencing operations".
The final paragraph of Materials License SUA-1597, Condition 9.5 currently reads:
The licensee shall continuously maintain an approved surety instrument for the
Nichols Ranch ISR Project, in favor of the State of Wyoming. The initial surety
estimate shall be submitted for NRC review and approval within 90 days of
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license issuance, and the surety instrument shall be submitted for NRC review
and approval 90 days prior to commencing operations.
The final paragraph will be revised to read:
The licensee shall continuously maintain an approved surety instrument for the
Nichols Ranch ISR Project, in favor of the State of Wyoming, in the amount of no
less than $6,235,956, for the purposes of complying with 10 CFR Part 40,
Appendix A, Criterion 9, until a replacement is authorized by both the State of
Wyoming and the NRC.
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
A license amendment to reflect an update in the amount of financial assurance or corrective
revisions belongs to a category of actions which the NRC has determined do not individually or
cumulatively have a significant effect on the environment. Such actions qualify for a categorical
exclusion under 10 CFR 51.22(c) and do not require an environmental assessment.
Specifically, the NRC staff has determined that the financial assurance update is categorically
excluded from further environmental review under 10 CFR 51.22(c)(10)(i). Likewise, the NRC
staff has determined that the exemption from the requirement to have an STA in place is eligible
for categorical exclusion under 10 CFR 51.22(c)(25)(vi)(H), which provides that an exemption
from surety, insurance, or indemnification requirements is categorically excluded if the
exemption would not result in any significant hazards consideration; change or increase in the
amount of any offsite effluents; increase in individual or cumulative public or occupational
radiation exposure; construction impacts; or increase in the potential for or consequence from
radiological accidents. The staff finds that the STA exemption involves surety, insurance and/or
indemnity requirements and that granting Uranerz this temporary exemption from the
requirement of establishing a STA would not result in any significant hazards or increases in
offsite effluents, radiation exposure, construction impacts, or potential radiological accidents.
Therefore, an environmental assessment is not required.
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Pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974 (Public Law 93-438), and the applicable
parts of Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, Chapter I, Parts 19, 20, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 39, 40, 51, 70, and 71, and in reliance
on statements and representations heretofore made by the licensee, a license is hereby issued authorizing the licensee to receive,
acquire, possess, and transfer byproduct, source, and special nuclear material designated below; to use such material for the purpose(s)
and at the place(s) designated below; to deliver or transfer such material to persons authorized to receive it in accordance with the
regulations of the applicable Part(s). This license shall be deemed to contain the conditions specified in Section 183 of the Atomic Energy
Act of 1954, as amended, and Is subject to all applicable rules, regulations, and orders of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission now or
hereafter in effect and to any conditions specified below.
Licensee

1. Uranerz Energy Corporation

3. License Number SUA-1597, Amendment No. 3

2. 1701 East "E" Street, P.O. Box 50850

4. Expiration Date'"JUly.:19, 2021

Casper, WY 82605

.

Docket No. 040-9067%
Reference No.

6,

Byproduct Source, and/or
Special Nuclear Material

I

47.Chemical
8.Maximum amount that Licensee
May Possess at Any One Time

and/or Physical
=F.rm

Under This License

a.

b.

'Afly
'
Uspecified -

Natural Uranium

Byproduct material

'

-

b. Quantity generated under

as defined in

10 CFR 40.4
SECTION 9:
StandardConditions
9.1

a. Unlimited

/

operations authorized by

his Ice~dnse

AIministrative Coidjtins.,,

-.

:

.

The authorized place of use shall be the I6cepees NiNchols' Ranch in situ recovery (ISR) Project i
Johnson and Campbell- Cunties, Wyoming..'Thl licensee shall conduct operations within the license
area boundaries shown in .Figures 1-2 and 1-3 of the approved license application.

9.2

The licensee shall conduct operations in'accordancý
with the commitments, representations, and
statements contained in the license application dated November 30, 2007, as amended by
submissions dated August 21, 2008, March 11, 2009, February 24, 2010, September 15, 2010,
September 22, 2010, October 3, 2013 (ML13282A301), February 13, 2014 (ML14050A023),
February 18, 2014 (ML14063A068), February 19, 2014 (ML14051AI 13), February 28, 2014
(ML14063A214), March 4, 2014 (ML14064A1 28), March 5, 2014 (ML14065A018), March 6, 2014
(ML14066A051) and March 11, 2014 (ML14071A092) which are hereby incorporated by reference,
except where superseded by specific conditions in this license. The licensee's approved license
application must be maintained on site.
Whenever the word "will" or "shall" is used in the above referenced documents, it shall denote a
requirement.
[Applicable Amendment: 2]

9.3
11,

All written notices and reports sent to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) as required
under this license and by regulation shall be addressed as follows: ATTN: Document Control Desk,
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Director, Office of Federal and State Materials and Environmental Management Programs, U.S.
Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001. An additional copy shall be
submitted to: Deputy Director, Decommissioning and Uranium Recovery Licensing Directorate,
Division of Waste Management and Environmental Protection, Office of Federal and State Materials
and Environmental Management Programs, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Mail Stop T-8F5,
11545 Rockville Pike, Two White Flint North, Rockville, MD 20852-2738. Incidents and events that
require telephone notification shall be made to the NRC Operations Center at (301) 816-5100 (collect
calls accepted).
9.4

Change, Test and Experiment License Condition
A.

The licensee may, without obtaining a license amendment pursuant to 10 CFR 40.44, and subject
to conditions specified in (B) of this conditioh`:Make changes in the facility as described in the licengeapplication (as updated);
ii Make changes in the'procedures as described in the license application (as updated); and
iii

B.

Conduct tests orexperiments not described in the license applicaiOqn (as updated).

The licensee sh'all:obtain a-license amendment pursuant to •10 .FR 40.44 prior to implementing a
proposed change, test, or experiment if the change, testor-e.xperiment would:
Result in more than a minimial increasein the froaquebdcy of occurrence of an accident previously
evaluated :in the license •p-iion (ap..upcdqted);,
1i Result hinmore than 9 (minlm6al inc.rease in the likelihobd 'of occurrence60f a malfunction of a
facility
str in the
e licens
•Oil
m -.(SENMS)f! jportant!to safety previously
evaluated
licen"s-ea`ppliction
( oring sysist
td-);
iv Result in more thanaaminimal •
,sn
o.nsequences of an alcfdent prevoously
evaluated intthh ice
licsatipp.(l9ýicatio)n a upd
);
of-at alfunction of an SEMS
~
nces!t!econsequences:
eia
iv Result in more tha
previously evaluate.d~i. the license apphcatio-n (as updated)•.v

Create a possibility for ian accident of a different type than any previously evaluated in the
license application (as updated),

vi Create a possibility for a malfunction of an SEMS with a different result than previously
evaluated in the license application (as updated);
vii Result in a departure from the method of evaluation described in the license application (as
updated) used in establishing the final safety evaluation report (FSER), environmental impact
statement (EIS), environmental assessment (EA) or technical evaluation reports (TERs) or other
analysis and evaluations for license amendments.
viii For purposes of this paragraph as applied to this license, SEMS means any SEMS which has
been referenced in a staff SER, TER, EA, or EIS and supplements and amendments thereof.
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C.

Additionally, the licensee must obtain a license amendment unless the change, test, or experiment is
consistent with the NRC's previous conclusions, or the basis of, or analysis leading to, the
conclusions of actions, designs, or design configurations analyzed and selected in the site or facility
SER, TER, and EIS or EA. This would include all supplements and amendments, and TERs, EAs,
ElSs issued with amendments to this license.

D.

The licensee's determinations concerning (B) and (C) of this condition, shall be made by a Safety and
Environmental Review Panel (SERP). The SERP shall consist of a minimum of three individuals.
One member of the SERP shall have expertise in management (e.g., Plant Manager) and shall be
responsible for financial approval for changes; one member shall have expertise in operations and/or
construction and shall have responsibility for implementing any operational changes; and one
member shall be the radiation safety officir (FS.Q) or equivalent, with the responsibility of assuring
changes conform to radiation safety apndenvirkonmental requirements. Additional members may be
included in the SERP, as appoppriate; to address tech'niical• •Spects such as ground water or surface
water hydrology, specific earth•'sciences, and other technical disýiplines. Temporary members or
permanent members, othertilhan the three above-specified individuals, may be consultants.

E.

The licensee shall mrin'tain records of any changes made pursuant toitlis condition until license
termination. These.recorcis shallI include written safety and environ'menta! evaluations made by the
SERP that provid" the basis for determining changes are, in-compliance With (B) of this condition.
The licensee shail' furnish, in an at6!6nnUal report to the NRC,.bifa6cription of such changes, tests, or
evaluatiof of each. In addition,
'vi.ombntal
experiments, including a summary Qf the safety ard e
the licensee shalla•nually subf.ijtt'the NRC cha~nged pages,-which shall;inlude both a change
indicator for the direa changed, e-,g'.,!aboladtlinie verticaliy•drawn in the margin adjacent to the portion
actually changed, and a~p.ge changod, entification (dWtof-chang .or change number or both), to the
(as updated) to reflect
0
_on
athIs'dijon
•ipr -6•
operations plaunaid rer
.

.la

changes made under thispco. d ion
9.5

Financial Assurance. The i.eritoe9shall maintain anNRC,'apoproved financial surety arrangement,
consistent with I 0-FR Part 40, Appdndi A.-,iterion 9,,adequate to cover the estimated costs, if
accomplshed by a third party, for decom
ii, gand decontamiation, which includes offsite
disposal of radioactive solid process or evaporation pond r6sidues 'and ground-water restoration as
warranted. The surety shall
4also include the costs associated wit :ýalI soil and water sampling
analyses necessary to confir'mn the accomplishment of decontarination.
Proposed annual updates to the financia Iassu'&ince %amount,consistent with 10 CFR Part 40,
Appendix A, Criterion 9, shall be provided annually to the NRC by December 29. The financial
assurance update renewal date for Nichols Ranch ISR Project will be determined following
consultation with the licensee and the State of Wyoming. If the NRC has not approved a proposed
revision 30 days prior to the expiration date of the existing financial assurance arrangement, the
licensee shall extend the existing arrangement, prior to expiration, for 1 year. Along with each
proposed revision or annual update of the financial assurance estimate, the licensee shall submit
supporting documentation, showing a breakdown of the costs and the basis for the cost estimates
with adjustments for inflation, maintenance of a minimum 15-percent contingency of the financial
assurance estimate, changes in engineering plans, activities performed, and any other conditions
affecting the estimated costs for site closure.

NRC FORM 374A

Page 4 of 15

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

License Number SUA-1597
Docket or Reference Number

MATERIALS LICENSE

40-9067

SUPPLEMENTARY SHEET

Amendment No.3

Within 90 days of NRC approval of a revised closure (decommissioning) plan and its cost estimate,
the licensee shall submit, for NRC review and approval, a proposed revision to the financial
assurance arrangement if estimated costs exceed the amount covered in the existing
arrangement. The revised financial assurance instrument shall then be in effect within 30 days of
written NRC approval of the documents.
At least 90 days prior to beginning construction associated with any planned expansion or operational
change that was not included in the annual financial assurance update, the licensee shall provide, for
NRC's review and approval, an updated estimate to cover the expansion or change. The licensee
shall also provide the NRC with copies of financial assurance-related correspondence submitted to
the State of Wyoming, a copy of the State's financial assurance review, and the final approved
financial assurance arrangement. The licensee-also must ensure that the financial assurance
instrument, where authorized to be h
theaSt.te'
eeldby identifies the NRC-related portion of the
instrument and covers the abOvegroUnd decommissioning -nd decontamination, the cost of offsite
disposal of solid byproduct'. material, soil, and water sample analyses, and ground water restoration
associated with the site. The basis for the cost estimate is the NRC-epproved site closure plan or the
NRC-approved revisions to the plan. Reclamation or decommissioningplan cost estimates and
S
annual updates should follow the outline in Appendix C, "Recommended 'Outline for Site-Specific In
Situ Leach FacilityReclarmationr and Stabilization Cost Estimates;". o NUREG-1569, "Standard
Reie la fr
xrcinL
Review
n
it u LeachO niUm
nium Extraction
License Appfidctions-Final Report."
The licensee shaillcontinuously."miintain an apod'
f•rthe Nichols Ranch ISR

aproved. surety; inistrumentfoteNihlRacIS

Projet,
ofthe
i favr
tateof Win

Project, in favor.':..6 the State ofyning, in tlthe amou:nt f'f!
no less than $6,'235,956, for the purposes
of complying with 10 CFRPart 40,?AppendixeA,iCriterion9, %unttla replacement is authorized by both
the State of Wyoming and1;ih NR,.':,
'',,-:-

[Applicable Amendment: 1,-3].
9.6

:

:

h'

Release or removal.of surficaly
me
materials, or.packages from restricted
areas shall be in accordance with'the NR,'dgid"Rjce docume nt entitled "Guidelines for
Decontamination of Facilities and Equipmlhintffiorto Release for Unrestricted Use or Termination of
Licenses for Byproduct, -'Source, or Special•1•ie~ar Material," date~d April 1993, or suitable alternative
procedures approved bythe NRC prior to any such release.
Where surface contamination by-both aliha- and b6eta-gamma-emitting nuclides exists, the limits
established for alpha- and beta-gamma-emitting nuicides shall apply independently.

9.7

The licensee shall follow the guidance set forth in NRC, Regulatory Guides 8.22, "Bioassay at
Uranium Mills" (as revised), and 8.30, "Health Physics Surveys in Uranium Recovery Facilities" (as
revised), or NRC-approved equivalent.
The licensee shall follow the guidance set forth in Regulatory Guide 8.31, "Information Relevant to
Ensuring That Occupational Radiation Exposures at Uranium Recovery Facilities Will Be as Low as Is
Reasonably Achievable" (as revised), or NRC-approved equivalent.
Any proposed exceptions to the guidance are subject to review and written verification by the NRC
that the proposed exception does not require a license amendment.

g
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9.8

Cultural Resources. Before engaging in any developmental activity not previously assessed by the
NRC, the licensee shall administer a cultural resource inventory if such survey has not been
previously conducted and submitted to the NRC. All disturbances associated with the proposed
development will be completed in compliance with the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) (as
amended) and its implementing regulations (36 CFR Part 800), and the Archaeological Resources
Protection Act (as amended) and its implementing regulations (43 CFR Part 7).
In order to ensure that no unapproved disturbance of cultural resources occurs, any work resulting in
the discovery of previously unknown cultural artifacts shall cease. The artifacts shall be inventoried
and evaluated in accordance with 36 CFR Part 800, and no disturbance of the area shall occur until
the licensee has received authorization from the NRC, Wyoming State Historic Preservation Officer or

Bureau of Land Management to pro'ceed.
The licensee shall comply With the terms and conditions regatdinhg cultural resource protection in the
Memorandum of Agreement regarding the Nichols Ranch ISR PrOjeCt dated July 8, 2011.
9.9

The licensee shall disposse of solid byproduct material from the NicholslRanch ISR Project operations
at a site that is authOfized:by :thqe NRC or an NRC Agreement State:to receive byproduct material.
The licensee's approved solid .byproduct material disposal agreerment must be maintained on site. In
the event that the 9greementexpires oor is terminated, the Jiten•ee shall notify the NRC within
7 working days'af"ter the date of'expiration or.ter 1nation.i•'::.A ew agreemenrtfshall be submitted for
NRC review within 90 days aft e.rexpiraton ,or terrmIationi•or.the licensee wi Ibe prohibited from
further lixiviant injection.

9.10 The results of the lfollowing ictivitiibei-altion'•wrtiors shall b-'documented: sampling;
analyses; surveys..or monitorin'g;,survy! mqn!l
66jng1t.qu~ipmeI,
ia~lbratlonis;.reports on audits and
inspections; all meetings an_4 tt~a.ng,corse;an anysubsequent reviews, investigations, or
corrective actionsyýrequired 'by•
JlO•'rNrregLli
~nei
Unless
Ir'i~tIi
otherwise specified in a license
condition (LC) or applicable `JRC 'regulati•.~•
n,,
ocumentati6n requiredPby this license shall be
maintained at the site :until license termiq, •iaN;s 9ubjQct to NIRC-ýreview and inspection.
9.11 The licensee is hereby exempted from the requirements of 10 CFR 20.1902(e) for areas within the
facility, provided that all entrances: to the facility are conspicuously posted with the words, "CAUTION:
ANY AREA WITHIN THIS FACII.TY MY, CONTAIINRADIOACTIVE MATERIAL."
SECTION 10:

Operations, Controls, Limits, and Restrictions

StandardConditions

jliý

10.1

The licensee shall use a lixiviant composed of native ground water and a combination of one or more
of the following: carbon dioxide gas, sodium carbonate, sodium bicarbonate, dissolved oxygen, or
hydrogen peroxide as specified in the licensee's approved license application. For the Hank Unit,
hydrogen peroxide will not be used.

10.2

Facility Throughput. The Nichols Unit plant throughput shall not exceed a daily averaged flow rate of
3,500 gallons per minute, excluding restoration flow. Annual dried yellowcake production shall not

I,.
-I

l
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exceed 2.0 million pounds. The Hank Unit satellite plant shall not exceed a daily averaged flow rate
of 2,500 gallons per minute, excluding restoration flow.
10.3

Emission controls (dryer). The licensee shall maintain effluent control systems as specified in Section
4.1 of the licensee's approved license application.

10.4 The licensee shall develop and implement written standard operating procedures (SOPs) prior to
operation for: (1) all operational activities involving radioactive and nonradioactive materials
associated with licensed activities that are handled, processed, stored, or transported by employees;
(2) all nonoperational activities involving radioactive materials including in-plant radiation protection
and environmental monitoring; and (3) emergency procedures for potential accidents/unusual
occurrences including significant equipment or facility damage, pipe breaks and spills, loss or theft of
yellowcake or sealed sources, significant firesta"nd ojth6r_.natural disasters. The SOPs shall include
appropriate radiation safety practices to be fol owed i accrdance with 10 CFR Part 20. SOPs for
operational activities shall ernumerate pertinent radiation safety practices to be followed. A copy of
the current written procedures shall be kept in the area(s) of the plrodUction facility where they are
utilized.
The licensee shalltalso develop and implement SOPs prior t opperation for,the following:
A.

Maintenance of surveyi n.rd monitoring records in64c6rdance with ,10 CFR Part 20,
Subparft I to demonst•akt ionplii•ai•owith 10 CFk Part 20 requiirements.

B.

Internal exposure calculation meth dAlmd app!!i.b.e equations for determining the dose
(committecd effecpttiv dose
.eu.ya6qu rlent
(CEDE))Lf •m.•irbornp, sampling and bioassay data.
This mrtlodolo',` ill, be in.':Oqdqncrjr
thtl O4-'PI0CR 206.1, 19 CFR 20.1204, and
Regulator Guides!8.,3,,(as revised)l 8 i34 i,,MonitoringigCriteria and Methods To Calculate
Occupational Radiatl0nDose~?'•(a
7
reised), -and 8.36-:,"Radiation Dose to the
Embryo/F etus," (as e
,;;

C.

Conduct of its bioassay program •nd i{de-,determination of internal dose (e.g. CEDE) from
bioassay data 60-days prior to commrening operations., The licensee will provide a plan or
operating proced'uresi to limit the soluble intake to 10 rg per week for uranium.

D.

Procedures for emergenc:ie6s identified in Scti6n 7.0 of the licensee's approved application.

These SOPs are subject to all inspections, including the preoperational inspection specified in LC
12.3.
10.5

II

Mechanical Integrity Tests (MITs). The licensee shall construct all wells in accordance with methods
described in Section 3.4.6 of the licensee's approved license application. The licensee shall perform
well MITs on each injection and production well before the wells are utilized and on wells that have
been serviced with equipment or procedures that could damage the well casing. Additionally, each
well shall be retested at least once every 5 years. MITs shall be performed in accordance with
Section 3.4.6 of the licensee's approved license application. Any failed well casing that cannot be
repaired to pass the MIT shall be appropriately plugged and abandoned in accordance with Section
6.1.5 of the approved license application.

I,.

III

III
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10.6 Ground Water Restoration. The licensee shall conduct ground water restoration activities in
accordance with the approved license application. Permanent cessation of lixiviant injection in a
production area would signify the licensee's intent to shift from the principal activity of uranium
production to the initiation of ground water restoration and decommissioning for any particular
production area. If the licensee determines that these activities are expected to exceed 24 months
for any particular production area, then the licensee shall submit an alternate schedule request that
meets the requirements of 10 CFR 40.42.
Hazardous constituents in the ground water shall be restored to the numerical ground water
protection standards as required by 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 5(B)(5). In submitting any
license amendment application requesting reviewiand license amendment approval of proposed
alternate concentration limits (ACLs)ipursuant to Cri(r ion 5(B)(6), the licensee must also show that it
has first made reasonable effort toreistbre the specified hazardous constituents to the background or
maximum contaminant levels (whichever is greater).
Changes to ground water .restoration or postrestoration monitoring plans shall be submitted to the
NRC for review and Written verification by the NRC that the proposed ch.nges do not require a
license amendmeMi..at least 60 days prior to commencement of groti0nd;water restoration in a
production area.,:..ý...,

Facility Specific Conditi
.i

10.7

Hank Unit Hydrologic
.. Test
Wi

A

,

.. .

A,.
..

.!!i..

A.

Prior to
viant
nsellconduct a hydrologic test. The
hydrologic test
st ale•d•
to simula"b,'proposedinjection and extraction
operational. condo
t the Hn~k pii tbemonstrt.t••at an inward hydraulic gradient can
be maintajnd that p•reveit'sur hsbe
i
d th..., perimeter production zone monitoring
well ring. T.e :licensepe
of the1 hdrologicet tto the NRC for review and
approval pribr to lixivi ant injectiohi4
`h pr'oduction area.

B.

The licensee will update or confirm the restoration sche..dule for Hank Unit Production Area
(PA) #1 and #2 at the completion of the hydrologic test in the Hank Unit as required by this

license. The licensee williprovide a basis tibthe NRC for review and approval for any
alternate schedule request that meets"the rýequirements of 10 CFR 40.42.
10.8 Production Area Pump Test Document
The licensee will provide the Production Area Pump Test (PAPT) document for the first production
areas at the Nichols Ranch and Hank Units for NRC review and approval prior to lixiviant injection
into the production area. The licensee will provide PAPT documents for each additional production
area for NRC review. The PAPT document will provide all background ground water data, restoration
target values, upper control limits at each monitoring well, as well as the information outlined in
Section 5.7.8.4 of the license application.

I,
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10.9 The licensee shall maintain an inward hydraulic gradient in each individual production area, starting
when lixiviant is first injected into the production zone and continuing until the restoration target
values (RTVs) have been reached.
The licensee will install "trend" monitoring wells on the upgradient (eastern) side of Hank Units PA #1
and PA #2 approximately every 500 feet apart and approximately 300 feet from the injection wells.
The licensee will collect water level measurements twice monthly and at least 10 days apart from the
trend wells and monthly water level measurements from the production zone monitoring well ring. If
water level measurements indicate that an outward gradient exists, the licensee will inform the NRC
within 7 days and adjust operations until the outward gradient is eliminated.
10.10 The licensee will update or confirm the restoration schedule for the Nichols Ranch Unit PA #2 and
provide a basis to the NRC for review and approval fo6r.ny alternate schedule request that meets the
requirements of 10 CFR 40.42.
10.11 All liquid effluents from-process buildings and other process wastie streams, with the exception of
sanitary wastes, shall be returned to the process circuit or disposed of as allowed by NRC
regulations. Addition ally, the licensee is authorized to dispose of proces§. solutions, injection bleed,
and restoration brine using deep well injection, as permitted by WDEQ a'nid described in the approved
license application.
..
The licensee will obtain the nece•sry'permits' and constrct -dminimum of two Class I Underground
Injection Control (U IC) deep disCposa Wells prior tW the6cqnmnehcement of Operations of the Nichols
Ranch ISR Project. The licen6e6iialkejnsUbjtheildeep disl6sal wells shailhave enough capacity to
handle the disposal of th.'•61tal liquil efluent genera'ii i s statedIn/Sectn
6:3.2.6 of the license
application. The li1ensee;wl,'ensure
,p
exists at each unit to
dispose of liquids from ea 6i,
undW6r6lfionlbp6r~ting condit1ios during production, production and
restoration, and restoration :pJa s as $fated i,•1S6cti6n 3.2.6e f the license application.
The licensee will notify the NRkC vithin 24 lJýOuif a disposal~ell is shutdown and becomes
inoperable, with the exception of routine mairteie nce orrqquired testing that is completed within 48
hours of shutdown. If necessary, the licenseeiJQll use additional deep well capacity, surge tanks or
cease injection activities!until the disposal well is restored to use. as written in Section 3.2.6 of the
application. The licensee will notify the NRC when the disposal well is placed back into service and
report any repairs or service comp'ietel-,on thýe well :that is not associated with routine maintenance.
The licensee shall maintain a record of the volumes of solution disposed in each disposal well and
submit this information in the annual monitoring report.
10.12 At least 12 months prior to initiation of any planned final site decommissioning, the licensee shall
submit a detailed decommissioning plan for NRC review and approval. The plan shall represent asbuilt conditions at the Nichols Ranch ISR Project.
The licensee will provide a final status survey plan for postreclamation and decommissioning that
demonstrates that residual radioactivity in soil and building structures meets the criteria in 10 CFR
Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 6(6). The applicable cleanup criteria will be identified for radium-226
I"
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and soil cleanup criteria will be developed for natural uranium using the radium benchmark dose
approach. Applicable criteria for thorium-230 will also be addressed in the plan.
[Applicable Amendment: 2]
10.13 Any areas with exposure rates that exceed 2 millirem in any 1 hour must be immediately treated as
either a controlled area or restricted area in accordance with 10 CFR Part 20.
10.14 The licensee shall conduct radiological characterization of airborne samples for natural U, Th-230,
Ra-226, Po-210, and Pb-210 for each restricted area air particulate sampling location at a frequency
of once every 6 months for the first 2 years, and annually thereafter to ensure compliance with
10 CFR 20.1204(g). The licensee shall also evaluate changes to plant operations to determine if
more frequent radionuclide analyses ibreequiried'ffotc6rmpljance with 10 CFR 20.1204(g).
The licensee shall determiif surface contamination limits a're Warranted for Th-230, Ra-226, Po210, and Pb-210 identifie.d in airborne sample analyses. Within 1 year of commencement of
operations, the licensee. shall provide for NRC review and written verification a technical basis for
surface contaminationilimits for the applicable radionuclides of concern.,
10.15 The licensee shallcontinue&tQco 1lect meteorological data oWcpontinuodus'basis at a data
recovery rate o6
atleast 90 pe
t ihil the NRC.headquairftder`taff verifies in writing the data
to be representative of long terrn rdbndikions 4at4t-leNichosRach ISR Project The data
collected shall ihilude, at a minimum, ;tempderatur9 wnd~spee5, and wind dir6'ion. Data
submitted shall 6!clude an annualy'And rose-and a summar:yof the stability:::,.z
classification, Justificatioibfo theb.smillaity or validity',of th.e •data~sh,•ll icl400e an analysis of
the statstcal da

td'to

Untlthe NRC headuartersstaffVerjf1

trepestativeness of the data.

rewtjng that the meteorological data are representative of

long term conditloiGs-at the N'icho!.sRanch I.4-i
i.hrio`e ,te licensee shall;continue to evaluate
meteorological conditions to ensure that prboetedoses:to'members of the public and locations of
environmental moniorihng stations and ra'jdr!.etors r ain consistint with analyses submitted on
February 28, 2014 (ML:14Q063A214) and M~c1 6, 2014 (MI14066A051). The licensee shall submit
the results of this evaluation and discuss any proposed changesjto its environmental monitoring
program in the semi-annuall'operational effluent and environmental monitoring program report
required by License Condition 11 :;1(D) to6NRC heacquarters for review.
(Applicable Amendment: 2]
10.16 The licensee will maintain and implement a Quality Assurance Program consistent with Regulatory
Guide 4.15 "Quality Assurance for Radiological Monitoring Programs (Normal Operations) - Effluent
Streams and the Environment," as revised.

[Applicable Amendment: 21

!IL-
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10.17 Prior to the injection of lixiviant at the Hank Unit, the licensee shall provide to the NRC headquarters
staff for review and written verification the following information for the airborne effluent and
environmental monitoring program for the Hank Unit. The licensee shall develop written procedures
to incorporate this information.
A.

Discuss how, in accordance with 10 CFR 40.65, the quantity of the principal radionuclides
from all point and diffuse sources will be accounted for, and verified by, surveys and/or
monitoring.

B.

Evaluate the member(s) of the public likely to receive the highest exposures from licensed
operations consistent with 10 CFR 20.1302.

C.

Discuss and identify how radonradon.
222)tp, ogepy.will be factored into analyzing potential
public dose from operatibons "consistent with 10 CFR-Part 20, Appendix B, Table 2.

D.

Discuss how, in. accordance with 10 CFR 20.1501, the .ccupational dose (gaseous and
particulate) received throughout the entire license area from'. lcensed operations will be
accounted fort, and verified by, surveys and/or monitoring.

[Applicable Amendmjent: 2J..,...

SE'

Monitoring, Rca

CTION 11:

.o ',o!.ýO.Og
•' •!:

m!

Standard Conditions
11.1

I

":

id'Bblk"pn

K'.''v

/

,,

kkeepng
,,,•'; --s,

'

Requirements::-li
,
;/ ,

,2,

In addition to reports required.lto be subhiit(6d tdt.'JRC orbmaintained on-site by Title 10 of the
Code of Federal Regulationp
I
e.ejrisaI
ispal-pepare t'th•. fllowing rep6rts related to operations at
the facility:
A.

A quarterly repot th~at includes a summary of the weeklydexcursion indicator parameter
values, correctiveiactions taken, and the results obtainerd for all wells that were on excursion
status during that quarter.,-This report shall be submitted to the NRC within 30 days following
completion of the reporting period.

B.

A semiannual report that discusses: status of production areas in operation (including last
date of lixiviant injection), status of production areas in restoration, status of any long term
excursions and a summary of MITs during the reporting period. This report shall be
submitted to the NRC within 30 days following completion of the reporting period.

C.

A quarterly report summarizing daily flow rates for each injection and production well and
injection manifold pressures on the entire system. The flow rates should be measured and
recorded daily for each injection and production well and injection manifold pressures on the
entire system. This report shall be kept on site and made available for inspection upon
request.
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D.

Consistent with Regulatory Position 2 of Regulatory Guide 4.14 (as revised), a semiannual
report that summarizes the results of the operational effluent and environmental monitoring
program.

11.2 The licensee shall submit the results of the annual review of the radiation protection program content
and implementation performed in accordance with 10 CFR 20.1101(c). These results shall include an
analysis of dose to individual members of the public consistent with 10 CFR 20.1301 and 10 CFR
20.1302.
11.3 Establishment of Backqround Water Quality. Prior to injection of lixiviant for each production area,
the licensee shall establish background ground water quality data for the ore zone, and overlying and
underlying aquifers. The background water quality will be used to define the background ground
water protection standards required to•be metni 10 CFRi-part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 5B(5) for the
ore zone aquifer and surrounding aoquifers. Water quality•tanspling shall provide representative
background ground water quality data and restoration criteria as!d escribed in Section 5.7.8.5 of the
approved license application.
The data for each production area shall consist, at a minimum, of the following sampling and
analyses:
A.

B.

Ore Zone.'
ISamples •sh
'ecollectedfr-Mm ore zone rrinitoring production (MP) wells at a
minimu•midensity of o~ie Pwell p er.4acres of,p,
prWtion area. ,Trhse samples shall be
analyzed'for the paraet•
tlisted in Table D6-6pof the licensee's§aproved application.
Samples 'shall also be lIJcted .from •ll ore zone• perimeter monitoring wells.

Overlycinand U16dedlyind'Aqti!frs. Saplsshla b9i0lected from, all monitoring wells in
the first overlyin•'6ndjfrist underygjl•ng.uife-at a minimu density:of one well per 4 acres of
production area. 'Th:sa ples~hali be anealyed for-'thbse parameters listed in Table D6-6a
of the approved lcense ap
6hcation.
J;-,

1.4

C.

Surficial Aquifer., One surficial well shall be Iocat'60 and sampled in each producton area.
The samples!s'lal be analyzed fo0ith•e parameters listed, in Table D6-6a of the approved
license application.

D.

Sampling and Analysis. Four samplels. shall be 'ollected from each well to establish
background levels. Consecutive6 sarpling elents shall be at least 14 days apart. The third
and fourth sample events can be analyzed for a reduced list of parameters. The parameters
that can be deleted from the third and fourth sampling events are those that are below the
minimum analytical detection limits during the first and second sampling events.

E.

Ground water RTVs for the ore zone aquifer shall be established on a parameter-byparameter basis using either a production area or well-specific basis for all constituents.

Establishment of Upper Control Limits (UCLs). Prior to injection of lixiviant into a production area, the
licensee shall establish UCLs in designated overlying and underlying aquifer and perimeter
monitoring wells. The UCLs for the indicator parameters: chloride, conductivity, and total alkalinity
shall be established by analyzing background monitoring data collected to satisfy LC 11.3. The
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concentrations of these UCLs shall be established for each production area by calculating the
background mean concentration and adding five standard deviations. The UCL for chloride can be
set at the background mean concentration and adding either five standard deviations or 15 mg/L,
whichever is higher.
11.5 Excursion Monitoring. Monitoring for excursions shall occur twice monthly and at least 10 days apart
for all wells with a UCL. An excursion shall have occurred if, in any monitor well, any two UCL
parameters exceed their respective UCLs. A verification sample shall be taken within 48 hours after
results of the first analyses are received. If the second sample shows that the excursion criterion is
exceeded, an excursion shall be confirmed. If the second sample does not show that the excursion
criterion is exceeded, a third sample shall be taken within 48 hours after the second set of sampling
data was acquired. If the third sample shows that the excursion criterion is exceeded, an excursion
shall be confirmed. If the third sample<.d~oes noft shw4 that the excursion criterion is exceeded, the
first sample shall be considered to be a-n error and the! vwzellis:removed from excursion status.
Upon confirmation of an excursion, the licensee shall notify the NRC, as discussed below, implement
corrective action, and ipcrease the sampling frequency for the indicator parameters at the excursion
well to once every 7 days. Corrective actions for confirmed excursionsi may be, but are not limited to,
those described iniSection 5.7,8.10.3 of the approved license application.."An excursion is considered
corrected when the ceoncentrtii6hs of theindicator parameters are belowithe concentration levels
defining an excursion for three consecutiveweekly samples.
If an excursion is'not corrected. within 6'0 da•
confirmationhlieall either: (a) terminate
injectionin of
lixiviant
withinthe
pr6duOtionare
unhtil
the;Oecursion is corrected; or (b) increase the
surety
an amount to cd.o'.the full•third-party costizof'ciecing
and cleaning up the excursion. The
surety increasesihall remWWiiO fo6rc,0unti0 the NRC~hdbser:if e~iththe excursion has been corrected
and
cleaned
up. no
The
written SO.daydosti
ix ursio:ie
po"" shall
ideitfify`which
course
of action the licensee
is taking.
Under
'•circum•t!nc''u
condition
eli in:'"te:
t...
...
us
takir
dntet crcursionido
oitheliminteIh requirement that the licensee
Sr,ieeftground 4waterpprotection standards as required by LC 10.6 for
all constituents established per LV";t.3
1
,3
.
-.
The licensee shall notify.t'he NRC Project Maragder by telephone_ or e-mail within 24 hours of
confirming a lixiviant ex6ursign, and by letter within 7 days from the 'time the excursion is confirmed,
pursuant to LC 11.6. A written report describing the excursion event, corrective actions taken, and
the corrective action results shall b~e submitted to ttie NRC within 60 days of the excursion
confirmation. For all wells that remain on excursion•After 60 days, the licensee shall submit a report
as discussed in LC 11. 1(A).
11.6 Until license termination, the licensee shall maintain documentation on unplanned releases of source
or byproduct materials (including process solutions) and process chemicals. Documented information
shall include, but not be limited to: date, spill volume, total activity of each radionuclide released,
radiological survey results, soil sample results (iftaken), corrective actions, results of postremediation
surveys (iftaken), a map showing the spill location and the impacted area, and an evaluation of NRC
reporting criteria.
The licensee shall have written procedures for evaluating consequences of the spill or incident/event
against 10 CFR Part 20, Subpart M, and 10 CFR 40.60 reporting criteria. If the criteria are met, then
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the licensee shall report to the NRC Operations Center as required.
If the licensee is required to report any production area excursions and spills of source material,
byproduct material, or process chemicals that may have an impact on the environment, or any other
incidents/events, to any State or other Federal agency, a report shall be made to the NRC
Headquarters Project Manager by telephone or electronic mail (e-mail) within 24 hours. This
notification shall be followed, within 30 days of the notification, by submittal of a written report to NRC
Headquarters, as per LC 9.3, detailing the conditions leading to the spill or incident/event, corrective
actions taken, and results achieved.
11.7 The licensee shall identify the location, screen depth, and estimated pumping rate of any new ground
water wells or new use of an existing wellwithin, the license area and within 2 kilometers of any
production area. The licensee shall evaiuate tilhe imhiat of ISR operations on potential ground water
users and recommend any additional monitoring or other measures to protect ground water users.
The evaluation shall be submitted as part of the annual reporting to the NRC for review.
After the commencement of uranium recovery operations, the licensýe Will sample all domestic and
livestock wells that are located within 1 kilometer of the production area monitoring ring wells (MRwells) of the Nichols'Ranch and Hank Units. Samples shall be collected annually and submitted as
part of annual reporting to the NRC until ground water restoratiqn is approved at the production area.
Samples shall be halyzed forthe-UCL parameters in Secti•o• 57.8.9 of the approved license
application andfoir natural uranium
in!
radiMr'2n22'6. J,
"
Facility Specific Conditions

:

._,

-

11.8 The licensee w:V1'riotify3h NRC within '.2h•urs if•g• roking '• d•;/1discussed the approved license
application has occurred lhVifn.
fF saida!Iýiitthe Haln:.nit durinn Frations, The licensee will submit
a report within 30.dýays to tieiNC
k do~eimpning-brre0,ive actions taken to 'ensure that operation of
the production zone is proce6ini`,as- r'oiVide.n
applicaon.
11.9 Radiological monitoring will be conducted f6r'irie pMarticMulate rad oactivity and radon-222 at
appropriate environmental monitoring locatiorisi• accordance withithýe criteria in Regulatory Guide
4.14 (as revised) during o0perations to demonstrate complianceO:ith 10 CFR 20.1301, 10 CFR
20.1501 and 10 CFR Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 7.
Consistent with Regulatory Guide 4.14 (as reVised),' the licensee shall establish air particulate
sampling stations in the three sectors with the highest predicted radioactivity concentrations resultant
from operations and co-locate radon air samplers and direct radiation and soil sampling with the air
particulate sampling stations.
SECTION 12.0:

Preoperational Conditions

dard Conditions
12.1

Prior to commencement of operations in any production area, the licensee shall obtain all necessary
permits and licenses from the appropriate regulatory authorities. The licensee shall also submit a
copy of all permits for its Class I and Class III underground injection wells.
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12.2 Prior to commencement of operations, the licensee shall coordinate emergency response
requirements with local authorities, fire department, medical facilities, and other emergency services.
The licensee shall document these coordination activities and maintain such documentation on-site.
12.3 The licensee shall not commence operations until the NRC performs a preoperational inspection to
confirm, in part, that written operating procedures and approved radiation safety and environmental
monitoring programs are in place, and that preoperational testing is complete.
The licensee should inform the NRC at least 90 days prior to the expected commencement of
operations to allow the NRC sufficient time to plan and perform the preoperational inspection.
12.4 The licensee shall identify the loqatio, screen depth; and estimated pumping rate of any new ground
water wells or new use of an existing well within the license atea and within 2 kilometers of any
proposed production area since the application was submitted t'othe NRC. The licensee shall
evaluate the impact of ISR operations to potential ground water Users and recommend any additional
monitoring or other measures to protect ground water users. The evalkiation shall be submitted to the
NRC for review withiW6 months of discovery of such well use.
4.
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12.5 Prior to commencement of operations, the licensee shall submit the qualifications of radiation safety
staff members for NRC review.
12.6 Prior to commencement of operations, the licensee shall submit a copy of the solid byproduct material
disposal agreement to the NRC.
12.7 [DELETED by Amendment 2]
12.8 [DELETED by Amendment 2]
12.9. [DELETED by Amendment 2]
12.10 [DELETED by Amendment 2]

,

.

12.11 [DELETED by Amendment2],
12.12 [DELETED by Amend~m,ent 2]
FOR THE NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
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STATE OF WYOMING
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY
LAND QUALITY DIVISION
CHEYENNE, WY 82002
OTHER MINERALS
STATE/BLM
RECLAMATION PERFORMANCE BOND
Bond No.

1057688

Uranerz Energy Corporation, 1701 East E
Know all men by these presents, that we the undersigned,
Corporation duly authorized to do business in the State (f Wyoining,
Street, Casper, WY 82601
Lexon Insurance Company.10002 Shelbyville Road, Louisville, KY 40233 a
AS PRINCIPAL, and
WY , and duly authorized to do
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
business in the State of Wyoming, AS SURETY, are held and firmly bound unto the State of Wyoming
Six Million Eight Hundred Thousand
and the United States Secretary of (he Interior in sum of
Dollars ($ 6,800,000.00 ), lawful money of the United States, to be paid to either the State of
Wyoming upon order of forfeiture by the Environmental Quality Council or to tlhe Secretary of the
Interior, United States Government upon order of forfeiture by an authorized representative of the
Seeretary of the Interior, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to be made, we hereby jointly and
severally bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns.
Number
Whereas, the Depailment of Enviroiunental Quality, Land Quality Division, issued
and dated _, and amendment(s) numbered and dated -. pursuant to the application of the
Principal,
Whereas, check one of the following:
x (a) This is an original bond,
(b) This is a bond in addition to previous bond(s) for the above mentioned permit to
mine and which bond(s) remain(s) in full force and effect,
.(o) This is a replacement bond for:
Principal
Dated
Principal
Dated
Principal
D tDted

(1) Bond Number
Surety
(2) Bond Number
Surety
(3) Bond Number
Surety

Whereas, said bond(s) shall cover any and all land Offected or to be affected by the operation mentioned
above, since the date of issuance, upon the following described land, as given within said permit and
amendment(s) or notification,
Sections 5, 6. 7 and 8. TownsIiip 43N., R75., and Sections 30 and 3.1, Township 44N., R.75W.,
Canmpbell Count. Wyondng and Sections 7,.8, 17, 18,_and 20, Township 43N., R76W., in Campbell
and Johnson Counties.Wyoming.
all
1. . , ..
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Now, therefore, the conditions of the obligation ate such that the Operator will faithfully compiy with all
applicable requirements of thc Wyoming Enviroultental Quality Act, theyrules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, the terms of this permit or notification, and the requirements of 43 Code.of
Federal Regulations, Part 3600; and, this bond shall remain in fill[ force and effect until either released
or forfeited pursuant to the provisions of thle Wyoming Environmental Quality Act and the rules and
regulations adopted pursuant to that Act, or pursuant to 43 Code of Federal Regulations, Pail 3600 and
applicable federal laws and regulations, and in accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum of
Understanding between the U.S. Bureau of Land Management and the State of Wyoming.
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Bond No.

1057688

PRINCIPAL
Signed and executed this le day ol:

TILE

'

g± •

.Mj •L

(please print or type)
Cmn&r"•
State of "

.aý

ý

tý

r

(Corporate Seal)

)SS.

Countyor

SS.

Iliae (bregging instivment was acknowiedged before n,- by
,
(Nameof)
1,
L5Z., 20A-Q
thisl.u day oLIE
Witness
S m hand and ol

UiI ;Z; ..

lPat ig

ase

dl

type)

(Notary Public or otheVauth4drzed officer)

TAMARA L CARLENSTAftt OF WYOMIIIG

I
_________

CODUTYOF NATONA

Tide

L_____Car

___t

__&4

(Name printed or typed)

My Commision Expires:
SURETY
tJaned and executed this ?2

P'A-

BY.-

9

day of

Novermber

,20jL:

Ai
(Corporate Seal)

TITLE: Atto.mey-In-Fact

(please print or typo)

Slate of Kentucky

)

County of Jefferson

)

) SS.

The foregoibg instruwent was acknow,,ledged beoreome by Deborah Neichter
(Naume ofAttomey-in.Fact -please print or type)
,20.i..
this 22ndday of November
-A /a iLL-•K t h&14,,.J
Witness my hand and official seal.
(Ii•yr Public'r other authorized officer)
Bonnie J. Wortham, Notary
Y&te
(Name printed or typed)
My Conlunisson Expires: October 27, 2011
Approved as to form and execution:
Attorney General
BY:

Date;
Assistant
Date:

APPROVED:
Administrator, Land Quality Division
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

Lexon Insurance Company LX- 67484
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that LEXON INSURANCE COMPANY, a Texas Corporation, with its principal office in
ousile Kentucky, does hereby constitute and appoint:
BrookT. Smith, Kathy lobbs,Raynond M. Hundlcy,Jasoii D. Cromwcll, Jam1es If. Martin, *
Sandra F. Harper, Myrtic F. Hlenry, Julie Radican, Virginia E. \Voolridgc, Deborah Neichter, Jill Kcmp, Jackie C. Koestcl, Sheryon Quinn

**

its true and lawful Attorney(s)-In-Fact to make, execute, seal and deliver for, and on its behall as surety, any and all bonds, undertakings or
other writings obligatory In nature of a bond.
This authority is made under and by the authority of a resolution which was passed by the Board of Directors of LEXON
INSURANCE COMPANY on the 1st day of July, 2003 as follows:
Resolved, that the President of the Company is hereby authorized to appoint and empower any representative of the Company or
other person or persons as Attorney-In-Fact to execute on behalf of the Company any bonds, undertakings, policies, contracts of indemnity
or other writings obligatory in nature of a bond not to exceed $2,500,000.00, Two-million five hundred thousand dollars, which the Company
might execute through its duly elected officers, and affix the seal of the Company thereto. Any said execution of such documents by an
Attorney-In-Fact shall be as binding upon the Company as if they had been duly executed and acknowledged by the regularly elected
officers of the Company. Any Attorney-In-Fact, so appointed, may be removed for good cause and the authority so granted may be revoked
as specified In the Power of Attorney.
Resolved, that the signature of the President and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile on any power of attorney
granted, and the signature of the Vice President, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any certificate of any such power
and any such power or certificate bearing such facsimile signature and seal shall be valid and binding on the Company. Any such power so
executed and sealed and certificate so executed and sealed shall, with respect to any bond of undertaking to which it is attached, continue
to be valid and binding on the Company.
IN WITNESS THEREOF, LEXON INSURANCE COMPANY has caused this instrument to be signed by its President, and its
Corporate Seal to be affixed this 2nd day of July, 2003.
LEXON INSURANCE COMPANY
A
TEXAS

0

0
1

•IINSURANCE

BY
David E. Campbell

COMPANY

President
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

G)

On this 2nd day of July, 2003, before me, personally came David E. Campbell to me known, who being duly sworn, did depose and
say that he is the President of LEXON INSURANCE COMPANY, the corporation described in and which executed the above Instrument; that
he executed said instrument on behalf of the corporation by authority of his office under the By-laws of said corporation.

"OFFICIAL SEAL"
MAUREEN K. AYE
Notary Public, State of Illinois
My Commission Expires 09/21113

Maureen K.Aye
Notary Public

CERTIFICATE

I, the undersigned, Secretary of LEXON INSURANCE COMPANY, A Texas Insurance Company, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the
original Power of Attorney of which the foregoing is a true and correct copy, is In full force and effect and has not been revoked and the
resolutions as set forth are now in force.

Signed and Seated at Lombard, Illinois this

0

Awd

Day ofln

20

0
A
EXAS13
INURANCE
Donald D. Buchanan
Secretary

"WARNING: Any person who knowingly and with Intent to defraud any Insurance company or other person, files an application for Insurance or
statement of claim containing any materially false information, or conceals for the purpose of misleading, Information concerning any fact material thereto, commits a fraudulent Insurance act, which Is a crime and subjects such person to criminal and civil penalties."
LX1

URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY
I, Sandra R. MacKay, as Vice President, Legal ahd Coiporate Secretary of URANERZ
ENERGY CORPORATION (the "Corporation"), a corporation duly organized and existing
under the laws of the State of Nevada, for and on behalf of the Company and. not in my personal
capacity, do hereby certify that the following is a true and correct copy of resolutions of the
Board of Directors of the Corporation duly adopted on November 17, 2010,.and that such
resolutions remain in fill force and effect:

"RESOLUTIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
of
URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION
November 17, 2010

WHEREAS:
A. The Corporation is required to provide the Wyoming Depairlemnt of Environmental
Quality with a bond in .the amount of US$6,800,000 in support of its application for a
permit to mine, in respect of its Nichols Ranch ISR Project;
B. The Co0poration wishes to enter into an agreement with First Interstate Bank for the
provision of an irrevocable letter of credit in support of the issuance of the
aforementioned bond by Bond Safeguard Insurance Company or the Lexon Insurance
Company or bot!h; and
C. The Corporation will provide collateral to First Interstate Bank in support of the issuance
of the irrevocable letter of credit; and
D. The entering into of such arrangements is considered in the Corporation's best interests;
BONDING ARRANGEMENTS
BE IT RESOLVED that:
1.
The entry by the Corporation into an agreement or agreem ents (the "Bonding
Agreement" or :"Bonding Agreements" if more than one) with Bond Safeguard Insurance
Company or the Lexon Insurance Company, or both, for the provision of a bond or bonds
having an aggregate value of US$6,800,000, in favor of the Wyoming Department of
Environmental Quality, on such terms as shall be approved by the Executive Chairman or the
Chief Executive Officer; be and hereby is approved;

1

2. The entry by the Corporation into an agreement (the Letter of Credit Agreement) with
First Interstate Bank ("FIB") for the provision of a letter of credit in the amount of US
$1,700,000 to the. Safeguard Insurance Company or the Lexon Insurance Company, or both,
in support of the Bonding Agreement, be and hereby is approved, and the provision of
collateral therefor in the form of a certificate of deposit on such terms as shall be agreed
between the FIB and the Executive Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer on behalf of the
Corporation be and hereby is approved;
3. Any one of the Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation
be and hereby is authorized and directed for and on behalf of the Corporation to execute the
Bonding Agreement or Bonding Agreements, as the case may be, and the Letter of Credit
Agreement, and all related documentation, on such terms as may be made and consented to
by him, such consent to be conclusively evidenced by his execution of such agreements; and
4. Any one of the Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation
is hereby authorized for and on behalf of the Corporation to take all action, to do all such
things and to execute under the common seal of the Corporation or otherwise, and to deliver
or cause to be delivered in the name of and on behalf of the Coiporation all documents as
such officer may deem necessary or advisable in connection with the matters referred to in
the foregoing resolutions and the execution of any such document by any one or such
Officers of the Corporation shall be conclusive proof of his authority to act on behalf of the
Corporation."
AND I do hereby finrther attest and certify that Mr. Glenm Catchpol0 is the duly appointed Chief

Executive Officer of the Corporation.
In witness whereof I have executed this Certificate, this/

"4y of December, 2010

URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION

S-anda JR. MacKay
"2
Vice President, Legal an iorporate Secretary

2

